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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
EASTERN DIVISION

)
STEPHEN HUGUELEY, )

)

Petitioner, )

)
VS. ) No.09-1181-JDB-egb

)
BRUCE WESTBROOKS, Warden, )
Riverbend Maximum Security )
Institution, )

)
Respondent. )

)

ORDER DIRECTING CLERK TO CHANGE RESPONDENT,
GRANTING RESPONDENT’'S MOTI ON FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT,
DENYING PETITION PURSUANT TO 28 U.S.C. § 2254,
GRANTING A LIMITED CERTIFICATE OF APPEALABILITY,
AND CERTIFYING THAT AN APPEAL WOULD BE TAKEN IN GOOD FAITH
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In 2002, while Petitioner, Stephen Hugueless incarcerated at the Hardeman County
Correctional Facility (“HCCF”) on two murdepavictions and one attertgal murder conviction,
he stabbed corrections courgeDelbert Steed multiple tinsekilling him. Hugueley was
convicted of first degree premeditated muraled sentenced to death for Steed’s murdetate v.
Hugueley 185 S.W.3d 356, 363 (Tenn. 2006). He neeks federal habeas relief. For the
reasons addressed below, summary judgmeBRANTED, and Hugueleg habeas petition is

DENIED.

. STATE COURT PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The trial in Hugueley’s case was held $eptember 15-16, 2003, before Judge Jon Kerry
Blackwood in the Circuit Court of Hardeman County, Tenness&eeECF No. 41-2 at PagelD
369.) Hugueley was represented by Micléson and T. J. Cross-Jonesld.)( Assistant
District Attorneys General (“ADA”) Terry Dycusnd Colin Campbell represented the Statkl.) (

In the guilt phase, the Stapeesented the testony of six witnesses: Judy Ranne, Mary
Harris, Donald Watkins, Joseph “Joe” Verndgn Dunaway, and Dr. @rien Clary Smith.
(SeeECF No. 41-4 at PagelD 586-87)he defense called two witsses: Hugueley and Howard
Cook. See id.at PagelD 588.) On September 16, 208t 11:33 a.m. the jury retired for
deliberations. I¢l. at PagelD 679.) At noon, the jury retad with a verdict finding Hugueley
guilty of first degree murder. Id. at PagelD 682.)

The penalty phase began that afternoon,thedstate presentedetiiestimony of Vernon,
Dunaway, Smith, and Willie Leroy Steed.ld.(at PagelD 588-89.) The State rested on
September 16, 2003. (ECF No. 41-5 at Pagél®.) Hugueley decidenot to present a

mitigation case, however, defense counsel asked that Hugueley’s social history be made an exhibit
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to the record to show that a mitigation investigation was conductield.at (PagelD 730.) The
jury heard closing arguments, waigen the jury instructions, andtired for deliberations at 3:13
p.m. (d.at PagelD 738.) The jury returned to doatr4:07 p.m. with the pronouncement of a
death sentence. Id()

Hugueley did not want to appeal See idat PagelD 749-50.) Notieeless, the trial court
advised him that the Tennessee Supreme Col®&Q") will automaticallyreview his conviction.
(Id. at PagelD 745-46, 750.) Petitioner was told #ghaiotion for new trial was filed to initiate the
appellate process. Id( at PagelD 746.) The ttiaourt informed him of ts right to an appeal and
assured that Hugueley had noebecoerced into a decision weaive his appeal rights. Id; at
PagelD 749-50, 752.) The record states,

Hugueley is one of the monatelligent individuals thatve come across. He does

not display any signs of mental illnessamy mental defect. He appears to know

exactly what he wants and he appearsinderstand his rights as well as any

criminal defendant that I've ever dealt with.
(Id. at PagelD 755.) The inmate said, “I'm still saneld.)( The court allowed Hugueley to
withdraw his motion for new trial and relieved laigorneys of the obligain to file a notice of
appeal on his behalf. Id| at PagelD 750.)

On January 13, 2004, a hearing was conductederning Hugueley’s appeal rightsSefe
id. at PagelD 756.) The court summarized what becurred previously and noted that it had
consulted with capital case attorneys about hovwroceed since the appeal would take place
regardless of Petitioner’s attempts to waive his appeal rights.at(PagelD 756-59.) Gibson

was appointed as counsel and the motion for new trial was overruledat FagelD 75%eeECF

No. 41-1 at PagelD 354.) The trial court notkdt Hugueley wrote a letter stating he did not
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want Gibson to proceed with an appeal, did notrdesihave an appeal, and that any work done by
the attorney to further an appeabwid be against Hugueley’s wishesld. (at PagelD 360see
ECF No. 41-5 at PagelD 759-60.)

If the appeal was mandatory, the inenavanted to represent himselfld.(at PagelD
760-61.) The trial court examined Hugueleytesent a clear record to the TSAd. &t PagelD
761-65.) Gibson was discharged as counseltlamdourt arranged fddugueley to obtain the
transcripts and records needed to represent himself on appeaht PagelD 765-6&eeECF
No. 41-1 at PagelD 364-65.)

On March 17, 2005, the Tennessee CourtCaminal Appeals (“TCCA”") affirmed
Hugueley’s conviction and death sentencl=CF No. 41-12 at PagelD 1380%eeState v.
Hugueley No. W2004-00057-CCA-R3-CD, 2005 WL 64®1{Tenn. Crim. App. Mar. 17, 2005).
On March 15, 2006, the TSC affirmed. (ECF No. 41-15 at PagelD 158ie v. Huguelgy
185 S.W.3d 356 (Tenn. 2006).

On July 24, 2006, Petitioner filed Rro SePetition for Relief From Conviction or
Sentence. (ECF No. 42-1 #&agelD 1547-55.) On Julgl, 2006, the Office of the
Post-Conviction Defender (“PCD”) was appointed as counsel for high.at(PagelD 1557.) On
October 5, 2006, Hugueley submitted a petition fof@uer barring attorney Kelly Gleason and
the Post-Conviction Defender’s Office from raising ANY issues other than those issues raised on
his Direct Appeal.” Id. at PagelD 1561-63.) On OctolEs, 2006, the State filed a motion to
dismiss Hugueley’s petition, arguing that onlyisieg the issues thatad been previously
determined on direct appeal aumted to a waiver of thgrounds for post-conviction relief

available under Tenn. Code Ann. § 40-30-1€xlseq. (Id. at PagelD 1564.) On October 19,
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2006, Hugueley’s counsel responded to the Statet®margued that he had represented that his
counsel can “raise any claims without limitatiomyid requested that the motion to dismiss be
denied. [d. at PagelD 1583-85.)
At a motion hearing on Novemb@y 2006, the court addressed Huguel@ytssemotions.
(ECF No. 42-13 at PagelD 2992.) Petitionecmunsel expressed meerns about Hugueley
addressing the issues raised inghe semotions because of: his lacksleep; unhappiness about
being transported to court; physi@lments; not “feeling very godwday”; “his mental state in
terms of how he feels about being here”; argd“Bmotional state [which] depends upon, . . . his
conditions of confinement, hisersonal situation angarticularly with hs girlfriend.” (d. at
PagelD 2998-3004.) Hugueley was argumiargawith the pdge stating,
No. Fuck you and your questions.
| waived my right to be at this heagin Don’t want to be here. Want to be
back at the prison. 1 got better thingsdtmwith my time than be in this fucking
courthouse.
(Id. at PagelD 3010-11.) The inmaitdtially refused to answequestions about whether he
wanted to represent himselfld(at PagelD 3011-13.) He statdtht he did not “want them
raising mental health and all thatp unless they’ve got to gadlugh me to get my permission to
do so first.” (d. at PagelD 3016.) Hugueley atad to control his case.Id( at PagelD

3016-17.)

! Counsel stated that “Hugueley’s intentions and pronouncements shift radically
depending upon his conditions of confinement, personal situation, and mental state.” (ECF No.
42-1 at PagelD 1585.)
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On December 6, 2006, Petitioner sent the cobherawritten letter stating that he wanted
his post-conviction petition dismissed SeeECF No. 42-4 at PagelD 21(28eeECF No. 131-7 at
PagelD 7441-43.) His counsel filed an Ameméetition for Post-Conviction Relief on January
3, 2007, and a motion for an extension of timeléoan amended petition and for a continuance of
the January 29, 2007 hearing. CfE No. 42-1 at PagelD 1628eeECF No. 42-4 at PagelD
2111))

At a hearing on January 10, 2007, the caudldressed the pending motions, Hugueley’s
letter, and his counsel’s conosrabout his competency.Sde idat PagelD 2104seeECF No.
42-14.) The inmate wanted to dismiss the mpostviction petition and refused further mental
health evaluations. Id. at PagelD 3052-55.) His attorney expressed concerns about his
competency because of “a very lengthy history of head trauma and . . . brain surgery to remove a
brain tumor,” tremors in his hand that could bated to brain trauma, neuropsychological testing
consistent with damage to the right side & hiain, impulsivity, and &ng history of mental
illnesses and treatment widintipsychotic medication. Id. at PagelD 3055-58.) Hugueley was
not on psychotropic medication at the time of the hearind. af PagelD 3061.) He was not
being forced and not promised amyig to withdraw his petition. Id.) Hugueley stated that he
only agreed to sign the petitionrfpost-conviction relief becau$e was not going to be allowed

visitors while on death watch; he no longer wished to pursue the petitiothabwis visitation

2 On October 31, 1986, Hugueley was admitted to the Tennessee State Prison hospital and
had surgery to remove aght frontal brain tumor. See Hugueleyv. State No.
W2009-00271-CCA-R3-PD, 2011 WL 2361824 (Tenn. Crim. App. June 8, 2011) 2361824, at
*12-13.
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problem was resolved. Id; at PagelD 3062-63.) He did not want to be represented by the PCD
or other counsel. Iq. at PagelD 3063-64.)

In an order dated January 16, 2007, the post-ctbamicourt found thdta genuine issue as
to Hugueley’'s competency had been raisedpbgt-conviction counsel” and determined that
Hugueley’'s competency be evaluated beforebbeallowed to withdraw his post-conviction
petition. (ECF No. 42-4 at PagelD 2106-08.) Thoert denied the motion for a continuance.
(Id. at PagelD 2107-08.)

Petitioner was granted permission to appeal the Court’s order denying the motion for a
continuance. I¢. at PagelD 2109-14.) On January 25, 2007, the TCCA stayed proceedings in
the trial court pending thienterlocutory appeal. Id. at PagelD 2123-24.) The State filed an
answer to the amended petn on January 26, 2007.1d( at PagelD 2117-20.) On June 12,
2007, the TCCA denied the application for ndeutory appeal and vacated the stay of
proceedings. Id. at PagelD 2125-27.)

On June 22, 2007, Hugueley wrote a lettedudge Weber McCrawstating “I still DO
NOT wish to proceed with a post-conviction appé¢#herefore please keep that in mind for the
next hearing you schedule in my case.”CHENo. 131-14 at PagelD 7464; ECF No. 42-4 at
PagelD 2128.) Hugueley sent a handwritten danirto ADA Dycus, which he also provided to
the court, to make them “aware of facts whitk [a]ppointed [c]lounsé¥s. Kelly Gleason failed

to mention in her petition” including that he ggy@mission to file the post-conviction petition to

® Hugueley contacted his counsel the faflog day, January 17, 2007, deciding that he
wanted to go forward with his post-contion petition under certain conditionsSeeECF No.
131-9 at PagelD 7446-47.)
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stall for time to resolve issues with his visitation while on “death watchd” a{ PagelD 2130-31,
seeECF No. 42-5 at PagelD 2175.) Hugueley sougltia control of his case because the PCD
“feel[s] that the[y] can file in court saying whthey want about anything in my life without
talking to me about it ogiving me the option of whether it fded or not.” (ECF No. 42-4 at
PagelD 2131.)

After the visitation problem was resotllethe inmate no longer wanted to pursue
post-conviction relief. If. at PagelD 2131-32.) He disputkd attorney’s representation that
he changed his mind based on hsochand asserted that he tolee&on what he planned to do in
July 2006. Id. at PagelD 2132.) Hugueley disagreed dthason’s statement that he sustained
a head injury in a motorcycle accidentld. @t PagelD 2134.)

Hugueley stated that he “should NOT hawego through any type of Mental Health
evaluation” since he never signed the patitiand it was filed without his consentld. @t PagelD
2123.) He wanted to rely on the 2003 mentaleation and stated “I will NOT take any more
test[s]....” [d.at PagelD 2134.)

At a hearing on August 29, 2007, Hugueley agaxpressed a desire to withdraw his
petition, and his counsel asserted tatvas incompetent to do soSe€ECF No. 42-5 at PagelD
2176-78.) Gleason noted inconsmtes with her client's dgre to proceed with the
post-conviction petition; an incidéin March 2007, where he smedrfeces on the walls of his
cell (purportedly as a form of protest); the termination of his engagement; and depressian. (
PagelD 2177-78seeECF No. 131-11 at PagelD 7454-56 (resrhealth referral related to
smearing feces and “saying that[']s theywee is going to live from now on"see alsd&ECF No.

131-13 at PagelD 7460-62 (“gone ‘cave man’ again"Gleason did not present witnesses to
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support her claims of Hugueley’s incompetence shetentered on the record a social history and
mitigation report, a notebook aboushiistory of mental illness, and reports and affidavits from
neuropsychologist Pam Auble apdychologist Keith Caruso. S€eECF No. 42-5 at PagelD
2178-79.)

On December 3, 2007, the court enteredoatter addressing Hugueley’'s desire to
withdraw his post-conviction petition, his com@ety, and counsel’s representations that her
client wished to proceed.|d( at PagelD 2168-95.) The couddund that “there is in fact a
genuine issue regardipgtitioner's competency to withdraws post conviction petition.” Id. at
PagelD 2169, 2192.) The court ordered the partisalimit a list of mental health professionals
to evaluate Hugueley’s competencyld. @t PagelD 2194-95.) Further, the court stated that, if
the inmate decided he wanted to proceed, he ghoidrm the court and that decision would be
final. (1d.)

On January 23, 2008, the court entered deroappointing John Hutson and Peter Brown,
the parties’ proffered mental health professionals, to evaluate Hugueley. (ECF No. 42-5 at
PagelD 2273-79.) The court further stated,

should petitioner refuse to participate ie thrdered mental health evaluations, then

this court will proceed with post convictisaview. Such failure to cooperate can

only be viewed by this court as eithestatement by petitioner that he wishes to

proceed with post conviction review or as evidence that he is not competent to

waive post conviction review. Moreovesnce a decision tproceed has been

made, the court will not entertain further motions by petitioner to waive post

conviction review. Thus, this courtd@ses petitioner to participate in the

evaluations. His cooperation in these matietbe clearest pla to achieving his

stated goals of waiving post convicticeview and terminating further proceedings
in this matter.



(Id. at PagelD 2278.) The parties had until March 6, 2008, to contpb&teevaluations. Id. at
PagelD 2283.) In an order entered May 19, 2008, the court granted additional time until June 30,
2008, for Brown’s evaluation. Id. at PagelD 2324.)

On May 28, 2008, Hugueley filed a documeaimplaining about the mental health
evaluations, the waste of taxpayers’ dollars, gnedjudge’s inexperience with capital cases; he
refused to meet with Brown and again stated hieadlid not want posteaiviction review. (ECF
No. 42-6 at PagelD 2329-34.)

On June 30, 2008, the court received a letter from Petitioner that he wanted the PCD
removed from his case and be allowed to reptdsarself. (ECF No. 42-7 at PagelD 2512.) He
noted that he had been declared competentdny enental health professional who had evaluated
him since 2003, including Hutson’s evaluation on February 29, 20@B.at(PagelD 2512-13.)
Hugueley stated that he did not warg fACD to appeal his case furthedd. @t PagelD 2514,
2521-22.)

On July 24, 2008, the court noted that Bnolad not evaluated Hugueley and that “it
cannot trust that Dr. Brown will be able to edmusly perform an evaluation of petitioner.”

(Id. at PagelD 2564.) The court ordered courtselprovide a new list of mental health
professionals for Hugueley’s compaty evaluation by July 29, 2008ld.(at PagelD 2568.)

On July 28, 2008, the inmate filed a motiomémove appointed counsel and to represent
himself which stated that he would withdraw the post-conviction petition after counsel had been
removed. Id. at PagelD 2520-26.)

On August 1, 2008, the trial court appoinBrice Seidner to evaluate Hugueleyld. at

PagelD 2569, 2573-74.) Seidner’s report was file or about November 14, 2008, and a hearing
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was held. $ee id.at PagelD 2595-2613%ee ECF No. 42-12.) Seidnetestified that he
interviewed Hugueley for mental status andttiugueley had been “reticent to do further
testing,” believed there was sufeit testing in the record, andsarted that his competence had
never been an issue.ld(at PagelD 2872.)

Petitioner agreed to psychological testin@ifno contact visit”; gpersonality test using
the Personal Assessment Inventory (PAIl), a matingdest called the Validity Indicator Profile
(VIP), the Wisconsin Card Sort test, which tdstscognitive ability and rational processes, and
the Wechsler Adult Intellignce Scale IQ test.ld( at PagelD 2873, 2914-15, 2920.) Hugueley
presented “as really quite capable” with an 1Q in the high average range; he was fully oriented and
did not appear to be struggy with major depression. Id. at PagelD 2873.)Seidner testified
that the inmate talked about “lgslf responsibility and his selfterests” and noted that there was
“no condition that | can find that affects his thinking process or the consequences of tlgt.” (
Seidner found no impairment to Hugueley’'s capacityd.) ( Seidner read Pamela Auble’s
findings and testified that “there was nothingttiquestioned his capacity from her findings and
there was a psychiatrist as wietim his psychiatric perspectitieat did not question [Hugueley’s]
capacity in 2003.” Ifl. at PagelD 2880.) Hugueley perfted better on these tests than any
previous tests and explained thathad been repressing his actlility in previous tests. Iq. at

PagelD 2912.}

* In addition to finding Hugueley competentj@eer noted his high verbal 1Q of 127 in the
superior range of intelligence and that ther@s no evidence of mood disorder, depression,
excessive guilt, internalizing, flight ideas, exsige externalization, delusions, thought blocking,
hallucinations, thinking disordeor neurological defects. (EQWo. 42-8 at PagelD 2713-14.)
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On January 8, 2009, the court dismissed thé-@msviction petition. (ECF No. 42-8 at
PagelD 2688-2749.) Seidner concluded thatgueley was competent to withdraw his
post-conviction petition and wee further post-conviction xgew, and the court found that
counsel had failed to demonseaby clear and convincing eedce, that Hugueley lacked the
competence required to withdrawvis post-conviction petition anirego further review of his
claims. (d. at PagelD 2713, 2749.)

On February 9, 2009, Petitioner appealetd. 4t PagelD 2754.) On June 8, 2011, the
TCCA affirmed the judgment of the post-cortioa court. (ECF No. 43-9 at PagelD 4148-98.)
See Hugueley2011 WL 2361824, at *44. Hugueley filed a petition for rehearing, which the
TCCA denied on July 27, 2011. (ECF Nos. 43-10 & 43-11.)

On or about September 26, 2011, Hugueley filed@lication for perission to appeal to
the TSC. (ECF No. 43-12 at PagelD 43390n December 13, 2011, the TSC denied the
application. (ECF No. 43-13 at PagelD 4341.)

. FEDERAL COURT PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On August 20, 2009, Hugueley filegpeo sepetition for writ of haleas corpus pursuant to
28 U.S.C. § 2254 and motions for leave to prodeefbrma pauperisand to appoint counsel.
(Electronic Case Filing (“ECH"Nos. 1-3.) On August 27, 2009, the Court granted his motions
and directed the Clerk torse the habeas petition.S€eECF No. 4.)

On October 29, 2009, the inmate filed a motiostay proceedings. (ECF No. 10.) The
case was stayed and administratively closed pgrtie completion of state court post-conviction
proceedings. (ECF No. 11.) On February 28,3, the stay was lifted, and the case reopened.
(ECF No. 23.)
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On March 19, 2013, Hugueley moved for leavartwend his petition to assert ineffective
assistance of trial and appellataunsel claims. (ECF No. 27RagelD 88-113.) On March 22,
2013, he filed a corrected motion. (ECF No. 29he Court granted the motion in part and
required Hugueley to file an amended petitiorsedECF No. 52 at PagelD 4433.)

On July 9, 2013, Respond@riiled the state court record(ECF Nos. 41-43.) On August
30, 2013, Petitioner filed the Petition Amended @&lered By the Court, and on November 8,
2013, he submitted the Second Petition Amende®Akered By the Court (“Second Amended
Petition”). (ECF Nos. 53 & 58.) On Febryal2, 2014, Respondent filed an Answer to the
Second Amended Petition. (ECF No. 78) Karch 14, 2014, Hugueley filed a reply. (ECF
No. 81.)

On February 2, 2015, Warden Westbrook movedismiss Claims I, J, and K or to
prohibit Hugueley’s reliance on undisclosed factsvadence to support theslaims. (ECF No.
110.) On February 3, 2015, Hugueley filed a response. (ECF No. 111.) On April 16, 2015, the
Court denied Respondent’s motion to dismiss andidethe parties to cogrfin good faith about
the discovery dispute that was the basis fontb&on. (ECF No. 119.) The parties presented a
joint status report addressing the dispute amdeagg to go forward. (ECF No. 122 at PagelD
5509-10.)

> The proper respondent to a habeditipe is the petitioner’s custodianRumsfeld v.
Padilla, 542 U.S. 426, 434-35 (2004). Hugueley is ently incarcerated &iverbend Maximum
Security Institution (“RMSI”) whereBruce Westbrooks is the warderSeeTennessee Felony
Offender Information Lookup, https://apps.tn.gov/foil/search.jsp (last visited Apr. 4, X¥¥/);
Tennessee Department of Correction, http://mwwmgov/correctiofinstitutions/rmsi.html (last
visited Apr. 4, 2017). The Cledbhall record the respondentRSISI Warden Bruce Westbrooks
and terminate all references to Wayne Carpenter.
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Respondent filed a motion for summanggment on March 16, 2015. (ECF No. 112.)
On June 19, 2015, the inmate responded to th@omavith multiple attachments. (ECF Nos.
127-132.) On October 5, 2015, Respondiged a reply. (ECF No. 137.)

1. FACTUAL BACKGROUND
The TSC summarized the evidence presented at trial as follows:

The evidence adduced at Defendatria established that, on January 17,
2002, Defendant was an inmate at theddanan County Correctional Facility,
where he was housed in the “F” pod. atllday, correctionatounselor Delbert
Steed entered the “F” pod in order to calneamates. Mr. Steed was sitting at a
table when Defendant approached frorhibd and began stabbing Mr. Steed with
a homemade weapon. Defendatabbed Mr. Steed a totaf thirty-six times.
Defendant did not cease stabbing theiwicuntil the handle of his homemade
weapon broke off. Once Defendant was uaabicontinue using his weapon, he lay
down on the floor of the pod and permitted other correctional officers to restrain
and remove him. The victim was recoee with the sharpened portion of the
weapon still embedded in his back, dedwas transported to the infirmary.

Mary Harris testified that she was sking in the control room from which
she could view the activity occurring in the pod. She observed Defendant approach
the victim from behind and begin btéing him. Upon witnessing Defendant’s
attack on Mr. Steed, she called for assistance. Another female officer opened the
door to the pod and told Defendant topstAt that, Defendant rose and started
toward the officer “with the knife drawn back like he was going to stab her.” The
officer closed the door, and Defendarturaed to the victim, recommencing his
attack. Ms. Harris testifielirther that Officer Donal®Vatkins entered the pod and
told Defendant to stop. According to M4arris, Defendant stabbed the victim once
or twice more and then stopped wher thandle on the weapon broke. At that
point, Defendant allowed himd$éb be taken into custody.

Donald Watkins testified that he is a Senior Correctional Officer at the
Hardeman County Correctional Facilitle responded to Ms. Harris’ call for
assistance. As he look#ddough the door into the pode saw Defendant kneeling
down next to the victim. When he sawfBredant stab the victim with a homemade
weapon, he entered the pod shoutingrdfbyour weapon! Drop your weapon!”
Mr. Watkins stated that Defendant cdiad immediately and lay face down on the
floor. Mr. Watkins called for medical astance, and when he heard the victim
making a groaning noise “like he was inrpaMr. Watkins tried to reassure the
victim that help was coming.
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Pursuant to his employment by thenhessee Department of Correction as
an Internal Affairs Investigator, Mdoseph Vernon reported to the crime scene
where he collected evidence and t@blotographs. Mr. Vernon was present when
the murder weapon was removed from Mr. Steed’s body. He described the weapon
as a “quarter inch rod that ha[d] beemrgtened to a very fine point” on one end.
Mr. Vernon stated that the point svdrazor sharp.” The weapon measured
approximately eleven inches long. elthandle of the weapon was a “Magic
Marker” pen.

Mr. Don Dunaway, also an Internalfairs Investigator with the Tennessee
Department of Correction, interviewed fleedant after the killing. After being
informed of his rights and agreeing toiveathem, Defendant gave Mr. Dunaway a
lengthy statement in which he described his intense dislike of the victim. Mr.
Dunaway testified about the statemenddAionally, an audio tape of Defendant’s
statement was played for the jury, aadranscript of tb tape was provided.
Defendant described numerous confliatsl @onfrontations théte had had with
Mr. Steed in his capacity as a correctional officer. Defendant claimed that Mr.
Steed had threatened to write him up and Refendant that he was “friends with
these gangs around here! They like me! They love me! ... you ain’t nothing!”

Defendant killed the victim on ahlirsday. Defendant told Mr. Dunaway
that he began thinking about killing theétim on the previous Monday. On that
day, he got his weapon but then decidedjust ... leave it alone.” Defendant
described to Mr. Dunaway what then oged on Thursday, whilslr. Steed was in
the pod:

| started to walk up and say something to him, and one of the little gang
members that he talked to a lot #erun up and set dawat the table and
started talkin’ to him. And | stood ovay the side for a few minutes, and he
looked at me, and he just shook his heaplist turned around and faced the
other direction. And | said, “F[-]k this!And | went to tle house, and got my
damn knife and packed my property up real quick ... throwed my s[-]t in a
box and un-done my TV, and set it ovethe side, and went and killed his
ass! It was that plain and simple.

Defendant admitted to Mr. Dunaway thret intended to kill the victim by
stabbing “the most vital orgaffisst ... the heart and the lung.”

Mr. Dunaway testified that in May @003, Defendant wrote a letter to the
district attorney. Mr. Dunaway obtained théster and subsequotly verified with
Defendant that he had written and signed it. This letter was admitted into evidence
and states, in pertinent part, the following: “I did with malicious intent
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premeditatedly murder Delbert Steed, anthdgated in my statement to Internal
Affairs, | have no regret or remorse for this crime and I fully intended to kill others
that day but was unable to do so hessathe handle on my weapon broke.”

Dr. O'Brian Clary Smith testified as an expert in the field of forensic
pathology about the autopsyttee victim. Dr. Smith mmoved the murder weapon
from the victim’s back. He stated thaethkictim’s cause of death was “[m]ultiple
stab wounds, thirty-six.” Twelve of thesvounds were lethaDr. Smith testified
that there were ten wounds to the victimlsest area, three of which were fatal.
There were fourteen wounds to the victirback area, nine of which were fatal.
Additionally, there was one wound to thetun’s abdomen and eleven wounds to
the victim’s left arm.

Defendant testified at trial. Heas&d about his attk on the victim:

| was stabbing Counseloregtd. He was laying onetfloor, stomach down. |

was trying to drive it plumb through ahd the concrete below him. That was

my intentions. | heard the door pop behind me. | turned around and it was the
Watkins guy that testified yesterdagnd a little girl named Perry. When |
seen them, | took one and a half steps toward them. At that time, | still had the
weapon in my hand. And they said, ¢d got a knife,” and slammed the
door.

And they stood outside the door whilstabbed the man while he was laying
on the floor, face down, | stabbed him about eight more times trying to run it
plumb through him. They didn’t come in until when | drawed back going to
hit him again, | didn’t see nothing bup&ce of pen, MagiMarker sticking

out of my hand....

At that point, Defendant threweéhveapon handle away and lay down on
the floor. Defendant also testified abougréevance he had filed in which he set
forth various complaints about the victand the victim’s supervisor. He explained
that he had made numerous cell changgests and requests to be placed in the
anger management program, “all in dfoe to get awayfrom Counselor Steed”
and the unit manager. Defendant statea the victim “had a smart ass mouth”
which was the source of their “problenD&fendant continued: “He had a habit of
shooting his mouth off to inmates, threatgnthem, and | wasn’t going to stand for
it in any way, shape or form.”

On cross-examination, Defendant stht‘In the world I live in, you die for
disrespect. It should apply to both emploged inmate.” He explained that he had
made the murder weapon from a piece of metal removed from a laundry cart. He
used sandpaper from a belt sander to shahmepoint. He stated that he would not
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have quit stabbing the victim if the haadif the weapon had not broken off. He
admitted that he aimed for the victim’s vital organs.

Defendant acknowledged that his actions in killing the victim were both
intentional and premeditated. He als&ramwvledged that during his conversations
with defense counsel he had consistemtigintained that he wanted the death
penalty.

Upon considering this proof, the jumgturned a verdict of guilty on
Defendant’s charge of first degree premeditated murder.

Hugueley 185 S.W.3d at 363-66.
The State argued the following four aggaing circumstances in the penalty phase:

(1) Defendant was previously convictedarfe or more feloeis whose statutory
elements involved the use of violence to the person;

(2) the murder was especially heinous, @tras, or cruel in tht it involved torture
or serious physical abuse beyondtthecessary to produce death;

(3) Defendant committed the murder while he was in a place of lawful
confinement; and

(4) the victim was a corrections employee.
Id. at 363, 367seeTenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(i)(2),)(88), (9) (Supp. 1999). The jury
determined that the aggravating circumstamegweighed the mitigating circumstances beyond a
reasonable doubtHugueley 185 S.W.3d at 363, 367.
V. HUGUELEY’'S FEDERAL HABEAS CLAIMS

Hugueley alleges that his Sixth, Eighth d&alrteenth Amendmentgfits were violated
when:

A. The State exercised peremptorylidrages on the basis of race in violation
of the dictates oBatson v. Kentucky76 U.S. 79 (1986).
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B. The State exercised peremptory challenges against female jurors on the
basis of their gender in violation 8fE.B. v. Alabama ex rel. T,B811 U.S. 127,
129 (1994).

C. The trial court erred in refusing to dismiss for cause potential juror Barry
Watkins, whose brother worked at théspn where the murder occurred and who
Mr. Watkins knew was a potential witness for the prosecution.

D. The evidence was insufficient to support the jury’s finding of the
aggravating circumstances.

E. The trial court erred in instructing the jury as to the aggravating
circumstances relating to the killing o€arrectional employee lhiling to charge
the jury as to all of the elements of the offense.

F. The trial court erred by allowing Mdugueley to waive the presentation of
mitigation evidence.

G. The proof presented as to the aggravating circumstances was insufficient to
outweigh the mitigating circumstances presented in the guilt/innocence portion of
the trial.

H. The death sentence is disproportterta the penalty in similar cases.

l. Hugueley’s counsel rendered inetige assistance o€ounsel in their
investigation and preparation fitve capital case against him.

J. Hugueley’s counsel was ineffectigering the jury selection process.

K. Hugueley's counsel rendered inefige assistance o€ounsel in their
defense of him at the pdtaphase of his trial.

L. Hugueley’s counsel rendered irexfive assistance of counsel on direct
appeal.

(ECF No. 58 at PagelD 4663-78.)

® Hugueley also asserts a dtibn of Tennessee law.S¢eECF No. 58 at PagelD 4666.)
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V. RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO DISMISS

When the Warden filed the motion for summargigment, he asserted that he was not
abandoning his motion to dismiss, but merelynde to supply the Countith alternative bases
for dismissing Claims |, J, and K. (ECF No. 112-1 at PagelD 54409pdRdent refers to his
arguments in the motion to dismiss to supportrédgiest for summary judgment for Claims 1, J,
and K. (d. at PagelD 5468, 5470-71.)

On April 16, 2015, after Respondent’s motion$ammary judgment was filed, the Court
denied his motion to dismiss. (ECF No. 119.)

In a joint status report adeksing the discovedispute underlying th&/arden’s motion to
dismiss filed April 27, 2015, Respondent statedtiimatienial of the motion was without prejudice
and indicated that the partiesregd not to further pursue dissal of Claims I, J, and K under
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 37(b)(®)( (ECF No. 120 at PagelD 5503.)

The parties stated their positeabout the discovery dispute:

1. Respondent contends that Petitimeelay in providing documents and
failure to respond to interrogmies has irrevocably frustrated Respondent’s desire
to obtain discovery before the Court imposed deadline for filing dispositive
motions. Respondent also contends ®etitioner has aton-going duty” (D.E.

119 at 4 n.2) to provide interrogatory responses and documents in accordance with
the Court’s order granting him discoyer(D.E. 103) Given the late stage of
proceedings and the fact that Petitioneligpositive motion response is due June
13, 2015, Respondent further contends tPeitioner’s April 24, 2015, offer for
him to review 34 boxes of documents lvatt at least pre-mking the responsive
documents therein has irrevocably poBged Respondent by frustrating the
purpose for seeking and obtaining disagven this case. Respondent requests
exclusion of any evidence proffered impport of Petitioner’'s Claims I, J, and K
under Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(b)(2)(A)(ii).

2. Petitioner contends that becausdketpondent’s rejection of every effort
Petitioner made to provide Respondémé discovery, including Respondent’s
decision to not review the 34 boxes Petitiomade available, Respondent’s failure
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to confer from January 14 until Aprd4, 2015, and Respond&nfiling of his

motion for summary judgment while thesdovery dispute was still pending with

this Court, the Court should not excluday evidence offed in support of

Petitioner’s Claims I, J, and K.

(ECF No. 122 at PagelD 5503-04.)

The parties agreed tbe following going forward:

1. Respondent will not further seek dissal of Petitioner’s Claims 1, J, and K

based on the alleged discovery viadati Nor will Respondent amend the grounds

for his motion to exclude evidence to encompass the time period since the Court

ordered the parties to confer.

2. Petitioner’s on-going duty to supplemdre discovery provided in this case

will necessarily be fulfiled when Petitner files his response to Respondent’s

motion for summary judgment.

3. Any additional relief requested frothis Court will be requested by the

parties in the regular course of summiaiggment litigation. The parties will more

fully brief their position on Respondent’s IRUB7 motion as part of the summary

judgment litigation.

(Id. at PagelD 5504-05 (citation omitted).)

In Respondent’s reply to the motion for sunmynadgment, he incqorated his motion to
dismiss by reference and argued that the motiaisimiss should be coidered in the Court’s
determination that Respondenerdtitled to summary judgment asnatter of law. (ECF No. 137
at PagelD 7664, 7687.) Respondent relies on hitomto dismiss to assert that Hugueley did
not timely disclose evidence relevantClaims A, |, J, and K. Iq. at PagelD 7669, 7683-84.)
VI. STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

Although the Court addressed tivaeliness of the ineffective sistance of counsel claims

in its Order on Hugueley’'s motion to amend phegition, Respondent reastss the statute of

limitations as an affirmative defense to theeadhed claims in the Second Amended Petition.
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(SeeECF No. 52 at PagelD 4414, 4419-22; ECF Nb2-1 at PagelD 5441 n.2.) The Warden
argued that the amended claims were raised thiegxpiration of the oneegr limitations period
and were time-barred because theagrd do not relate back to the sepetition. (d. at PagelD
5441-50.) He contended that the facts undeglythe claims differ in time and type.ld( at
PagelD 5445-46, 5449-50.) Respondent insisted that Hugueley is not entitled to equitable tolling
and seeks reconsideration of theu@’s determination that the amended claims relate back to the
pro sepetition. (d. at PagelD 5451.) Hugueley assettieat the Court hadlready determined
that his ineffective assistance claimsagmely. (ECF No. 127 at PagelD 5621-23.)

In Mayle v. Felix the United States Supreme Court hblat an amended habeas petition
“does not relate back when gserts a new ground for relief supported by facts that differ in both
time and type from those the origimaéading set forth.” 545 U.S. 644, 650 (2005ge Cowan
v. Stovall 645 F.3d 815, 818 (6th Cir. 2011).

The Sixth Circuit recently addressed relati@eh of an untimely amendment to a habeas
petition inWatkins v. Deangelo-Kipi854 F.3d 846, 849-50 (6th Cir. 2017),

An untimely amendment to a habeas petition “relates back” to an original

petition filed within the Antiterrorismrad Effective Death Penalty Act's (AEDPA)

one-year limitations period if the original petition and the amended petition arise

out of the same “conduct, transactionpocurrence.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(c)(1)(B);

see also 28 U.S.C. 88§ 2242, 2244(d)(1). The Supreme Cdusayile defined the

standard for relation back in the contextadhabeas petitiohere, the petitioner

argued that his amended petition, whide@éd his Fifth Amendment rights were

violated during pretrial inteogation, related back tas original petition, filegoro

se where he argued that the admission déetaped evidence during trial violated

his rights under the Sixth AmendmentCsnfrontation Clause. 545 U.S. at 648-49,
651-52, 125 S. Ct. 2562. The Court emphasized that, in filing the petition, the

” In Pinchon v. Myers615 F.3d 631, 642 (6th Cir. 2010)etBixth Circuit recognized the
retroactive application d¥layle as a clarificatiorof existing law.
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petitioner must specify all grounds feelief, stating the facts supporting each
ground.ld. at 649, 655, 661, 125 S. Ct. 2562. Consatjydt held that an amended
habeas petition does n@late back to the original petition “when it asserts a new
ground for relief supported bgdts that differ in both timand type from those the
original pleading set forth.Td. at 650, 125 S. Ct. 2562. Rather, to qualify for
relation back, the original and amended petitions must “state claims that are tied to
a common core of operative factkd’ at 664, 125 S. Ct. 2562. The Court cautioned
not to read the “conduct, transaction, or occurrence” requirement, so broadly as to
render meaningless th&atute of limitationsld. at 662-64, 125 S. Ct. 2562.
Turning to the facts of the case, the Gaancluded that the petitioner’'s untimely
amended petition did not relate back te timely original petition because the two
petitions “targeted separate episodes”:gtedrial interrogation of the witness, and

the petitioner’'s own interrogation, whidtcurred “at a different time and place.”

Id. at 660, 125 S. Ct. 2562.

Though Mayle dealt with two separately designated claims—a Fifth

Amendment violation versus a Sixth A&mdment violation—its reasoning equally

applies to claims with the same dgstion—here, ineffective assistance of

counsel—that do not rely on the same commaa oboperative facts, or that target

separate episodes.

In Watkins the petitioner filed a timely habeastipen alleging ineffective assistance of
counsel for “failure to invedggate and raise a defenseWatkins 854 F.3d at 847, 849. Nearly
four years later, he filed an amded petition arguing ineffectivesastance of counsel for “failure
to request another psychiatevaluation after Watksi conduct during trial.” Id. The district
court granted habeas relief bhe Sixth Circuit determined that the amendment was untimely.
Id. at 847. The Sixth Circuit held that, becaW8atkins’ original petition did not raise facts
supporting the underlying ineffective assistance of counsel claims, the amended petition did not
relate back. Id. at 850-51.

In Hill v. Mitchell, the Sixth Circuit described casebkere relation back had been upheld

because the amended claim arose out of the satwa operative facts dise original claim and

expanded on or amplified the facts alleged i dhiginal claim. 842 F.3d 910, 924 (6th Cir.
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2016). Although both the originand amended claims weBgady claims, the original claim
“did not even raise a potential claim for relief” and was “completely bereft of specific fact
allegations or evidentiary supp@nd was not tied to any piattlar theory of relief.” 1d. at 924.
The court noted the “utter lack of substance” im ¢higinal claim and determined that the claims
did not share a common core of operative fadts.at 924-25.

Respondent argues that the amerdaidns do not rela back to th@ro sepetition. (ECF
No. 112-1 at PagelD 5442.) He asserts thaStfgeme Court rejectskaoad interpretation of
Fed. R. Civ. P. 15’s “conduct, transaction or occurrence” langualge at PagelD 5442-43.)

A. Ineffective Assistance — Investigatio, Preparation & Penalty Phase (Claims
1(1-4) & K(1 & 3))

The Warden contends that the amendment allowing Claims 1(1-4) and K(1 & 3) is not
proper and that these claims are time-babechuse they do not relate back toptesepetition.
(ECF No. 112-1 at PagelD 5442-43.) Claim | addes ineffective assistance of counsel in the
preparation and investigation éfugueley’s capital case inclig the failure to: (1) fully
investigate, raise, and litigate his competencevaove the presentation of mitigation evidence
(formerly Claim 14 9 1(c))(2) investigate issues relatedHogueley’s competence to stand trial
and assist in his defense (formerly Claim 14  3)in\8stigate his socidlistory to determine his
incompetence to waive the presentation of mikigaévidence (formerly Claim 14 § 7(a)(2)); and
(4) retain the proper experts pre-trial to dismokis incompetence to wa the presentation of
mitigation evidence (formerly Claim 14  11(k))SeeECF No. 58 at PagelD 4666-67.) In
Claim K(1), Petitioner alleges that his trial counfedled to fully investigate his social history in

their defense of him at the ety phase and discover that Wvas incompetent to waive the
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presentation of mitigation evidence ((formerly Claim 17 f1(a)(2).. af PagelD 4673-74.) In
Claim K(3), he claims that hisisd counsel failed to move for aaring and establish that he was
incompetent to waive the presentation of mitigation evidende. at(PagelD 4676.)
The Court addressed these claims in the motion to amend stating,
4. Waiving Presentation of Mitigation Evidence

In Paragraph 11 of th@o sepetition, Petitioner idludes Sixth, Eighth, and
Fourteenth Amendment vitions concerning waiveof the presentation of
mitigation evidence. (D.E. 1 at 4.) In Claim 14 Paragraphs 1(c), 2, 7(a)(2), and
11(k) of the proposed amendment, he gk ineffective [assistance] of counsel
because counsel failed to fully intgmte, raise, anditigate Petitioner's
competency to waive the presentation of mitigation evidence and investigate
Petitioner’'s social history to discover that he was incompetent to waive the
presentation of mitigation evidence..[D 29 at 9-12.) Petitioner makes similar
allegations in Claim 17 Paragraphs 1(ag@yl 5 related to theenalty stage (id. at
12-22 & 25) and Claim 18 Paragraph 2 redati® counsel’s performance on direct
appeal (id. at 26-27). These claims shateramon core of operative facts with and
relate back to Paragraph 11 of fite sepetition. Petitioner hastated a reasonable
argument to establish cause for procedural defade supra pp. 12-16.
Amendment would not be futile, and he is entitled to amend his petition to add the
allegations in Claim 14 Paragraphs 1(c){@)(2), and 11(k), Claim 17 Paragraphs
1(a)(2) and 5, and Claim 18 Paragraph 2.

(ECF No. 52 at PagelD 4421-22.)

Paragraph 11 states, “[i]n violation okt®ixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments, the
trial court erred by allowing Mr. Hugueley to waithe presentation of mitigation evidence.”
(ECF No. 1 at PagelD 4.) The Warden contends tledattts underlyingro seParagraph 11 and
the amended claims differ in time and type becausseParagraph 11 involvesstrial court error
claim, relying on the trial court records, and #mended ineffective assistance claims involve a
guestion of trial counsel’'s performance and mexu further developmenn the waived state

post-conviction proceedings.ld(at PagelD 5443-44.) Respondent arguesttaseParagraph
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11 does not assert trial couriseineffective assistance diugueley’s incompetence.Id( at
PagelD 5444-45.) Further, Respondent submits that the claims differ in time becaursestne
claim involved the trial court allowing waiver ofitigation evidence and the ineffective assistance
claim concerned the adequacy of counsel’s remtasion based on his intggtion efforts before
trial and sentencing. (ECF No. 112-1 at PagelD 5444.)

In Zagorski v. State983 S.W.2d 654, 660-61 (Tenn. 1998), the TSC sets out steps the trial
court must take to protect a defendant’s irdeyavhen he goes agadirsounsel’s advice and
refuses to permit the investigation and presentation of mitigation eviddd®e. The procedure
was to insure that the waiver wastélligently and voluntarily made.”ld. at 660. Further, with
regard to defense counsel’s performance, the court stated,

We recognize the professional, perdpaad moral conflicts that lawyers
encounter when representing a defendant who chooses to forego the use of
mitigating evidence. Nevertheless, we nugiserve a competent defendant’s right
to make the ultimate decisions in his or her case once having been fully informed of
the rights and the potentieabnsequences involved.

Accordingly, when a defendant instts counsel not tenvestigate or
present mitigating evidence, counsel miglow the procedure outlined in this

case to insure on the record that the niééat is competent and fully aware of his
rights and the possible consequences aif decision. Thereafter, counsel will not

8 zagorskirequires the trial court to: (1) inforthe defendant of hiright to present
mitigating evidence and make a determination on the record whether the defendant understands
this right and the importance of presentimitigating evidence in both the guilt phase and
sentencing phase of trial; (2hquire of both the dendant and counsel whether they have
discussed the importance of mitigating evidence, the risks of foregoing the use of such evidence,
and the possibility that such eeiace could be used to offset aggravating circumstances; and (3)
after being assured the defendant understdéinesimportance of mitigation, inquire of the
defendant whether he or she decides tagimtbe presentation of mitigating evidencgagorskj
983 S.W.2d at 66Gsee State v. Johnsof01 S.W.3d 1, 16 (Tenn. 2013) (same).
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be adjudged ineffective for abiding bye defendant's lawful decision.
Id. at 661.

Hugueley did not @ad facts in thero sepetition related to Paragph 11 or in relation to
the amended claims now being disputed as-bareed. However, the same core of operative
facts surrounding the waiver of mitigation evidencd eounsel’s actions related to that waiver are
at issue in thgro se and amended claims. Unlike Bedy claim in Hill, where there was a
complete lack of factual supgoand pure speculation, the stateurt record in this case
demonstrates the colloquy that occurred wirgueley expressed his desire to waive the
presentation of mitigation evidence and counsedigresentations to the trial court about the
waiver. SeeECF No. 41-5 at PagelD 730-38.) Despitte lack of fact gdading on the issues,
the record demonstrates commants that support these claim3he Court, however, notes that
additional facts beyond the scoplethe record may support Hugugke ineffective assistance of
counsel claims.

Petitioner alleged an unspecified Sixth é&mdment violation surrounding the trial court’s
purported error in allowing him to waive the presdion of mitigation evidence. The ineffective
assistance of counsel claims in Claim | and & &ixth Amendment violations, the same type of
claim alleged in th@ro sepetition.

To the extent Respondent contends thaji¢ley’s competence was not specifically raised
in the pro se petition, the defendant’s competence nimke such a decision is inherent in
determining trial court error and whether counsel were ineffecti8ee State v. Sm;jt®93
S.W.2d 6, 8 (Tenn. 1999) (“[T]he trial court had nehawity to override thevill of a competent

and informed defendant and force Smith to present mitigation evidence . . . in his capital
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sentencing hearing.”)d. at 15-16 (“|W]e have no doubt that these experienced attorneys would
have presented [the issue of defendant’'s compgfda the trial court at the jury-out hearing,
particularly in light of the trial court’s ggific questions regarding its existence.”).

In the instant case, the inmate was rayptagainst the advice of counsel, and it was
necessary to ascertdumns state of mind. See idat 14 (“counsel will not be adjudged ineffective
for following the decision of a competent andlyfunformed defendant who chooses to forego
investigation and presentation of mitigating evidence at the sentencing phase of a capital trial”).
The TSC acknowledges the right to waive miiig|a, while requiring that the defendant be
competent to do soJohnson401 S.W.3d at 16-17.

Competence to waive mitigation is equated with competence to standlttiaht 17.
Therefore, the timing of the claims, whether in the preliminary stages or at the penalty phase has
no bearing, because the same competence iseddoistand trial and to waive mitigation.

The amended claims share common facts ansimrkar in time and type as Paragraph 11.

As this Court has previously stated, the amendments specifying an examination of Hugueley’s
competence in light of his desire to waive natign proof relate back and are not time-barred.

B. Ineffective Assistance of Appellate Counsel (Claim L(1))

The Court allowed amendment of Claim L(1hat Hugueley’'s appellate counsel were
ineffective for “failure to raise and litigate shincompetence to waive the presentation of
mitigation (formerly claim 18 § 2),” based on arwwoon core of operative facts with Paragraph 11
of the pro sepetition. SeeECF No. 52 at PagelD 4421-22)he Warden argues that Claim
L(1), is time-barred. (ECF No. 112-1 at Pagéd5.) He contends that the amended claim

differs in time and type from the Paragraph 11 inpiteesepetition. (ECF No. 112-1 at PagelD
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5446.) Based on Fifth and Eighthr€iit cases, Respondent maingihat failure to file an
appeal is a separateanerence in both timena type from conduct thatccurs at the sentencing
phase and before trial.ld( at § PagelD 5446-47 (citingnited States v. Gonzaléx®2 F.3d 675,
680 (5th Cir. 2009) andnited States v. Craycraft67 F.3d 451 (8th Cir. 1999).)

Respondent contends that Claim L(1) differs in time and type becausetlepetition
does not include claims of ineffective assistameeompetency or appellate error and offers no
factual basis to support the assertion thatttia court erred in penitting Hugueley to waive
mitigating evidence or that he is or was incompetemd.) (Although Hugueley raises a Sixth
Amendment violation related to his right to etiee counsel at trial antthe purported trial court
error of allowing him to waive mitigation evidence, he does not address the performance of Jones
and Gibson as appellate counsel inftis sepetition? There is some difference in time relevant
to Claim L(1) and thepro sepetition, although the operative faesd the players are the same.
Both claims require an assessment of the counsiéétiveness at trial with regard to the waiver
of mitigation evidence. Claim L(1) relates back to phe sepetition. See Lee v. Haad97 F.
Supp. 3d 960, 970 (E.D. Mich. 2016) (finding thadil of ineffective asstance of appellate
counsel arises from the same core of operatietsfas and relates back to the self-representation
claim in the original habeas petition).

C. Ineffective Assistance - Hugueley’s Ror Convictions (Claims 1(5), K(2) &

L(2))

® Jones and Gibson represented Hugueley both at trial and on appeaECFE No. 58 at
PagelD 4677.)
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With regard to the allegations about Hulgyés counsels’ failure to investigate and
challenge the validity of higrior violent convictions in Gims I(5) and K(2), Respondent
disagrees with the Court’s reasapithat Paragraphs 9 and 12 of fr® se petition share a
common core of operative facts and assertsttigatacts underlying theaims differ in time and
type. (ECF No. 112-1 at PageB8247-48.) The Court stated,

2. Aggravating Circumstances

Hugueley presented several claimstetlato aggravating circumstances in
both thepro sepetition and the proposed amereith  In Paragraph 9 of tipeo se
petition, he alleges violatns of the Sixth, Eighth,nal Fourteenth Amendments
based on insufficient evidence to suppo# jary’s finding of the aggravating
circumstances related toshprior convictions; the sous, atrocious, and cruel
killing; the fact thathe defendant was in lawful stiody at the time of the murder;
and the fact that the victim was a catrens employee. (D.E. 1 at 3.) In
Paragraph 12, Petitioner submits Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment
violations based on the proof of aggrawgtcircumstances being insufficient to
outweigh the mitigating circumstancesld. @t 4.)

In Claim 14 Paragraph 13 of the proposed amendment, the inmate alleges
ineffective assistance of cowtsn the investigation angreparation of his capital
case, specifically failure to investigathe circumstances surrounding Petitioner’s
prior violent convictions which were used statutory aggravating circumstances.
(D.E. 29 at 14-18.) In Claim 17 Pgraph 2 of the proposed amendment,
Petitioner contends ineffective assistanceaninsel in the penalty phase of trial for
counsel not investigating ahallenging the validity of #aprior violent crimes used
as aggravating circumstances. (D.E. 222aP5.) In Claim 18 Paragraph 5 of the
proposed amendment, Hugueley includesffective assistaze of counsel on
direct appeal for the failure to invesiig and challenge P&tiner’s prior violent
convictions which were usexb aggravating factors.Id( at 27.)

The assertions in Claims 14, Rgnaph 13; 17, Paragraph 2; and 18,
Paragraph 5 share a common core of dperdacts with and relate back to
Paragraphs 9 and 12 of tlpeo se petition. Petitioner ha stated a reasonable
argument to establish cause for procedural defadg supra pp. 12-16.
Amendment would not be futile and he isiged to amend his petition to add these
allegations.

(ECF No. 52 at PagelD 4419-20.)
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Respondent contends that tpeo se claims challenge the sufficiency of proof of
aggravating circumstances offered by the Staid the jury’s weighing of that proof against
mitigating circumstances. (ECF No. 112-1 at Pade148.) He contends that resolution of the
pro seclaims is dependent on theatrrecord, while the amended ineffective assistance claims
“necessarily” involve facts outsidbe state-court record.ld() The Warden argues that the facts
supporting theoro seand amended claims differ in time becauseptiveseclaims involve proof
offered during trial and the amended claims ingjinto counsel’s representation before trial and
sentencing. I(l. at PagelD 5448-49.) He acknowledgeasttthe claims sharthe fact of the
jury’s reliance on the prior aggrating circumstances, but he cendls the claims do not share a
“common core of operative facts’ givenetlilivergence, in both time and type.1d.(at PagelD
5449.)

To prove the sufficiency of the evidence olaialleged in the original petition, Hugueley
must show that a rational trier of fact cotlave found proof beyond a reasonable doubt that he
had the prior violent convictions that mepresented before the trial courSee Jackson v.
Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 324 (1979). The convictions tedviolent nature of the crimes were the
evidence needed to prove the aggravating circumstances and required for weighing those
circumstances against mitigating factors.

That same information is needed totedmine if Hugueley’'s counsel conducted a
reasonable investigation and apmiately challenged the aggravating circumstances at trial.
Although additional evidence may support thefeaive assistance of counsel claims, pine se

and amendedlaimsarise out of a common core of operafiaets, namely the convictions and the
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nature of the underlying crimé$. Further, although Respondent attempts to delineate the timing
associated with these claims, the claims altawnd the preparation f@and presentation of the
penalty phase case. The allegations @ir@$ [(5) and K(2)) relate back to theo sepetition.

With regard to the allegations in Claim L(2hat Hugueley’s appellate counsel failed to
investigate and challenge theiretit’s prior violent convictionsvhich were used as aggravating
factors in the case against himsRendent argues that Claim L(2) do®t relate bacto Claims 9
and 12 of thepro sepetition because they differ in time ayge, and again notes that resolution of
the pro seclaims follows from the trial record where the amended claims require information
external to the state cousaord. (ECF No. 112-1 at Page8249-50.) Further, the Warden
avers that thero sepetition does not raise any claims ppallate error or ineffective assistance
and differs in time from the amded appellate level claims.ld(at PagelD 5450.) Respondent
acknowledges that th@ro seand amended claims share the fact of the jury’s reliance on the prior
aggravating convictions, but hertends that the claims do rebtare a common core of operative
facts. (d. at PagelD 5451.) Because both pihe seand amended claims require an assessment
of counsel’s effectiveness atalr with regard toaddressing the aggrawrsg circumstance of

Hugueley'’s prior violentonvictions, Claim L(2) relates back to the sepetition.

10 Although Hugueley contends that hisounsel should havenvestigated the
circumstances surrounding these convictioaee(ECF No. 58 at PagelD 4667-72), the
circumstances do not eliminate the violent nawfréghe crimes and would be more useful in
mitigation, which he waived, than to comltia¢ finding of an aggravating circumstance.
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VIl.  THE LEGAL STANDARD

Relevant legal standards for purposes of sargnudgment review ahis petition include
the habeas standard for merits review, waiver grocedural default standards, and the summary
judgment standard as ipplies to habeas cases.

A. Merits Review under § 2254

The statutory authority for federal courts $sue habeas corpus relief for persons in state
custody is provided by 28 U.S.€.2254, as amended by the Antiterrorism and Effective Death
Penalty Act of 1996 (“AEDPA”). A federal court jmgrant habeas relief to a state prisoner “only
on the ground that he is in custadyviolation of the ©@nstitution or laws otreaties of the United
States.” 28 U.S.C. § 2254(a).

Where a claim has been adjudicated in statet on the merits, a haas petition can only
be granted if the resolution of the claim:

(2) resulted in a decision that wasntrary to, or involed an unreasonable

application of, clearly established Federal law, as determined by the

Supreme Court of the United States; or

(2) resulted in a decision that wassbd on an unreasonable determination of
the facts in light of the evidence peased in the State court proceeding.

28 U.S.C. § 2254(d)(1)-(2). The pminer carries the burden of profir this “difficult to meet”

and “highly deferential [AEDPA] sindard,” which “demands that state-court decisions be given

the benefit of the doubt.”Cullen v. Pinholster563 U.S. 170, 181 (2011) (quotikigrrington v.

Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 102 (2011), amdoodford v. Visciotti537 U.S. 19, 24 (200Zper curiam)).
Review under § 2254(d)(1) is limited to theoal that was before the state court that

adjudicated the claim on the merit®inholster 563 U.S. at 181-82, 185. A state court’s
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decision is “contrary” to federal law when it “areis at a conclusion opposite to that reached” by
the Supreme Court on a question of law or “decadease differently than” the Supreme Court has
“on a set of materiallyndistinguishable facts.” Williams v. Taylor 529 U.S. 362, 412-13
(2000)*  An “unreasonable application” of federaMaccurs when the state court “identifies the
correct governing legal principfeom” the Supreme Court’s deaisis “but unreasonably applies

that principle to the factef the prisoner's case.”ld. at 413. The state court’s application of
clearly established federal law must be ‘&tively unreasonable” for the writ to issudd. at

409. The writ may not issue merely because the habeas court, in its independent judgment,
determines that the state court decision applied clearly establishedl fiese erroneously or
incorrectly. Renico v. Lett559 U.S. 766, 773 (2010) (citiMyilliams 529 U.S. at 411). “As a
condition for obtaining habeas corpus from a fedawatt, a state prisoner siishow that the state
court’s ruling on the claim being presented in federal court was so lacking in justification that there
was an error well understoochch comprehended in existingwabeyond any possibility for
fairminded disagreement.'Richter, 562 U.S. at 103.

As for challenges under 8§ 2254(d)(2), “wheffederal habeas petitioner challenges the
factual basis for a prior state-court decision rejgcé claim, . . . [tlhe prisoner bears the burden of
rebutting the state court’s factual findings ‘by clear and convincing eviden@&utt v. Titlow
134 S. Ct. 10, 15 (2013) (quoting PI8S.C. 8§ 2254(e)(1)). A state-court factual determination is

not “unreasonable” merely because the fedbeddeas court would have reached a different

1 The “contrary to” standard does not requitation of Supreme Coticases “so long as
neither the reasoning nor the result ofstate-court decisiorontradicts them.” Early v. Packer
537 U.S. 3, 8 (2002) (per curiam).
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conclusion. Wood v. Allen558 U.S. 290, 301 (20103ge also Rice v. Collin®46 U.S. 333,
341-42 (2006) (“Reasonable mingsiewing the record might digeee” about the factual finding
in gquestion, “but on habeas review that does$ suffice to supersede the trial court’'s . . .
determination.”)** The Supreme Court has describei$ thtandard as “demanding but not
insatiable” and has emphasized that “deference does not by definition preclude relibér-El
v. Dretke 545 U.S. 231, 240 (2005) (internal qatddn marks and alteration omitted).

B. Waiver and Procedural Default

A federal court may not grantait of habeas corpus on béhaf a state prisoner unless,
with certain exceptions, the prisamhas exhausted available stat@medies by presenting the same
claim sought to be redressed in a federal habead to the state courirsuant to 28 U.S.C. §
2254(b) and (c). Pinholster 563 U.S. at 181. The petitioner must “fairly presén&ach claim

to all levels of state courtview, up to and including the sé$ highest court on discretionary

2 In Wood the Supreme Court gradtecertiorari to resolve whether, to satisfy
§ 2254(d)(2), “a petitioner musttablish only that thetate-court factual dermination on which
the decision was based was ‘unreasonable,” or whether § 2254(e)(1) additionally requires a
petitioner to rebut a presumption that the dateation was correct with clear and convincing
evidence.” Wood 558 U.S. at 299. The Court ultimgtdound it unnecessario reach that
issue, and left it open “for another dayld. at 300-01, 303 (citinRice 546 U.S. at 339, in which
the Court recognized that it insettled whether there are somfaetual disputes to which §
2254(e)(1) is inapplicable). [tlow, 134 S. Ct. at 15, the Supreme Court applied § 2254(e)(1)’'s
“clear and convincing” standard but cautioned tha}e have not defined the precise relationship
between § 2254(d)(2) and § 2254(e)@nd we need not do so here.”

13 For a claim to be exhausted, “[i]t is not enough that all the facts necessary to support the
federal claim were before the ®atourts, or that a somewhat ganstate-law claim was made.”
Anderson v. HarlessA59 U.S. 4, 6 (1982) (per curiampt@érnal citation omitted). Nor is it
enough to make a general appeal to a broad constitutional guar#ag.v. Netherland518
U.S. 152, 163 (1996).
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review,Baldwin v. Reesé&41 U.S. 27, 29 (2004), except where $shate has explicitly disavowed
state supreme court review as an available state rer@8yllivan v. Boerckel526 U.S. 838,
847-48 (1999). Tennessee Supreme Court Rule 3thalied the need tesk review before the
TSC to “be deemed to have exhadsadl available state remedies Adams v. Holland330 F.3d
398, 402 (6th Cir. 2003%ee Smith v. Morga371 F. App’x 575, 579 (6th Cir. 2010).

There is a procedural default doctrinacillary to the exhastion requirement. See
Edwards v. Carpenteb29 U.S. 446, 452-53 (2000) (noting timterplay between the exhaustion
rule and the procedural default dae). If the state court det@s a claim on an independent and
adequate state ground, such as a proceduralbpralabiting the state court from reaching the
merits of the constitutional claim, the procedw@fault doctrine ordinarily bars a petitioner from
seeking federal habeas reviewVainwright v. Syke#433 U.S. 72, 81-82 (19773ge Walker v.
Martin, 562 U.S. 307, 315 (2011) (“A federal habeas tailt not review a claim rejected by a
state court if the decision ofdlstate court rests on a state wund that is independent of the
federal question and adequate to support tdgment.”) (internal quotatn marks and citation
omitted))™* In general, a federal court “may orfiseat a state court order as enforcing the
procedural default rule when it unbiguously relied on that rule.”Peoples v. Lafler734 F.3d

503, 512 (6th Cir. 2013).

4 The state-law ground may be a substantive digpositive of the case or a procedural
barrier to adjudication of the claim on the meritd/alker, 562 U.S. at 315. A state rule is an
“adequate” procedural ground iif is “firmly established and regularly followed.1d. at 316
(quotingBeard v. Kindley 558 U.S. 53, 60-61 (2009)). “A discratary state procedural rule . . .
can serve as an adequate ground to bar federal habveas . . . even if the appropriate exercise of
discretion may permit consideration of a fedletaim in some cases but not otherdd. (quoting
Kindler, 558 U.S. at 54) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).
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If a petitioner’s claim has begmocedurally defaulted at tisgéate level, the petitioner must
show cause to excuse his failure to preseatdaim and actual prejudice stemming from the
constitutional violation or that a failure to rew the claim will result ia fundamental miscarriage
of justice. Schlup v. Delp513 U.S. 298, 320-21 (1995}pleman v. Thompspb01l U.S. 722,
750 (1991). The latter showing recps a petitioner to establishatha constitutional error has
probably resulted in the convigh of a person who is actugihnocent of the crime.Schlup 513
U.S. at 321see House v. Belb47 U.S. 518, 536-39 (2006) (reshg the ways to overcome
procedural default and further explaig the actual innocence exception).

C. Summary Judgment Standard

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure B8 motion of a party, the court “shall grant
summary judgment if the movant shows that themigenuine dispute as to any material fact and
the movant is entitled to judgment as a mattdawt” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). The party moving
for summary judgment “bears the ialtburden of demonstratingdgtabsence of any genuine issue
of material fact.” Mosholder v. Barnhargt679 F.3d 443, 448 (6th Cir. 2012) (citi@glotex
Corp. v. Catrett477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986)). “Once the nmayvparty satisfies its initial burden,
the burden shifts to the nonmoving party to feeth specific facts showing a triable issue of
material fact.” 1d. at 448-49 (citingMatsushita Elec. Indus.aCv. Zenith Radio Corp475 U.S.
574, 587 (1986)).

In considering a motion for summary judgmy, a court must draw all reasonable
inferences in favor of the nonmoving partyf.olan v. Cotton134 S. Ct. 1861, 1863 (2014) (per
curiam) (citingAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inat77 U.S. 242, 255 (1986)). The central issue is

“whether the evidence presents a sufficient glisament to require submission to a jury or
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whether it is so one-sided that one party must prevail as a matter of Rwdérson477 U.S. at
251-52 “[A] mere ‘scintilla’ of evidence in support of ¢hnon-moving party’s position is
insufficient to defeat summary judgment; &ththe non-moving party must present evidence
upon which a reasonable jury could find in [his] favorTingle v. Arbors at Hilliard 692 F.3d
523, 529 (6th Cir. 2012) (quotimfgnderson477 U.S. at 251).

Rule 12 of the Rules Governing Section 2254&3an the United States District Courts
(“Habeas Rules”) permits federaluwts to apply the Federal RulesCivil Procedue to petitions
for habeas corpus “to the extent that they aren@oinsistent with any statiory provision of these
rules.” Habeas Rule 18e Townsend v. Hoffnéto. 2:13-CV-14187, 2014 WL 2967949, at *2
(E.D. Mich. July 1, 2014). The AEDPA's signifidadeference to a state court’s resolution of
factual issues guides summary judgment revielWwabeas cases. A federal habeas court must
presume the underlying factual determinations efstiate court to be cewt, unless the petitioner
“rebut[s] the presumption of correctness byacl and convincing evidence.” 28 U.S.C. §
2254(e)(1)see Malone v. FortneNo. 3:09-0949, 2013 WL 1099799, at *2 n.3 (M.D. Tenn. Mar.
14, 2013) (“[SJummary judgment riden evaluating the evidence dot apply given the statutory
presumption of correctness of facts found by skete courts.”). The Court applies general
summary judgment standards on fedé@abeas review only insofarthey do not conflict with the
language and intent of the AEDPA.
VIIl. ANALYSIS

The Court will review all claims to deteme if Respondent is entitled to summary

judgment. However, Hugueley only addressedr@ad\,, E, F, H, |, and K in his response.
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A. Batson

Hugueley alleges that the State exercised peremptory challenges on the basis of race in
violation of Batson v. Kentuckyt76 U.S. 79 (1986), when it digsaed prospective jurors: Ida
Ferguson, Everette Woods, Phyllis McKinnMillie Heard, Helen Pruitt, Johnny Hudson,
Gertrude Gibbs, and Linda Pirtl(dECF No. 58 at PagelD 4663-64.)

Petitioner asserts that this claim was raiseditt appeal before the TCCA and the TSC.
(Id. at PagelD 4664.) On direeippeal, the TSC addressedBatsonclaim about Ferguson,
Woods, McKinnie, Heard, and PruittSee Hugueleyl85 S.W.3d at 368-75. Respondent
maintains that the claim is procedurally defaulted to the extent Hugueley seeks relief for
prospective jurors Johnny Hudsdertrude Gibbs, and Linda Re@t (ECF No. 112-1 at PagelD
5463-64.) The Court will address the unexhausted aspects of the claim first.

1. Procedural Default — Hudson, Gibbs & Pirtle

The Warden contends that Hugueley failedlgect to the removal grospective jurors
Hudson, Gibbs, and Pirtle duringryuselection, and the statewt determined the claim was
waived as it relates to thepetential jurors. (ECF No. 211 at PagelD 5463-64.) The TSC
considered the inmate’s claim related to Hud<sibps, and Pirtle waived because he failed to
object to the State’s chafiges to these potential jurors in a timely fashi@®ee Hugueleyl85
S.W.3d at 369. The court ait§ enn. R. App. P. 36(a) as support for the waiviet. Rule 36(a)
states that “[n]othing inthis rule shall be consted as requiring relief tbe granted to a party
responsible for an error or whal&d to take whatever action wesasonably available to prevent

or nullify the harmful effect of the error.” The TSC opined,
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Before this Court, Defendant alleg#sat the prosecution improperly excluded
eight African-American venire persgnadding Mr. Johnny Hudson, Ms. Gertrude
Gibbs, and Ms. Linda Pirtle. Defendant'sgament as to these additional three
venire persons is waived because Ddint failed to object to the State’s
challenges to these three persons in a timely fashidee State v. Peck19
S.W.2d 553, 555 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1986). T@isurt is not bound to grant relief
to a party who fails to take “whatever action was reasonably available to prevent or
nullify the harmful effect ofan error.” Tenn. R. App. P. 36(a). In this case,
Defendant had the opportunity at trial toexdijto each and every one of the State’s
peremptory challenges, thereby giving thal court the opportunity to assess the
constitutionality of the State’s choices.fBredant did not do so with respect to Mr.
Hudson, Ms. Gibbs, and Ms. Pirtle. Accorgly, he will not now be heard to
complain about the State’s challeege these three venire personSee State v.
Johnson980 S.W.2d 414, 419 (Tenn. Crim. Ad®98). We will, therefore, limit
our examination of Defendant’s race-baBedisonclaim to the five venire persons
previously named.

Hugueley 185 S.W.3d at 369 (footnotes omitted).

Respondent argues that the clarbarred by procedural defaultiagelates tdhese jurors.
(ECF No. 112-1 at PagelD 5463.) He notes that the TSC cited the applicable procedural rule and
two Tennessee cases applying the,wldch demonstrate that the waiver rule was established and
regularly enforced. 14. at PagelD 5463-64.)

A federal habeas claim is procedurally defaulted when:

(1) the petitioner fails to comply with a state procedural rule; (2) the state courts

enforce the rule; (3) the state procedurdd is an adequatend independent state

ground for denying review of a federal congional claim; and (4) the petitioner

cannot show cause and prejudice excusing the default.
Lovins v. Parker712 F.3d 283, 296 (6th Cir. 2013)he second prong of this test requires that
the state courts actually enforce theestaiocedural rulen denying relief. 1d. To qualify as an
“adequate” procedural ground under the third prorgjate rule must be “firmly established and

regularly followed.” Walker, 562 U.S. at 316. Even a discostary state procedal rule can

serve as an adequate groundbao federal habeas reviewd.
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Hugueley argues that Rule 36(a) only amplie non-capital cases. (ECF No. 127 at
PagelD 5667.) He asserts, citi®jate v. Rimmer250 S.W.3d 12, 32 (Tenn. 2008), that
Tennessee has an exception to the waiver doctrine in capital caddeat RagelD 5668.) The
inmate insists that the exception exists becadsthe statutory obligation to review a capital
defendant’s conviction and death sentenckl.) (He also contends thétte “non-waiver” rule for
capital cases had existed for three decades hagim1985, before Hugueley’s trial and appeal.
(1d.)

Petitioner claims that the waiver appliedhis case has not been strictly and regularly
applied in capital cases and canbat his claim as to these prosfpe jurors in feeral court.
(Id. at PagelD 5670.) He asserts that there isg@feof capital cases in which the TSC has
addressed claims on the meritattivere not raised below.ld() According to the inmate, the
TSC does not consistently rely on this rule ofwgaand Respondent’s afjations of procedural
default do not rest upon an adequate state groutd.at(PagelD 5672.) He argues that the
Court should order further proceedings arBaésonevidentiary hearing. Iqd. at PagelD 5673.)

In response, the Warden notes that a reviewstate cases reveals that Tennessee has routinely
deniedBatsonclaims on the basis of waivertECF No. 137 at PagelD 7686.)

The first prong is satisfied by Hugueley'suosel’'s failure to oject to the State’'s
challenges to these three prospective jurorsadlation of Tennessee Rubé Appellate Procedure
36.

With regard to the seconaé third prongs, althougRetitioner contends that there is an

exception to the waiver rule in capital casespriessee courts have enforced the waiver rule
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against capital defendants. Johnsorv. Statethe TCCA emphasized the importance of a timely
Batsonchallenge stating
In Griffith v. Kentucky479 U.S. 314, 327, 107 S. Ct. 708, 715, 93 L.Ed.2d

649 (1987), the United States Suprenmi€ gave limited retroactivity tBatson

by ruling that it applies to all casestate and federal, which raisedBatson

challenge and which were pending on direct appeal at the Biatson was

announced. There is nothing in either afsé cases to suggésat a challenge to

the unconstitutional exercise of peremptomallenges can be made in other than a

timely fashion, that is, prior to the time they is actually skected and sworn.

Here, Defendant failed to raise the correct claim before the jury was sworn. At

voir dire, trial counsel di not challenge the prosecution’s use of peremptory

challenges. Instead, tiBatsonclaim was not raised uhthe case was on direct

appeal to the supreme court.

Accordingly, we find that the applicabhbeocedural barries waiver, rather

than, as the post-conviction court heldattthe issue was previously determined.

SeeTenn. Code Ann. 8 40-30-112(b)(1) (repealed).
Johnson v. StateNo. 02C01-9707-CR-00292, 1999 WL 608861*13-14 (Tenn. Crim. App.
Aug. 12, 1999)aff'd, 38 S.W.3d 52 (Tenn. 2008ee State v. Johnsor62 S.W.2d 110, 113-14
(Tenn. 1988) (“It would seem to us the appropr@atecedure would be to call such matters to the
trial court’s attention at the tintbe event occurs in order thatwing on the issue may be either
made or reserved for consideratior”).

The State has, at times, addressed the merit8afsanclaim even when some aspect of
that claim has been @redurally waived. State v. Keen31l S.W.3d 196, 227 n.9 (Tenn. 2000)
(“As the State points out, the appellant only chegks the dismissal of three jurors in his motion

for a new trial. Although the challenge to tlwaufth juror has been waived, this Court opts to

consider this juror because of the qualitative défifiee between a death pipaentence and other

1> The TSC citedlohnsorwhen determining that the claim was waive8ee Hugueley
185 S.W.3d at 369.
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sentences.”) The Tennessee cobdse applied the waiver rule to capital defendants in other
contexts. See State v. AusfiB7 S.W.3d 447, 479 (Tenn. 2002) (haly that failure to make a
contemporaneous objection to peogtion’s closing argument resulted in waiver on appsa8;
State v. Kiser284 S.W.3d 227, 263 (Ten009) (finding waiver ofclaim about limited
cross-examination).

The exception Hugueley claims has not begpliad consistently t@apital defendants.
The state courts have used deon to review the merits ahese claims when it finds it
appropriate. Further, the Sixth Circuit has hélat a similar contemporaneous-objection rule is
an adequate and independent state ground barring federal habeas r8eevwkal v. Mitchell
613 F.3d 629, 648 (6th €i2010) (en banckee also Amos v. Renj&83 F.3d 720, 730 (6th Cir.
2012). A review of Tennessee cases demonstrates that the Tennessee procedural rule on which
the TSC relied is firmly established and has repeatedly been appbedstnchallenges. See,
e.g, Johnson 980 S.W.2d at 419 (concluding that the éssfiracial composition of the jury was
waived for failure to timely file the motion for new trial and m&atsonchallenges during jury
selection);State v. BornerNo. W2012-00473-CCA-R3-C2013 WL 1644335, at *7 (Tenn.
Crim. App. Apr. 16, 2013) (holdinthat appellant waived thesue under Tenn. R. App. P. 36(a),
that, as an African-American, he was denied agfdityis peers by raising the challenge for the first
time at the motion for new trial);State v. BostqriNo. 03C01-9509-CR-00284, 1996 WL 653821,
at *3 (Tenn. Crim. AppNov. 8, 1996) (“This jurisittion’s rule requiring @atsonclaim to be
raised before the jury is accepted and swora feamulated in 1986, the same year the United
States Supreme Court decid®dtson.This case was tried on Juy 1995, approximately nine

years after the formulation of the waiver rul&@hus, the appellant knew, or should have known,
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that either overtly or tacitly accepting the juagd permitting the trial court to swear the jurors
before raising th8atsonclaim would result in the waiver of the issue.”)

With regard to the fourth factor, Huguelegs not argued cause and prejudice to overcome
the procedural default. He asserts only thatlhien is not procedurallgefaulted or barred from
federal habeas review. (ECF No. 127 at PagelD 5670-73.)

The waiver provision under Tennessee RuléAppellate Procedure 36(a) presents an
independent and adequate statecedural ground to bar habeas review, and Petitioner has not
overcome the procedural default of Batsonclaim as it relates to prospective jurors Hudson,
Gibbs, and Pirtlé®

2. The ExhaustedBatson Claim
With regard to the claim addressed by the TSC, the court opined:
1. Allegedly Race-based Peremptory Challenges
We first address Defendant’s contentithat his constitional rights were

violated by the prosecutionéxercise of peremptory clenges to certain potential

jurors. Defendant asserts in his appellateftihat the State struck eight jurors on

the basis of their race violation of his equiaprotection rights undeBatson v.

Kentucky 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986). The State responds

that no violation occurred because the $asieach challenge was race-neutral.

In Batson the United States Supreme Courtlibat “the Equal Protection

Clause [of the United States Constitution] forbids the prosecutor to challenge

potential jurors solely oaccount of their race....”ld. at 89, 106 S. Ct. 1712. The

Court crafted a three-prongieanalysis for determining whether the suspect

challenges were impermissibly based ongbeential juror's race. At the outset,

the defendant must estalblia prima facie case of purmsl discrimination. In

doing so, the defendant may rely “solely on evidence concerning the prosecutor’s
exercise of peremptory challenges at the defendant’s trial.”at 96, 106 S. Ct.

% Hugueley did not argue cauard prejudice to overcomeettprocedural default of his
related ineffective asstance of trial counsel claim (Claim dgeinfra.
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1712. That is, the defendant need mpbve a past pattern of racially
discriminatory jury selection practices by the prosecutidnat 92-93, 106 S. Ct.
1712;cf. Swain v. Alabama380 U.S. 202, 223, 85 S. Ct. 824, 13 L.Ed.2d 759
(1965), overruled in part byBatson 476 U.S. at 91-92, 106 S. Ct. 1712
(recognizing that an inference of purposeliscrimination may be raised on proof
that the prosecution struck qualifiedabks “in case after case, whatever the
circumstances, whatever the crime aribewver the defendant or the victim may be
...").  Once the defendant makes out a priacie case, the State has the burden of
producing a neutral explanation for its challer@gtson 476 U.S. at 97, 106 S. Ct.
1712. This explanation must be a claad reasonably specific account of the
prosecutor’s legitimate reasons for exercising the challédgat 98 n. 20, 106 S.

Ct. 1712. However, the race or gender neutral explanation need not be persuasive,
or even plausiblePurkett v. Elem514 U.S. 765, 767-68, 115 S. Ct. 1769, 131
L.Ed.2d 834 (1995). “Unless a discrimioay intent is inherent in the
prosecutor’s explanation, the reason offered will be deemed race neudkaat”

768, 115 S. Ct. 1769 (quotirtdernandez v. New York00 U.S. 352, 360, 111 S.

Ct. 1859, 114 L.Ed.2d 395 (1991) (plurglibpinion)). If a race-neutral
explanation is provided, the trial court must then determine, from all of the
circumstances, whether the defendant éstablished purposefaliscrimination.
Batson 476 U.S. at 98, 106 S. Ct. 1712. The trial court may not simply accept a
proffered race-neutral reason at facdéugabut must examine the prosecutor’s
challenges in context to ensure that the reason is not merely pretSeeal.
Miller-El v. Dretke 545 U.S. 231, 125 S. CR317, 162 L.Ed.2d 196 (2005)
(“Miller-El'll ™). In that case, the Couwtiterated that “the rule iBatsonprovides

an opportunity to the prosecutor to gitree reason for striking the juror, and it
requires the judge to assess thlausibility ofthat reason in ¢gjht of all evidence

with a bearing on it.Id. at 2331. If the trial court termines that the proffered
reason is merely pretextual and that a racial motive is in fact behind the challenge,
the juror may not be excludedWoodson v. Porter Brown Limestone C®16
S.W.2d 896, 903 (Tenn. 1996).

As this Court has noted in the past, “determination of the prosecutor’s
discriminatory intent or lack theredurns largely on the evaluation of the
prosecutor’s credibility, of which the tatney’'s demeanor is often the best
evidence.” State v. Smitt893 S.W.2d 908, 914 (Tenn. 1994). We accord a trial
court’s findings in this regard greatfdeence and will not set them aside unless
clearly erroneoud/Noodson916 S.W.2d at 90&ee also Batsqorl76 U.S. at 98 n.
21,106 S. Ct. 1712 (“Since the trial judgeizdings in [this] context ... largely will
turn on evaluation of credibility, a reviavg court ordinarily should give those
findings great deference.”). For thisason, “[tlhe trial ydge must carefully
articulate specific reasons for each findargthe record, i.e., whether a prima facie
case has been established; whether wraleexplanation has been given; and
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whether the totality of the circumstances support a finding of purposeful
discrimination.” Woodson916 S.W.2d at 906.

In this case, defense counsel objecdrial to the State’s peremptory
challenge of five potential jurors: Mé&da Ferguson, Mr. Everette Woods, Ms.
Phyllis McKinnie, Ms. Willie Heard, and Ms. Helen Pruitt. The record indicates
that all of these persons are AfricamArican; Defendant is Caucasian. . . .

Ida Ferguson

During voir dire questioning by thee¢, Ms. Ferguson acknowledged that
she had a religious belief against the dgathalty, but stated she could “follow the
law.” She acknowledged having statedrar jury questionnagr that she felt a
sentence of life without parole was “ageite” and that she would not want to
consider the death penalty, but reiteratest she “ha[d] to obey the laws of the
land.” In response to subsequent questimndefense counsel, Ms. Ferguson stated
that she “would have to have very har@bewce to consider” imposing either life in
prison with no opportunity for parole ortldeath penalty. The State thereafter used
one of its peremptory changes to remove Ms. Ferguson from the panel. Upon
defense counsel'Batsonobjection, the prosecutaeferred to Ms. Ferguson’s
response in the jury questionnaire toqestion, “do you have any personal, moral
or religious beliefs against imposition tie death penalty?” According to the
prosecutor, Ms. Ferguson had answeres;¥y with the explanation that she
believed that a “life sentence without parole is adequate, vengeance is mine said the
Lord.” The prosecutor maintained thahét State is striking her based upon the
answer to that question.” The triabwrt thereupon overruledefense counsel’s
Batsonobijection.

Everette Woods

The State asked Mr. Woods during vdire if he believed in the death
penalty. Mr. Woods responded that he dat believe in it. Hestated further,
however, that he could follow the law asidn the death warraif Defendant was
guilty. After the State peremptorily dienged Mr. Woods, defense counsel lodged
aBatsonobjection. The prosecutor responded tlatWoods had indicated on his
jury questionnaire that he did not believe in the death penalty. Defense counsel
claimed that Mr. Woods had been rehigdiéd during voir dire. The trial court
stated nothing on the record but excused Mr. Woods.

Phyllis McKinnie

Defense counsel objected to the Statdiallenge of Ms. McKinnie, stating
that she was the sixth African-Americarusk by the State. The State had lodged
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five peremptory challenges prior to dleaging Ms. McKinnie. The State referred

to Ms. McKinnie’s statement on her questiaimg that she “just [does not] want to
be a part of putting any pens to death because it could turn out to be an innocent
person after you have put him or her gath.” The prosecutor also averred that
“all six of the individuals [he] struck Hd] indicated on the back of their jury
guestionnaires they would have a probieith the death penalty.” Defense counsel
claimed that Ms. McKinnie had been reHabied. The trial court found that the
State had established a racially neutealson for its challenge and overruled the
objection.

Willie Heard

The State next challenged Ms. Heai@ting that she had indicated on her
guestionnaire that she had personal, manakeligious beliefs against the death
penalty, and that she did not like ittboould not stop it. Defense counsel
responded,

this is their seventh black jurona it's their sixth woman that they
have struck. She, like the othewgent through and said she could
listen to all three sentencing phases filistthe otherdut we feel at
this point in time you’'ve got sewmeblack jurors that have been
stricken from the record.

The trial court then stated, “The Court firttlat there is a radig neutral reason for
the challenge but you might be careful abretabilitating. The Gurt will look at it
a little closer next time.”

Helen Pruitt

On defense counselBatsonobjection to the Stats challenge of Ms.
Pruitt, the prosecutor stated,

This is the one | challenged because when | was questioning her, Judge, her
eyes, she looked like she was going tatorthe point that | backed off asking

her questions because she was sitting on the far side over there and | really
felt that she was about to break outéars and | backed off and | noticed
when she was going into the jurgpxshe got teary-eyed again and was
shaking her head no. That's the reason.

Defense counsel replied, “Your Honaeve just want for the record that's

the eighth African-American person and it seventh Afric& American woman
stricken.” The prosecutor retorted that thsyll have four on there,” and the trial

45



court ruled that the State’s reason &brallenging Ms. Pruitt was “not racially
motivated.”

The State lodged no further peremptory challenges. The Report of Trial
Judge in Capital Cases, filed by thaltrcourt pursuant t@ennessee Supreme
Court Rule 12.1 (“the Rule 1Report”), indicates that gen of the twelve jurors
that decided Defenddatcase were white.

As noted previously, this Court has msited trial courts that, when making
a determination regarding Batson objection, they “mustarefully articulate
specific reasons for each finding on the record, i.e., whether a prima facie case has
been established; whether a neutral axption has been given; and whether the
totality of the circumstances supportfiading of purposeful discrimination.”
Woodson916 S.W.2d at 906. Thus, we areially constrained to point out that
the trial court’'s finthgs on Defendant'®atson objections at trial are barely
adequate to permit our review. After eadldefense counsel’s objections, the trial
court failed to make a specific findindpat a prima facie case of purposeful
discrimination had been made. Neveltss, the prosecutor’'s response to each
objection clearly implies that the trial court expected the State to proffer its reasons
for challenging the subject venire person. That is, after Batdonobjection by
defense counsel, the trial court indicated in some fashion that the second prong of
the Batsonanalysis was called into play. Thus, we assume that the trial court
determined that, as to each of these ¥igrire persons, Defendant had made out a
prima facie case of impermissible discriminatioBee Woodsqr916 S.W.2d at
905 (even where trial court made no koipfinding that the objecting party had
made out a prima facie case, it was approptia conclude thahe trial court had
done so because “[o]therwise, the coudwuld not have requirefthe striker] to
explain the challenge”). Nor did thadir court offer much commentary on the
State’s proffered reasons for its strikes;erder detailed findings about its reasons
for overruling each of Defendant®atsonclaims. We are especially concerned
about the trial court’s failure to make sgexfindings in light of the United States
Supreme Court’s recent decisionNtiller-El 1. Although decided after the trial
of this caseMiller-El Il demonstrates the importance of a complete record and
comprehensive findings by the trial court.

In Miller-El II, the United States Swgme Court expounded on the
methodology used to assesBatsonclaim. In that case, the defendant was tried
and convicted on a capital murder chaagel sentenced to death. 125 S. Ct. at
2322. During jury selection, the prosecutiased peremptory strikes against ten
qualified African-Amercan venire men.Id. The defendant argued, and the
Court agreed, that the gmecution’s challenges weracially motivated. Id. at
2340. In analyzing the defendant’s clatire Court engaged in an exhaustive and
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fact-intensive inquiry, relying upon not ortlye transcript of the voir dire, but the
completed juror questionnaires and th®jicards utilized by the prosecution.

As it examined the extensive evidence before it, the Court noted numerous
factors indicative of the prosecution’s impermissible motive in challenging the
black venire members. Initially, the Copdinted to the fact that the prosecution
had peremptorily struck ten of the eleven91%, of the eligible African-American
venire members.ld. at 2325. What it found “[m]er powerful than these bare
statistics,” however, were the results“side-by-side comparisons of some black
venire panelists who were struckdawhite panelists allowed to servdd. In
making these comparisons, the Court deteechthat, “[i]f a prosecutor’s proffered
reason for striking a black panelist appljast as well to an otherwise-similar
nonblack who is permitted to serve, that is evidence tending to prove purposeful
discrimination to be considered Batsors third step.”Id. Thus, “disparate
treatment” of potendil jurors who responded similgrlo similar questions may be
indicative of impermissible discriminath where the only sigficant difference
between the persons is their race.

Another factor indicative of the prosecution’s improper motive was its
“disparate questioning” of the venire mbers, depending upon the member’s race.
The Court found that, for 94% of the whiteembers, the prosecutors gave a “bland
description” of the death penalty befoasking for individual feelings on the
subjectld. at 2334. Only 47% of the Africanrderican venire members heard the
“bland” description, with th remaining 53% hearing what the Court described as a
“graphic script.” 1d. The Court appeared to agree with the defendant that the
prosecution used this tactic in an atténgg‘prompt some expression of hesitation
to consider the death penalty and thuslioit plausibly neutral grounds for a
peremptory strike of a potential juror setied to it, if not atrike for cause.” Id.
at 2333. A second form of disparatgiestioning involved what the Court
described as “trickery.”Id. at 2337. The Court elucidated:

The prosecutors asked members ofgheel how low a sentence they would
consider imposing for murder. Most potahfjurors were first told that Texas
law provided for a minimum term ofve years, but some members of the
panel were not, and if a panel memthem insisted on minimum above five
years, the prosecutor would suppressnormal preference for tough jurors
and claim cause to strike.

Id. The State conceded that the manipulative questioning was used to create cause
to strike, but claimed that the five-year information was omitted not on the basis of
race, but on stated opposition to or ambivalence about the death pkhaltye

Court found, however, that, while all ddan-American panel members who had
expressed opposition to or ambivalentewt the death penalty were asked the
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trick question, “most white panel members who expressed similar opposition or
ambivalence were not subjected to itld. The Court then stated, “[o]nce again,
the implication of race in the prosecutors’ choice of questioning cannot be
explained away.Td. at 2338.

In addition to examining the questions asked and treatment of venire
members, the Supreme Court relied upostory: “We know that for decades
leading up to the time this case was tried prosecutors in the Dallas County office
had followed a specific poljcof systematically excludg blacks from juries....”

Id. In theMiller-El Il case, the prosecutors had marked the race of each venire
member on their juror cards and “took thaies [on jury selection] from a 20-year

old manual of tips” which included reasons for excluding minorities from jury
service.ld. at 2339-40.

The Court concluded:

It blinks reality to deny that the &e struck Fields and Warren ... because
they were black. The strikes correlatghano fact as well as they correlate
with race, and they occurred duringselection infected by shuffling and
disparate questioning that race expldiester than any race-neutral reason
advanced by the State. The Stat@ietextual positions confirm [the
defendant’s] claim, and the prosecutawn notes proclaim that the Sparling
Manual's emphasis on race was on timeinds when they considered every
potential juror.

The state court’'s conclusion that tpeosecutors’ strikes of Fields and
Warren were not racially determinég shown up as wrong to a clear and
convincing degree; the sgatourt’s conclusion was wasonable as well as
erroneous.

Id. at 2340. The Court thereupon granteddikendant’s claim for habeas corpus
relief. Id.

In contrastto Miller-El 11, the sole indication gburposeful impermissible
discrimination by the State in this case is the fact that each of the peremptory
challenges used by the State was employed against an African-American venire
person. A close examination of thecord convinces us, however, that the
prosecution’s exercise of these challenges was for race-neutral reasons.

With respect to the State’s proffered reasons for its challenges, the
prosecutor maintained that, withspect to Ms. Ferguson, Mr. Woods, Ms.
McKinnie, and Ms. Heard, he was challemgieach of these venire persons based
upon his or her convictions about the dgahalty. According to the State, each of
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these persons had indicated some persomaligrous disinclination to sentence an
individual to death. This is certainlyfacially race-neutral reason for exercising a
peremptory challenge against a potential jin@ capital case. As to Ms. Pruitt, the
prosecutor stated that he excused lemahse, while he was questioning her, she
looked as though she was going to crye $&iter became “teary-eyed” again and
“was shaking her head noWe are satisfied that th&osecutor a&o provided a
facially race-neutral reason for his challenge to this juror.

The trial court ultimately determaad that, under all the circumstances,
Defendant failed to establish purposeful discrimination. “Because the core issue
is the prosecutor’s discriminatory intewt, lack thereof, the trial court’s finding
‘largely will turn on evaluation of credibility.”State v. Ellison841 S.W.2d 824,
827 (Tenn. 1992) (quotingatson 476 U.S. at 98 n. 21, 1@ Ct. 1712). Both this
Court and the United States Supreme Cdwave previously recognized that
“[tlhere will seldom be much evidendsearing on th[e] issue [of discriminatory
intent], and the best evidence often will be the demeanor of the attorney who
exercises the challenge.”ld. (quotingHernandez v. New Yark00 U.S. 352,
365, 111 S. Ct. 1859, 114 L.Ed.2d 395 (1991) (plurality opinion)). Obviously, we
are in no position to second-guess the tr@lrt’'s assessment of the prosecutor’s
demeanor unless the record, as it didMitler-El I, contains clear objective
indications that the prosecutor’s aventge concerning his or her reasons for
challenging a juror are simply netedible. We remain cognizant &atsons
holding that the ultimate burdeof establishing purposefdiscrimination lies with
the party objecting to the peremptonattenge. 476 U.S. at 93, 106 S. Ct. 17&ex
also Purkett 514 U.S. at 768, 115 S. Ct. 1769 (recognizing that “the ultimate
burden of persuasion regarding racial mation rests with, and never shifts from,
the opponent of the strike”). We must,aexne, therefore, whether the record
before us contains suchr@hg evidence of impermissédiscriminatory intent by
the prosecution as to render clearly ermargethe trial court’s determination that
Defendant failed to establish purposedfidcrimination by the prosecution in its
peremptory challenges.

Taking our cue fronMiller-El 1l , we first examine the “bare statistics” in
this case regarding jury selection. The &extercised eight afs available fifteen
peremptory challenges. All of them rgeagainst African-American persons. We
do not know, however, how many eligibler&sain-American venire members were
available. Defense counsel exercisedesrtperemptory challenges, one of which
was against an alternateSeeTenn. R. Crim. P. 24(e). Tmecord indicates that the
State lodgedatsonobjections to two of these dienges, one of them on the basis
that the juror was white. The record inde&sthat at least one of the other venire
persons excused by the defense was whitaybare unable to ascertain the race of
the remaining fourteen venire personsgpeptorily challenged by Defendant. The
United States 2000 Census provides ¢ of the populationf the county in
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which Defendant was tried is black or Afan-American. It is reasonable to infer,
therefore, that a gnificant proportion othe venire panel was African-American.

The Rule 12 Report further indicates that fofehe eventual twek jurors in this

case were non-Caucasian. The State had seven peremptory challenges remaining to
it at the time the jury, including thedewe nonwhites, was sworn. These bare
statistics do not, in andf themselves, convince us that the State’s proffered
race-neutral reasons for excusing the fiaened persons were merely pretextual.

A close review of the transcript dghe voir dire reveals no disparate
treatment based on race. Allit one of the eight persopsremptorily challenged
by the State had expressed some hesitabont the death penalty. No other person
expressed such hesitation and was left unchallenged. That is, the State was
completely successful in eliminatingezy potential juror Wwo had indicated at
some point in the process that he ag blad reservations about imposing the death
penalty. There is no indication in the record that any nonblack person who
expressed hesitation about the death ihpemaas left unchallenged by the State.

There is furthermore no indication iretrecord that the prosecution tailored
its questions regarding the death penakpending on the racef the targeted
venire person(s). Nor does this Cooloserve any manipulative questioning by the
State during voir dire which we would debe as “trickery.” Finally, there is
nothing before us to indicate that th@gecutors in Hardeman County have ever
followed a specific policy of systertieally excluding African-Americans from
juries.

Certainly, more thorough findingsy the trial court upon Defendant’s
Batsonobjections would have been helpful in our review of this issue. However,
our close and careful veew of the record before wonvinces us that there is no
basis for us to determine that the tdaurt erred during thihird step of théatson
analysis. This Court has previously recagui that a juror’s ervations about the
death penalty may constitute a legitimate explanation for the State’s exercise of a
peremptory strikeSee Smith893 S.W.2d at 914. As to the State’s dismissal of
Ms. Pruitt, we acknowledge that “neutrapéanations that areased on subjective
assessments, such as the juror’s demeanor, must be carefully scruttbiag=ly.
Carroll, 34 S.W.3d 317, 320 (Tenn. Crim. App. 2000). We note, however, that
defense counsel did not in any way indécdtring the jury selection process that
the prosecution’s description of Ms. Pruiitenduct in the jurpox was inaccurate.

A potential juror who verges on tears astthkes her head6” during voir dire
would, we are sure, prompt many a trial l&wyo exercise a peremptory challenge

for legitimate reasons. Thus, we are confident that the trial court accurately
assessed the prosecutor’s dodity with regard to hs explanations and properly
determined that, under all the circumstances, Defendant had not established
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purposeful discrimination by the State inateercise of its peremptory challenges.
Accordingly, we hold that Defendantnst entitled to relief on this issue.

Hugueley 185 S.W.3d at 368-375 (footnotes omitted).

A Batsonchallenge involves “thredistinct and sequentialegis: (1) the opponent of the
peremptory strike must make a prima facie ¢haéthe challenged strikeas based on race; (2)
the burden then shifts to theopionent of the peremptory challentp articulate a race-neutral
explanation for the strike; (3) finally, the triedurt must determine whether the opponent of the
peremptory strike has prove@uirposeful discrimination.” United States v. McAlliste693 F.3d
572, 578 (6th Cir. 2012). An explanation for thegmeptory strike will be deemed race-neutral
unless a discriminatory intent is inherent in the prosecutor’'s explanaBes. Hernandez00
U.S. at 360. The trial court must assess whetigeopponent of the strike has proved purposeful
discrimination; assess the proponent’s credibiitger all of the pertinent circumstances; weigh
the asserted jusiifation against the stretigof the opponent’s prima facie case; and determine
whether the opponent of the strike hag the ultimate burden of persuasioGray v. Lafler 541
F. App'x 518, 521 (6th Cir. 2013). ‘€hrial court’s determination inBatsonhearing is afforded
great deference and “must be sustdianeless it is clearly erroneous.ld.

The Warden argues that th8C'’s rejection of HugueleyBatsonclaim was not contrary
to or based on an unreasonable applicatiahesirly established federal law but was founded upon
a reasonable determination of fact. (ECF N@-1Xkt PagelD 5454.) Respondent contends that
Hugueley’'s mere assertion, without argument, ualcsupport, or anx@lanation of the state
court’s decision, that the State exercised ipgtery challenges on the basis of race does not

demonstrate that the TSC’s decision was unreasonahde). Ile further avers that the claim is
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inadequately pled under Habeas Rule 2@jadnse Hugueley provide® argument or factual
support. [d. at PagelD 5476-77.)

Petitioner only disputed the TSC's findings #srelates to Pruitt. He argued that
Respondent is not entitled to summary judgmedttaat further proceedings are necessary where
the State dismissed African-American jurorspyided a patently false justification for the
dismissal, and maintained that the strikes waiel because not all African-Americans had been
stricken. (ECF No. 12at PagelD 5525-26.)

Hugueley contends that the peostion struck Juror Helen Priittin violation ofBatson.
(ECF No. 127 at PagelD 5529.) He insists tthet prosecutor tried tqustify his strike by
claiming that he stopped asking questions bec&us#t looked like she was going to cry and
because there were still fourrifan-Americans on the jury. ld)) The prosecutor explained,

This is the one | challenged because when | was questioning her, Judge, her eyes,

she looked like she was going to cry t@ thoint that | backed off asking her

guestions because she wasrgiton the far side over theaad | really felt that she

was about to break out in tears and | backed off and | noticed when she was going

into the jury box she got teaeyed again and was shagiher head no. That's the

reason.

(ECF No. 41-3 at PagelD 511.) Ttmmal court statedhat the proffered rean for striking Pruitt
was not racially motivated. Id.)
The inmate submits that the prosecutor'soaasvere pretext for caal discrimination and

not true, describing them as “but a house of cards that crumbles, built upon falsehoods.” (ECF

No. 127 at PagelD 5529-30.) Hssarts that the voir dire tramgt demonstrates that the

7 The juror's name is spelled “Prewitt” onrhjiry questionnaire, but “Pruitt” in the
transcript and the TSC opinion.S€eECF No. 127 at PagelD 5529.)
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prosecutor did not back off questing Pruitt and that the statement that she was about to cry is
also false. 1fl.) Hugueley contends that the prosecutoly asked Pruitt two focused questions
about whether she could judge athand sign a death verdictlid.(at PagelD 5537-3&eeECF

No. 41-3 at PagelD 494-95.) He claims thaitPs.answers were acceptable, showing her ability
to support the prosecution and identical to thafsehite jurors who the prosecution found to be
acceptable jurors. (ECF No. 127 at PagelD 5538.)

Petitioner argues that the assertion that Pruatt shaking her head going to the jury box is
untrue because she never reached the jury box. KECE27 at PagelD 5530.He asserts that a
visual understanding of the seating arrangenaemhonstrates the falsitgf the prosecutor’'s
Batsonjustification. (d. at PagelD 5533.) The trial court sshtwenty-eight jurors at a time,
with twelve jurors in the box and sixteen seated in two rows in front of the Hdxat PagelD
5534;seeECF No. 42-1 at PagelD 377.) In that configuration, Pruitt was in the last seat on the
front row where the additional sixteen jurors were seated and she remained in that seat until she
was struck. (ECF No. 127 at PagelD 5535-36.)rtHeu, Hugueley states that it was clear from
the transcript that the jurors only took a seat in the jury box when ordered by the judgat (
PagelD 5536.)

The inmate maintains that the prosecutigo&ifications for striking Pruitt “do not hold
up,” and because the trial court never found théficetions to be trugbut instead dismissed
Pruitt, Hugueley is entitled ®atsonrelief. (ECF No. 112-1 at Pal§®e5530.) He contends that
the state court’s conclusion that Pruitt was naict for racial reasons is wrong to a clear and
convincing degree. Iq. at PagelD 5530-31.) The triaburt never made a finding that the

prosecutor “backed off” questioning Pruitt oredited the prosecutor's underlying basis for
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backing off questioning. Id. at PagelD 5540-41.) Based bfcCurdy v. Montgomery Cnty.,
Ohio, 240 F.3d 512, 522 (6th Cir. 2001), Hugueley pdkis “it is only when a trial judge makes
specific findings crediting a prosdou's assertions about a juror’'staal demeanor that the judge”
complies with theBatsonrequirements. I¢. at PagelD 5544.)

a. Habeas Rule 2(c)

The Court first notes that Hugueley failegptead facts supportingsiclaim in the Second
Amended Petition. SeeECF No. 58 at PagelD 4663-64.) HabBRaste 2(c) states that a petition
must “specify all the grounds for relief availalib the petitiong and “state tle facts supporting
each ground.” See McFarland v. Sco%$12 U.S. 849, 860 (1994) (“[T]he habeas petition, unlike
a complaint, must allege the factual undempig of the petitioner’s claims.”) (O’Connor, J.,
concurring in part andlissenting in part)see Mayle 545 U.S. at 669 (same) (Souter, J.,
dissenting).

b. Pruitt's Declaration

Petitioner provides Pruitt’setlaration in support of hisaims. (ECF No. 127-1.) She
did not recall the name of the defendant, bt dbscribed him as havifipts of tattoos on his
arms and a tattoo on his forehead . &t PagelD 5675 She stated,

When | was called to the jury box to talktke attorney, | was ndiappy about it. |
did not want to be on the jury and was relieved when | was excused from service.

(Id.) She disputed the statement that she was “teary eyed and shaking my hehgd.” (

Hugueley also argues that Prigittleclaration confirmed hisiaéd counsel’'s and his appellate

18 Hugueley has numerous tattoos, inchgdia “reversed, winged swastika on his
forehead.” (ECF No. 41-7 at PagelD 919.)
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counsel’s, statement in the appellate brief thatone in the courtroom saw this juror crying.
(ECF No. 127 at PagelD 5543 n.8 & 554BeECF No. 41-9 at PagelD 129%.)

The Warden asserts that, unBarholster the federal review of daim adjudicated on the
merits is limited to the record before the staburt and objects to #tt's declaration being
considered in the habeas proceeding. (BIOF137 at PagelD 7668-69.) Respondent disputes
Hugueley’s argument that the dealdon can be considered becao$dis derivative ineffective
assistance of counsel claim, noting that th&@eéiveness claim is procedurally defaultedd. at
PagelD 7669.) Respondent contends tattineZ° provides no basis for considering new
evidence on HugueleyBatsonclaim. (d.) Citing his motion to dismiss, he further argues that
Hugueley'’s failure to timely disck® any evidence about his jumgtection ineffective assistance
claim precludes the introduction of new evidencéd.) (

The inmate is limited to the record before the TSC on this cléd®e Pinholste563 U.S.
at 181-82. Consideration of Fitis declaration is barred undBinholster

c. Unreasonable Determinations of Fact

Hugueley argues that the criticalestion in the iind prong of theBatsonanalysis, whether

a prisoner has proved purposefliscrimination, is the perssi@eness of the prosecutor’s

justification for the peremptory strike. (EQRo. 127 at PagelD 5532.)He contends that

19 Although counsel made the argument in the apigetigief that no onsaw Pruitt crying,
this same counsel did not object itigrvoir dire or poinbut that Pruitt did noappear to be about
to cry or crying.

20 |n Martinez v. Ryan566 U.S. 1, 17 (2012), the Unitechfts Supreme Court created an
equitable exception that allowed ineffective assistance of post-conviction (collateral review)
counsel to be used to overcome the proceduraliliefban ineffective asdstance of trial counsel
claim.
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implausible and fantastic jugtitions will be found to be pretexts for discriminationd.)(
Likewise, deference to the triaburt does not equate with aband@mtor abdication of judicial
review. (d.) He insists that the psecutor's reasons are met and demonstrably false
because: (1) Pruitt never sat in the jury box;tki2) prosecution never “cut off” questioning; and
(3) Pruitt was not “teary-eyed” or going to cryld.(at PagelD 5533.) Further, Hugueley
contends that the trial judgaade no finding that the proséicun’s reasons were true.ld( at
PagelD 5540.)

To the extent Hugueley seeks to show areasonable determination of fact as the basis
for the state court’s decision, he must presdear and convincing euvighce to overcome the
presumption of correctnessSee28 U.S.C. 88 2254(d)(2) & (e)(1).

1. Pruitt’s Placement During Voir Dire

At trial, Hugueley’s defenseounsel did not argudaut Pruitt’s placement in the jury box.

He now attempts to create a vispadture of the potential juror&cation to dispute whether Pruitt
ever sat in the jury boxna undermine the prosecutor's assertions about her demeanor.
Respondent asserts that where Pwdts seated is irrelevanttier demeanor, which was the basis
for the State’s peremptory strike(ECF No. 137 at PagelD 7668.)

There is nothing in the state court record specifically addressing Pruitt’s location in relation
to the jury box. This information was not presehto the TSC. As stated supra, Pruitt’'s

declaration cannot be considered for purposemwiing relief under § 2254(d)(1). Further, her
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position in the room during voir dire has limited imaorce given the fact that the neutral reason
proffered for the stkie was her demean®t.
2. QuestioningPruitt

Hugueley contends that the prosecution’'siceent that he “backed off” his questioning
because of Pruitt’'s demeanor was false becawsprtsecutor set forth two issues for questions.
(SeeECF No. 127 at PagelD 5543.) The Wardeguas that the transcript does not undermine
the prosecutor’s statement that he declined &sipn Pruitt further. (ECF No. 137 at PagelD
7668.) Furthermore, Respondent avers that tieemothing in the read to show that the
prosecutor would not have questgal Pruitt further had it not been for her demeandd.) (

The prosecutor’'s statement reflects atenmal thought process about how he should
proceed, a process that would not be clearly indioaitethe transcript. The transcript reveals that
the questioning of Pruitt was very limited, whichcisnsistent with the prosecutor’s statement.
(ECF No. 41-2 at PagelD 494-95.) The TSCdmao specific findingabout the prosecutor
refraining from questioning Pruitt, but instead focused on her demeanor as the neutral reason for
the peremptory strike.

3. Pruitt's Demeanor

Race-neutral reasons for peremptory challsmgeoking a juror’'s deeanor make the trial

court’s firsthand observations greater in importan&nyder v. Louisianab52 U.S. 472, 477

(2008). The trial court must evaluate whetherphosecutor’'s demeanor belies a discriminatory

L pruitt's declaration, althougRinholster barred, actually suppisr the prosecution’s
proffered reason because she adigisng upset “[wlhen [she] was &ad to the jurybox to talk to
the attorneys.” eeECF No. 127-1 at PagelD 5675.)
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intent and whether the juror's demeanor can e g&dibly to have dxbited the basis for the
strike. Id. The trial judge’s evaluatioof a prospective juror’'s demeanor is entitled to deference
in the absence of exceptional circumstancksk.at 477, 479.
In Snydey the trial court did not make a detenation concerning the juror’'s demeanor,
but simply allowed the challengeld. at 479. The Supreme Court stated,
It is possible that theuglge did not have any impression one way or the other
concerning Mr. Brooks’ demeanor. Mr. Brooks was not challenged until the day
after he was questioned, and by that time dozens of other jurors had been
guestioned. Thus, the trial judge may not have recalled Mr. Brooks’ demeanor.
Or, the trial judge may k& found it unnecessarip consider Mr. Brooks’
demeanor, instead basing his rulingmgdetely on the second proffered

justification for the strike. For theseasons, we cannot presume that the trial
judge credited the prosecutor'ssartion that Mr. Brooks was nervous.

The United States Supreme Court has heldnibwa¢ of its decisionsearly establish that a
judge must reject Batsondemeanor-based peremptory challengiess he personally observes
and recalls that aspecttbie juror's demeanor.Thaler v. Hayness59 U.S. 43, 44, 48 (2010) (per
curiam);see Russell v. Buntinijlo. 3:15-CV-331, 2016 WL 1170883,*& (S.D. Ohio Mar. 25,

2016) (“[E]ven assuming there was some unexpcedseneanor component to the prosecutor’s
decision, there is no constitutional difficulty with the fact that a successor judge ultimately decided
the Batsonquestion.”).

In White v. Stephen$66 F. App’'x 335, 338 (5th Ci2014), the prosecution struck an
African-American juror because of his reluctant belligerent demeanor during questioning and
the fact that his brother or some relative leghal problems. The trial court failed to make

findings about the juror's demeanor amehe were reflected in the recordd. The court noted
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thatSnyderdoes not require a trial coudt make findings about a potel juror's demeanor for a
Batsonchallenge and thus, the court denied habeas relWwhite Id. at 338, 340.

The trial court record is also silent abdRruitt’'s demeanor with the exception of the
prosecutor’s statement thatuitt was teary-eyed ¢ooked as if she wemgoing to cry. As noted
above, the trial couris not required undeBnyderto make a specifiéinding about Pruitt's
demeanor. The lack of objection from defense celsgports the trialaurt’s acceptance of the
prosecution’s race-neutral reasonSee Hugueley 85 S.W.3d at 375 (“[D]efense counsel did not
in any way indicate during theryselection process that tipeosecution’s desiption of Ms.
Pruitt’s conduct in the jury box was inaccurate.’Further, deference is given to the trial court to
determine the credibility of the prosecutor intisig his reasons for the peremptory strike. The
TSC relied on the trial court’s assessment of tlesgxrutor’s credibility and determined that there
was no purposeful discriminationld.

The TSC stated, “[t]he other person, Ms. Briiad exhibited a demanor that caused the
prosecutor to doubt her altylito sit on the juryn a composed manner.’Hugueley 185 S.W.3d at
376. To the extent that Huguelegntends that the TSC’s deaBiis based on an unreasonable
determination of facts in light of the evidenpresented, he mudtav clear and convincing
evidence to rebut the presumptioincorrectness. Even with Pristdeclaration, stating that she
“was not happy about” being call¢al the jury box and thathe “never had tears in [her] eyes or
cried in the court” $eeECF No. 127-1 at PagelD 5675)uglieley has not met the required
standard to rebut the presunaptiof correctness of the TSCé®nclusion that she exhibited a

demeanor indicating that she coulat sit “in a composed manner.”
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d. Contrary to Batson

Petitioner asserts that thesiification for the strike washat four African-Americans
remained in the jury pool is contraryBatson (ECF No. 1274t PagelD 5545.) He argues that
the trial court’s decision allowing a peremptasirike because four African-Americans were
sitting on the petit jury is contrary Batsonbased on the Sixth Cirdig unpublished decision in
Drain v. Woods595 F. App’x 558 (6th Cir. 2014)(Id. at PagelD 5545-46.) Hugueley contends
that the reasons for the prosecution’s strike Wienplausible, incredible, and simply not true.”
(Id. at PagelD 5549-50.) Accordinglye insists that the state cosrtlenial of relief was contrary
to and an unreasonable applicatiorBatsonand based on an unreasonable determination of fact.
(Id. at PagelD 5531, 5547, 5550.)

In Drain, the Michigan Court of Appeals’ soleeason for rejecting the trial court’s
conclusion that a prima face case of discriminaliad been made was that the prosecutor struck
two white jurors, seven black juroemd four black jurors remainedDrain, 595 F. App’x at 570.
The Michigan Court of Appeals based its demisbn a state court case that held “[t]hat the
prosecutor did not try to remove all blacks frora jlrry is strong evidence against a showing of
discrimination.” Id. (citing People v. Eccle®77 N.W.2d 76, 83 (Mich. App. 2004). The Sixth
Circuit found that case to be “migestly contrary to clearly estihed federal law” that “a single
racially discriminatory peremptory strike requires reversdbtain, 595 F. App’x at 570.

The Warden contends that Hugueley’s agserthat the prosecutor improperly justified
the strike by stating “We still have fouAfrican Americans on the jury” was an inaccurate
restatement taken out of context. (ECF MN&7 at PagelD 7668.) Respondent submits that the

statement was made immediately after defawmemsel’s comment that Pruitt was the eighth
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African-American person and the severifrican-American woman stricken. Id() He
maintains that the prosecutor’s reliance on Psuittmeanor alone was a sufficient basis for the
strike. (d.)

Drain is not Supreme Court precedent affdas only a prima facie showing oBatson
claim, which the TSC found in this instance. Ttaascript reveals andd¢hT SC noted that it was
unclear whether the four jurors referencedeva combination of African-American men and
women or instead were foldfrican-American women. SeeECF No. 41-3 at PagelD 511.pee
Hugueley 185 S.W.3d at 371 n.8. The TSC noted the¢se®f the twelve jurors were white and
“assumed” that a prima face case of impermissible discrimination had been made Ubitdie.in
Id. at 371. Further, the TS@bserved that the specifigatsonfindings required byiller-EL Il
did not become law until &8r Hugueley’'s trial. Hugueley 185 S.W.3d at 371. The TSC
followed the methodology faBatsonfrom Miller-El I, about examining the “bare statistics” of
the jury pool, disparate questionimtisparate treatment, and a higtof exclusion of jurors based
on race. Id. at 371-75. The “bare statistics” that 4b¥the county’s population was black and
the Rule 12 report indicating five of the twelueors were non-white did not convince the TSC
that the state’s proffered race neutral reasons were pretextuiat 374-75. Further, the TSC
found that there was “no indication in the recdhat the prosecution tailored its questions
regarding the death penalty depending on the race of the targeted venire person(s),” did not
“observe any manipulative gstoning” and found no evidencef “a specific policy of
systematically excluding African-Americans from juriesld. at 375. The TSCated that, “[i]n
contrast taMiller-El 11, the sole indication of the purposefuipermissible discrimination by the

State in this case is the facatleach of the peremptory chaliges used by the State was employed
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against an African-American venire personld. at 373, 375. The TSC not#duk issues with the
trial court’s inadequate findings, relied on the sahye assessment of Pruitt’'s demeanor, and the
trial court’s credibility determiations and still found no intention@discrimination in the exercise
of peremptory challengesld. at 375.

As stated supra, the TSC cited and applied the correct Supreme Court precBdesarin
See Hugueleyl85 S.W.3d at 368-69. Hugueley has nanhdestrated that the strike against
Pruitt was racially discriminatory. He has not established that the TSC’s decision is contrary to or
an unreasonable application of clearly elsthled Supreme Court precedent or based on an
unreasonable determination of facts in light of the evidence presented. Summary judgment is
GRANTED, and Claim A is DENIED.

B. Peremptory Challenges Based on Gender

Petitioner alleges the State exercised peremmtioallenges against female jurors on the
basis of their gendan violation of J.E.B. v. Alabama ex rel. T,B611 U.S. 127, 129 (1994).
(ECF No. 58 at PagelD 4664.) He contendstiosecution’s dismissal @btential jurors Pruitt,
Heard, McKinnie, and Ferguson violated his constitutional rightd.) (Hugueley asserts that
his claim was raised on direct appbafore the TCCA and the TSC.dJ

On this issue, the TSC ruled:

2. Allegedly Gender-based Peremptory Challenges
We turn now to Defendant’'s clairthat the prosecution peremptorily

challenged Ms. Prewitt, Ms. Heard, Ms. McKinnie, and Ms. Ferguson because of

their gender. 1d.E.B. v. Alabama exrel. T,5511 U.S. 127, 129, 114 S. Ct. 1419,

128 L.Ed.2d 89 (1994), the United States ®upe Court held that “gender, like

race, is an unconstitutional proxy forrgm competence and impartiality.” We
analyze a party’s claim that a peremptomgllenge is impermissibly gender-based
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in the same manner as a claim thathallenge is @ally motivated.See id at
144-45, 114 S. Ct. 14109.

Initially, we note thatDefendant first lodged #@atson objection to a
peremptory challenge by the State uponpttesecution’s removal of Ida Ferguson.
By this time in the proceedings, the State had peremptorily challenged Linda Pirtle,
Gertrude Gibbs, and Johnny Hudson. Thus,State used three of its first four
peremptory challenges to remove wamieom the jury. The record does not
indicate the specific basis for Defendamasonclaim as to Ms. Ferguson. Nor do
the trial court’s findings indicate a specifiuling as to what type of prima facie
case Defendant apparently made out. Néedess, the trial court determined that
the State’s rejection of MEerguson was permissible. We see nothing in the record
before us to indicate that the trial ctsirconclusion in this regard was clearly
erroneous.

The State peremptorily challenged four more jurors, three of them female.
Thus, of a total of eight peremptoryatlenges exercised the prosecution, six
were utilized against female venire pmrs, or 75%. However, as to each of the
four women peremptorily challenged and to which Defendant lodgedtson
objection, the State proffered gender-neutessons for their removal. The trial
court obviously determined that the Statproffered reasons were legitimate and
not merely pretextual. The record beforedogs not convince us that the trial court
thereby erred. The jury that tried Defendant included six female jurors. The State
had seven of its peremptory challengesaining when the jury was empaneled.
All but one of the venire persons perenmpyachallenged by the State and to which
Defendant lodged Batsonobjection had indicated some disinclination to impose
the death penalty. The other person, Mruitt, had exhibité a demeanor that
caused the prosecutor to doubt &bility to sit onthe jury in a composed manner.
In sum, we are satisfied that the tigalurt’s findings on Defendant’s gender-based
Batsonclaims are not clearly erroneous. Aatiogly, Defendant is not entitled to
relief on this issue.

Hugueley 185 S.W.3d at 375-376 (footnotes omitted).

The Warden argues that Hugueley has offer@ argument or factual basis to support his

claim and has not demonstrated that the decision was unreasonable. (ECF No. 112-1 at PagelD

5444-45.) Respondent further assehat the TSC's rejection tiie gender bias claim was not

contrary to or an unreasonable application eaidy established feddraw and was based on a
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reasonable determination of facts in light of the evidence presentgdat PagelD 5445.) He
contends that the claim is inadequately pletd. &t PagelD 5476.)

Hugueley has failed to plead facts supporting his claim under Habeas Rule 2¢elECFF
No. 58 at PagelD 4664.) Hugueley also has presented an argument in opposition to the
motion for summary judgment.

The TSC applied the correct legal precedent fddmB, 511 U.S. at 144-45, extending
Batsonto intentional gender discrimination ithe use of peremptory strikesSee Hugueleyl85
S.W.3d at 375. Three of the female juretdeard, McKinnie, and Ferguson—were removed
because of their opposition to the death penaitg,Pruitt was removed based on her demeanor as
discussedsupra See Hicks v. Collins384 F.3d 204, 224 (6th Cir. @) (explaining that the
prosecution’s use of peremptory challenges wusle jurors who opposdte death penalty does
not deny a capital defendant an impartial juryloag the strike is not based on race or gender).
The proffered reasons for the strike were netgxtual, and there is nodication of purposeful
discrimination on the recordSee Strickland v. Pitchei62 F. App’x 511, 518 (6th Cir. 2006)
(denying habeas relief where the prosecution pteddacially valid reasons for the peremptory
strike without inherent discriminatory intent)The TSC’s decision is not contrary to or an
unreasonable application of ctBaestablished Supreme Coystecedent and is based on a
reasonable determination of facts in lighttbé evidence presented. Summary judgment is
GRANTED, and Claim B is DENIED.

C. Prospective Juror Barry Watkins

Hugueley next argues that tti@al court erred in refusing to dismiss for cause prospective

juror Barry Watkins, whose brother Donald Watkworked at HCCF and was a potential witness
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for the prosecution. (ECF No. 58 at PagelD 466HI¢ asserts that this claim was raised on
direct appeal before the TCCA and the TSQd.) (
The TSC held on this issue as follows:
B. Trial Court’'s Refusal to Dismiss Juror for Cause

Defendant also asserts in this appeal that the trial court erred in refusing to
dismiss potential juror Barry Watkins for cause. The State disagrees.

During the trial court’s initial questning of the venireMr. Barry Watkins
responded that he knew something about#se. When asked for the source of his
information, Mr. Watkins replied that orad his brothers worked at the prison
where the killing occurred. Mr. Watkins stdt however, that the information he
had obtained had not caused him to famopinion about Defendant’s guilt or
innocence. Defense counsel subsequentjyested a sequestered voir dire of Mr.
Watkins, which the trial court granted. During this additional voir dire, defense
counsel asked Mr. Watkins if he wasaomeicted felon. Mr. Watkins responded that
he had been arrested but not convicted. ekf#ained that more than twenty years
earlier, he had been arrested for a robbewhile he was being held, they arrested
“the guy that did it.” The charges against Mr. Watkins were then dismissed. He
was under the impression that his arrest was still “on record” because he was not
allowed to buy guns.

Mr. Watkins stated that Mr. DonalV/atkins was his half-brother. Mr.
Watkins explained that he knew his hatbther might be called as a prosecution
witness, but maintained that “that’'s aknew.” His half-brother told him that he
would need to advise the court of thelat®nship. When askeualy the court if this
relationship would affect his judgment, Miatkins replied, “I can listen to the
facts and what's been proven to me. Henisbrother but he can be mistaken like
anybody else.” Mr. Watkins maintained tha¢ would not give his relative’s
testimony any more weight or believabiliiyan that of the other witnesses. Mr.
Watkins told the trial court that his bher had not told him what his testimony
would be about, or what he claimed the $aatbe. Mr. Watkins stated that he had
not heard Defendant’s name until “today.”

Following this individual voir diredefense counsel moved to strike Mr.
Watkins for cause on the grounds that “tt® hard to overcome the bias of your
brother testifying in the State’s casedhief.” The trial court denied defense
counsel’s request. Defendant now contehdsthe trial cours ruling resulted in
a violation of his constitutional rigé to a fair and impartial jury.
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We are initially constrained to poiout that Defendandid not raise this
issue in his motion for new trial. Acabngly, this issue has been waivé&ke
Tenn. R. App. P. 3(e) (“[I]n all cases tlidy a jury, no issue psented for review
shall be predicated upon error in therégkion or exclusion of evidence, jury
instructions granted or refused, miscondafcjurors, parties or counsel, or other
action committed or occurring during théatrof the case, or other ground upon
which a new trial is sought, unless the same was specifically stated in a motion for a
new trial; other-wise suchssues will be treated asaived.”). Nevertheless,
because this is a capital case, aretadnse this issue involves Defendant’s
fundamental constitutional righto a fair and impartigliry, we choose to address
it on the merits.

Both the United States and Tenres<onstitutions guarantee criminal
defendants the right to a triay an “impartiajjury.” U.S. Const. amend. VI; Tenn.
Const. art. I, 8§ 9. “The impartial juryuaranteed by constttanal provisions is
one which is of impartial frame of mindthie beginning of trial, is influenced only
by legal and competent evidence producedndurial, and bases its verdict upon
evidence connecting defendant with the commission of the crime chaBjatk'v.
Lawson 794 S.W.2d 363, 367 (Tenn. Crim. Ad®90). To protect this right,
litigants have the right to lodge a gpter affectum” challenge for cause to a
potential juror on the basis that he or she is biased or prejudiced for or against one
of the partiesSee Toombs v. StatE97 Tenn. 229, 270 S.W.2d 649, 650 (1954);
State v. Akins867 S.W.2d 350, 355 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1993). A propter affectum
challenge should be upheld where some bigmdrality is eitheactually shown to
exist or is presumed to exist from circumstanc&irham v. Statel82 Tenn. 577,

188 S.W.2d 555, 559 (1945). Circumstanpesifying a presumption of bias
include a juror’s willful concealment &tilterior and prejudicial motives” arising
from his prior conviction d prior involvement as presuting witness in a case
very similar to the defendant'see id at 559, and a juror’s failure to disclose a
“very close” familial relationship between the juror and the prosecuting attorney’s
wife, see Toomh2270 S.W.2d at 651.

In this case, the trial court overrulddfense counsel’s challenge for cause
to Mr. Watkins after both the proseariand defense counsel had an opportunity
to closely question him during period of sequestered vdiire and after the trial
court itself probed Mr. Watkins’ impiality. The trial court was obviously
satisfied that Mr. Watkins’ relationship would not prevent or substantially impair
the performance of his duties as a juroa@zordance with his structions and his
oath. A determination of the qualifibtans of a juror rets within the sound
discretion of the trial courState v. Howell868 S.W.2d 238, 248 (Tenn. 1993).
We find no abuse of discretion in the trial court’s refusal to excuse juror Watkins
for cause in this case.
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Defendant relies heavityn the Court of Criminahppeals’ opinion irState
v. Pamplin 138 S.W.3d 283 (Tenn. i@r. App. 2003). In that case, the defendant
was on trial for assaulting a city policéicer and resisting aest. One of the
potential jurors was a county deputy stievho knew both the assaulted officer
and the defendant. The deputy had previosstyed as a judicial commissioner for
eight years and his sister-in-law worked tioe district attorney. The deputy was a
member of the same law enforcement agency as one of the prosecution’s primary
witnesses; indeed, the deputy was a dlibate employee of that witness. The
deputy reported for jury duty in his unifar including his badge and sidearm. The
trial court denied the defendant’s challengexcuse the deputy from jury duty for
cause. Because the defendant had exhaa#itedihis peremptory challenges, the
deputy remained on the jury and vgafsequently elected its foreman.

On appeal, the intermediate appellate court determined that the trial court
had committed manifest error in refusingetause the deputy juror, finding that his
“professional relationship and interest in the case was entirely too close to that of
[the State’s witness] and [the victim].1d. at 286. The court noted not only the
relationship between the deputy and the Statithesses, but the nature of the case
(involving an assault on a police officer) ahe fact that the deputy served on the
jury while in full uniform and wearing his sidearnid. The court emphasized that
“the jury selection processhould endeavor to selectrgus who are not only fair
and impartial but are also free from the suspicion of impartialityl” at 287.

We find thePamplincase to be readily disgjuishable from Defendant’s.
The combination of factors present in ®@mplincase created an egregious set of
circumstances which are simply not prasenthe case before us. While we
certainly agree that a close familial relationship between a juror and a witness may
give rise to a suspicion of partiality, we are reluctant to conclude that a half-sibling
connection is sufficient, in and of itself, to raise a presumption of bias so as to
require a trial court to grant a proptéieatum challenge. We recognize that many
ties of kinship do not result in close retatships, and we aredtefore unwilling to
presume any particular level of bias arising from the familial relationship between
Mr. Watkins and the State’s witness. Rathwe agree with Maryland’s high court
on this point: “Although the relationship af juror to one of the witnesses may
present an opportunity for prejudice, bias will not be presumed and the defendant is
not relieved of the burden pfesenting facts in additido mere relationship which
would give rise to a siwing of actual prejudice.Bristow v. State242 Md. 283,
219 A.2d 33, 34 (1966kee also Bowman v. Sta98 S.W.2d 809, 812 (Tenn.
Crim. App. 1980) (recogming that, when the challeng@ador disclosed her social
relationship with one of the prosecuting ateys, “[t]he burden is on the defendant
to demonstrate that the juror was in some way biased or prejudiced” because the
prosecuting attorney testified as a rebuttal witness).
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In this case, Defendant has failedpesent sufficient facts about juror
Watkin[s’] relationship with his half-brother to demonstrate either actual prejudice
or that a presumption of prejudice is justified. Juror Watkins was forthcoming
about his relationship with one of theatt's witnesses. Moower, he obviously
convinced the trial court that he coylaige the evidence in a non-biased manner
and with no preconceived notion of Deflant’s guilt. There is nothing in the
record before us that convinces us tha trial court erred in reaching this
conclusion.

Moreover, as this Court has previbuseld, “the failure to correctly
exclude a juror for cause is grounds for reakosly if the defendant exhausts all of
his peremptory challenges and an incompetent juror is forced upon hilovvell,
868 S.W.2d at 248 (emphasis added). In ¢hse, Defendantdli indeed, exhaust
all of his peremptory challenges, using one of them to excuse Mr. Watkins.
However, we disagree with Defendant that an incompetent juror was thereby thrust
upon him. Defendant argues that “[lgdson the non-exclusion of . . . Barry
Watkins for cause, [he] was forced to adcapleast three (3) jurors that were
incompetent, biased and/or not impartia#gcause they had prior knowledge of the
allegations against Defendant from thedmeor personal relationships. Defendant
particularly targets the jury fore®n, Mr. Burrough, who acknowledged some
prior familiarity with the case from an acquaintance who worked at the Hardeman
County Correctional Facility.

Mr. Burrough answered affirmativelyedtrial court’s iniial inquiry as to
whether he had “heard or read anythin@laabout this case [.]” Mr. Burrough
explained that his source of informatiaras an acquaintance that worked at the
prison. Mr. Burrough stated that the infation he had heard had not caused him
to form an opinion about Defendant’s guilt or innocence and stated further that he
would be able to base his verdict onldn& and evidence charged by the trial court.
Similarly, jurors Edna Blake and Eric Beld indicated that they had each gained
some information about the case from thellmend/or “hearsay at work” prior to
trial. Each assured the trial court they had not formed an opinion about
Defendant’s guilt or innocence based on what they had heard.

Our rules of criminal procedure piide that a prospective juror may be
challenged for cause where

[tlhe prospective juror's exposure faotentially prejuctial information
makes the person unacceptable as a.jidoth the degree of exposure and
the prospective juror's testimony as hes or her state of mind shall be
considered in determining acceptabilityA prospective juror who states that

he or she will be unable to overcome preconceptions shall be subject to
challenge for cause no matter how sli¢ exposure. If the prospective
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juror has seen or heard and remembdmmation that will be developed in

the course of trial, or that may be imaidsible but is not so prejudicial as to
create a substantial risk that his or her judgment will be affected, the
prospective juror’s accegbility shall depend on whether the testimony as to
impartiality is believed. If the prosgtive juror admits to having formed an
opinion, he or she shall be subject to challenge for cause unless the
examination shows unequivocally that grespective juror can be impartial.

Tenn. R. Crim. P. 24(b)(2). The recoreveals that defeescounsel made no
attempt to challenge Mr. Burrough, Ms. Blake, or Mr. Bolden for cause.
Apparently, defense counsel determined that none of these persons was so biased or
prejudiced by the information they had heard prior to trial as to justify a for-cause
challenge. Yet, Defendant now contends that he was forced to accept these
“incompetent, biased and/or not impal jurors because he exercised a
peremptory challenge against Mr. Watkins.

Defendant fails to explain how these jurors’ mild familiarity with the case
prior to trial rendered them incompetexs jurors. Defendant has demonstrated
neither partiality on the pamf any of these jurorsjor any prejudice that he
suffered as a result of any of these thpeesons sitting on the jury. “Juror bias
must be shown, not just suspectedaivson 794 S.W.2d at 367 (citin§mith v.
Phillips, 455 U.S. 209, 102 S. Ct. 940, 71 L.Ed.2d 78 (1982)). We are not
persuaded that any of these threernsimgas “incompetent” as required bipwell.
Defendant has simply failed to demonstrate that he is entitled to a new trial on the
basis of the trial court’s refusal to dismiss Barry Watkins for cause. Accordingly,
Defendant is not entitlew relief on this issue.

Hugueley 185 S.W.3d at 376-80 (footnote omitted).

The TSC determined that the claim was wajuaat decided to addse it on the merits.
Id. at 377%2 The Court will therefore addss the merits of the claim.

The Warden asserts that Barry Watkins wlod sit on the jury, and there was no viable
constitutional claim. (ECF &l 121-1 at PagelD 5455.) He notkat Hugueley has offered no

argument or factual basis for his claimld.Y Respondent argues that the TSC'’s rejection of

22 Respondent argues that, if the Court doedindtthis claim procedurally defaulted, it
should be denied as meritless. (ECF No. 121-1 at PagelD 5455.)
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Hugueley’s claim was not contraiy or an unreasonable applicatiof clearly estalished federal
law or based on an unreasonable determination of fddt) Hugueley does not address this
claim in his response to timeotion for summary judgment.

The Sixth Amendment commands that evemnicral defendant “shall enjoy the right to a
speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury.U.S. Const. amend. VI. In addition to the
safeguards articulated in the Sixth Amendment, the Constitution’s due process protections
likewise afford to criminal defendants tmght to be tried by an impartial jury.Dennis v.
Mitchell, 354 F.3d 511, 520 (6th Cir. 2003) (citivprgan v. lllinois 504 U.S. 719, 727 (1992)).

As is recognized, the voir dire process isigeed to protect thisght “by exposing possible
biases, both known and unknown, on the part of potential jurodsl” at 520 (quoting
McDonough Power Equip., Inc. v. Greenwpd@4 U.S. 548, 554 (1984))"A court must excuse

a prospective juror if actual bias is discovered during voir diddiighes v. United State258

F.3d 453, 459 (6th Cir. 2001). Actual bias or “biatait” is “the existencef a state of mind that
leads to an inference that the persati not act with entire impartiality.” Id. at 463. The
doctrine of presumed or implied bias providesttlin exceptional cases, courts should employ a
conclusive presumption that a juror is biaseemwlthe relationship between a prospective juror
and some aspect of the litigation is such that it is highly unlikely that the average person could
remain impartial in his delibeliahs under the circumstancesTreesh v. Bagley612 F.3d 424,

437 (6th Cir. 2010). Implied bias may be found when a juror has “a relationship in which the
potential for substantial emotional involvememlyersely affecting impartiality, is inherent,” such

as when there juror is a close relative of one of the trial participdststed States v. Russelo5

F.3d 633, 641 (6th Cir. 2010). The Sixth Circuis lj@estioned the contindigiability of implied
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bias. Treesh 612 F.3d at 437. Further, the impliedbidoctrine is not supported by clearly
established Supreme Court precede8ee Lang v. Bobbio. 5:12 CV 2923, 2015 WL 1423490,
at *45 (N.D. Ohio Mar. 27, 2015).

The relevant question for juror impartiality“cid [the] juror swear that he could set aside
any opinion he might hold and decide the case ertidence, and should the juror’s protestation
of impartiality have been believed.See Patton v. Yound67 U.S. 1025, 1036 (1984). The
Supreme Court has stated:

To hold that the mere existence of any preconceived notion as to the guilt or

innocence of an accused, without moresufficient to rebut the presumption of a

prospective juror’s impartiality would be &stablish an impossible standard. It is

sufficient if the juror can lay aside himpression or opinion and render a verdict
based on the evidence presented in court.
Irvin v. Dowd 366 U.S. 717, 723 (1961).

In Treesh,the Sixth Circuit did not find impliethias based on a “mere student-teacher
relationship” and noted that tlmecord did not establish actuaias where the juror and defense
counsel did not appear bave a close relationshipTreesh 612 F.3d at 437-38.

In Lang, a potential juror's stepfathevas the brother of the victimLang 2015 WL
1423490, at *46. The juror attended the victimiadral with her stepfather without knowing
anything about his brother’s death other than wet in the newspaperld. The court did not
find implied-bias where the juror had not seea thictim in some time, did not live with her
stepfather, and did not talk to anyoim her family about the casdd. Further, the juror assured

the court that her relationship to the victim dimt cause her any persopabblem or prevent her

from being impartial. 1d.
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In United States v. Weib87 F. App’x 300, 305-06 (6t@ir. 2014), the Sixth Circuit
analyzed implied bias of a juror because of a loose familial relationship with the kidnapping
victim. The juror’s sister'shusband’s brother (brother-inWw& brother) was married to the
victim’s daughter. Id. at 305. The victim’s daughter wasgodparent to the juror's nephews.

Id. However, the juror said the relationshipwid not impact her ability to be objectivdd.
The Sixth Circuit held that, “eveassuming implied bias is stilllaasis for juror disqualification,”
the relationship was not suffemtly close to warrant the doctrine of implied biasl. at 305-06.

In the instant case, Watkins informed the cthat “[o]ne of my brdbers works out at the

prison.” (ECF No. 41-2 at PagelD 3947Jhe court followed up with questions:

THE COURT: Hasthat causedyou to form an opinion about the
guilt or innocence of the accused?

MR. WATKINS: No.

THE COURT: Would you be able jodge this case on the law and
evidence you hear today and tomorrow and the next day? Could you do that?

MR. WATKINS: Yes,sir.
(Id. at PagelD 394-95.) Watkins said that his heotworked at HCC[F] wére the incident took
place. [d. at PagelD 421.)
The prosecutor continued:
GENERAL DYCUS: HCC[F]? You knowhat's where this incident is
alleged to have taken place. | think fladge asked if you heard about it but you
can sit fairly in this case. You realize what you heard is not proof; it's going to
come from the stand?

MR. WATKINS: Right.

GENERAL DYCUS: All right. And you sat on a jury once before,
criminal jury, about twelve years ago, | think.
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MR. WATKINS: | was dismissed.

GENERALDYCUS: You were dismissed. Okay. Could you sign a
death warrant?

MR. WATKINS: | could.

(1d.)

Barry Watkins stated that he was théf-baother of Donald L. Watkins. Id. at PagelD
440.) The State indicated that Donald Watkimaild be one of its witnesses, and Barry Watkins
was aware that his half-brother mightdmled as a witness for the Statdd.)( Barry Watkins
said that it would not affect him.Id() He said, “I can listen to the facts and what's been proven
to me. He is my brother but henclhe mistaken like anybody else.ldy Donald Watkins only
told Barry “that something happenatithe prison and that he woulddw®itness and that’s all that
| know.” (Id. at PagelD 440-41.) Donald told Bathat “I needed tdet y'all know.” (Id. at
PagelD 441.) Donald did not tell Bg about the facts of the caseld.) Barry Watkins had not
heard the defendant’s name until voir dire; twdhoee days before voir dire, Barry had read a
headline about the caseld.j

Defense counsel objected frause saying, “I believe it's tdward to overcome the bias of
your brother testifying . . . .” Id. at PagelD 444.) The prosecution noted that Barry Watkins
specifically said “brothers arem@times wrong, too, and he said he’d be open-minded about it and
listen to all the proof . . ..” Id.) The court overruled the motion to strike Barry Watkins for

cause. I@d.)
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Barry Watkins exhibited that he was impartial and not influenced by his half-brother’s
involvement. Neither actual amplied bias has been shown, and the trial court’s denial of the
strike for cause is reasonable.

After the denial of defense counsel’s for ®awhallenge, Watkinsas excluded from the
jury based on a peremptory strike. eTinited States Supreme Court has held,

we reject the notion that the loss of agreptory challenge constitutes a violation

of the constitutional right to an impaittipry. We have long recognized that

peremptory challenges are not of constitutional dimension. They are a means to

achieve the end of an impatrtial jury.
Ross v. Oklahoma87 U.S. 81, 88 (1988) (citation omittetdnited States Wartinez-Salazar
528 U.S. 304, 311 (2000) (noting that peremptomgllehges are “auxiliary” and “not of federal
constitutional dimension”)see id.at 313 (stating that without m& the loss of a peremptory
challenge does not constitute a violation of t@nstitutional right to an impartial jury).
Consistent witlRoss the Sixth Circuit irBeuke v. Houkb37 F.3d 618, 638 (6th Cir. 2008), denied
habeas relief to a petitioner who claimed thateial of four prospective jurors for cause forced
him to use valuable peremptory challenges.e Thurt stated any claim that the jury was not
impartial must focus on the jurovgho ultimately sat on the juryld. Since Watkins did not sit
on Hugueley’s jury, his right to an impartial jury svaot denied by the trial court’s failure to strike
Watkins’ for cause. Hugueley’s constitutional rights have not been violated.

The TSC's decision was not contrary @@ an unreasonable application of clearly
established Supreme Court precddard was based on a reasonabterd@nation of facts in light

of the evidence presented.

Summary judgment is GRANHED, and Claim C is DENIED.
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D. Insufficient Evidence of Aggravating Circumstances
Hugueley alleges the evidence was inswgfitito support the jury’s finding of the
aggravating circumstances that: (1) he had moowictions involving the use of violence; (2) the
killing was especially heinous,ratious, or cruel; (3) he was liawful custody at the time of the
killing; and (4) the victim was a correctioamployee. (ECF No. 58 at PagelD 4665.)
On direct appeal, thESC held on this issue:
B. Sufficiency of Aggravating Circumstances

We turn now to the sufficiency die evidence supportirige jury’s finding
of statutory aggravating cuenstances. In this case, the jury determined that the
State had proven beyond a reasonable douwlstdggravating circumstances: (a)
Defendant was previously convicted of aremore felonies, bier than the present
charge, whose statutory elements invailive use of violence to the person; (b)
Defendant’s murder of the victim was espdlgiheinous, atrocious, or cruel in that
it involved torture or serious physicabuse beyond that necessary to produce
death; (c) Defendant committed the murdeilevhe was in lawful custody or in a
place of lawful confinement; and (d) the murder was committed against a
corrections employee who was engagethenperformance of official dutieSee
Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204@), (5), (8), (9) (8pp. 1999). We must now
review the evidence supporgirach of these aggravaticigcumstances in the light
most favorable to the State and determinetivér a rational triesf fact could have
found the existence of dadeyond a reasonable douBtate v. Bane57 S.W.3d
411, 426 (Tenn. 2001).

1. Prior Convictions

During the sentencing phase of Defemitkatrial, the State introduced by
stipulation three certified judgmentsaagst Defendant. These documents indicate
that judgments of conviction were ergd against Defendant in 1986 for first
degree murder; in 1992 for first degree naurdnd in 1998 for criminal attempt to
commit first degree murder. Obviously, thatatory elements dhe felony of first
degree murder involve the use of violence to the peiSealrenn. Code Ann. §
39-13-202(a). This Court has further heldttthe statutory elements of attempted
murder involve the use @folence to the persofState v. Cribbs967 S.W.2d 773,
782-83 (Tenn. 1998). Accordingly, we holdat the evidencés sufficient to
support the jury’s finding of the existem of this aggravating circumstance. See
Tenn. Code Ann. 8§ 39-13-204(i)(2) (Supp.1999).
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2. Especially Heinous, Atrocious, or Cruel

The jury determined that Defendanimurder of Steed was especially
heinous, atrocious, or cruel in that mvolved torture or serious physical abuse
beyond that necessary to produce de&ebe id at (i)(5). This aggravating
circumstance may be applied if the evidelscgufficient to support either torture or
serious physical abuse beyond that necessary to produceStadéghv. Suttles30
S.W.3d 252, 262 (Tenn. 2000).

This Court has defined “serious physical abuse beyond that necessary to
produce death” as follows:

The word “serious” alludes to a matter of degree. The abuse must be physical,
as opposed to mental, and it must“beyond that” or more than what is
“necessary to produce death.” “Abuse” i$ided as an act that is “excessive”

or which makes “improper use of arigi” or which uses a thing “in a manner
contrary to the natural or legal rules for its use.”

State v. Odon©28 S.W.2d 18, 26 (Tenn. 1996) (quoting Black’s Law Dictionary

11 (6th ed. 1990)). The proof in this castablished that Dendant stabbed Steed

a total of thirty-six times. Twelve of threounds were fatal. Dr. Smith testified that
Defendant’s infliction of so many woundsttee victim qualified for application of

the term “overkill.” He explained: “thengas excessive injurgone to the body far

in excess of what would be necessary to cause death.” The proof is more than
sufficient to support the jury’s findingf this aggravating circumstance.

3. Defendant in Lawful Custody

The proof at trial thaDefendant was in lawfutustody or in a place of
lawful confinement at the time he killed Steed is clear and uncontroverted. The
evidence is therefore suffemt to support the jury’s finding of this aggravating
circumstanceSeeTenn. Code Ann. § 393-204(i)(8) (Supp.1999).

4. Corrections Employee Victim

The record in this case containg@py of the jury’s verdict form which
includes the written jury instructions proed to the jury by the trial court. These
instructions informed the jury that ibald apply as an aggravating circumstance
that “[t{jhe murder was committed agaiastly law enforcement officer, corrections
official, corrections employee, engaged in the performance of official duties.” The
verdict form returned by the jury contaiasand-written finding by the jury that it
applied as an aggravating circumstance that “the murder was committed against
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any law enforcement officer, correctiorff@al, corrections erloyee, engaged in
the performance of official duties.”

The written instruction providedo the jury on this aggravating
circumstance was erroneous. Our crimic@dle provides that the fact-finder may
consider as an aggravating circumstance that

[tlhe murder was committed against any law enforcement officer, corrections
official, corrections employee, engemcy medical or rescue worker,
emergency medical technician, paranceali fire-fighter, who was engaged

in the performance dffficial duties,and the defendant knew or reasonably
should have known that such victim was a law enforcement officer,
corrections official, corrections empfee, emergency medical or rescue
worker, emergency medical technician, g@aedic or fire-fighter engaged in

the performance of official duties.

Id. at ()(9) (emphasis added). The trial court’s written instruction to the jury in this
case omitted the element requiring thatddelant knew or reasonably should have
known that the victim was a law enforcement officer, corrections official, or
corrections employee engaged in pregformance of official duties.

Defendant did not raise this issue &lfrin his motion for new trial, or on
appeal. Nevertheless, this Court will reviavpatently incomplete instruction at a
capital sentencing hearing under the iiplarror” doctrine, regardless of a
defendant’s failure to raise the issGee State v. Stephens8i8 S.W.2d 530, 554
(Tenn. 1994);see also State v. Hine§58 S.W.2d 515, 523 (Tenn. 1988)
(characterizing as “plain error” the triéburt’'s incomplete instructions on two of
three aggravating circumstances found kg jilry). This Court will grant relief
under the plain error doctrine only “whenecessary to do substantial justice.
Tenn. R. Crim. P. 52(b). As we have stgpeeliously, “the error must be of such a
great magnitude that it probably changed the outcome of the t8Btdte v.
Faulkner, 154 S.W.3d 48, 58 (Tenn. 2005). Appallate court wilfeverse for plain
error only if:

(a) the record ... clearlystablish[es] what occultén the trial court;

(b) a clear and unequivocal rule of law [has] been breached;

(c) a substantial right of the accused [has] been adversely affected:;
(d) the accused did not waive the issue for tactical reasons; and

(e) consideration of therror is “necessary to do substantial justice.”
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State v. Smith24 S.W.3d 274, 282 (Tenn. 2000) (quotBigte v. AdkissQr899

S.W.2d 626, 641-42 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1994)). All five factors must be established

and an appellate court need not considldive factors if any one factor indicates

that relief is not warrantedd. at 283.

In this case, the proof at trial wascontroverted that Defendant knew the

victim was a corrections employee: [I[ndeed, Defendant committed the murder

because of the victim’'s permance in that role. Theroof at trial was further

uncontroverted that Defendant knew theiwicivas engaged in the performance of

his official duties when Ofendant brutally stabbed him to death. Defendant told

Mr. Dunaway that he approaaththe victim during a coseling session only to be

ignored. At that point, Defendadéetermined to kill the victim.

Hugueley 185 S.W.3d at 381-83.

The Warden argues that the TSC'’s deteatiom was not an unreazable application of
clearly established federal law and was based orasonable determinaii of fact. (ECF No.
112-1 at PagelD 5456.) Respondemgues that Hugueley’s twprior murder convictions
involved the use of violence.ld() He notes that Petitioner, knowing that Steed was a prison
counselor, stabbed him 36 times with a homeasrgtthnk, which was clearly heinous, atrocious,
and cruel. 1d.) Respondent contends that Hugueley murdered Steed because of his performance
in his role as a prison counselorld.Y He insists that Hugueley has offered no argument or
factual basis to support his claim and has hot that the court’s decision was unreasonable.
(Id.) Respondent also asserts tthet claim was inadequatelyepl under Habeas Rule 2 because
the inmate provided no argument or factsigbport for his conclusory assertionld. @t PagelD
5477-78.)

Hugueley has failed to plead facts supporting his claim under Habeas Rule 2¢el=CF

No. 58 at PagelD 4665.) Further, he has failed to present an argument in opposition to the motion

for summary judgment on this claim.
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In Jackson v. Virginiathe Supreme Court held that, “in a challenge to a state criminal
conviction brought under 28 U.S.C. § 2254—if thelsdtprocedural prerequisites for such a
claim have otherwise been satigfiethe applicant ientitled to habeas qaus relief ifit is found
that upon the record evidence adduattthe trial no rational trier d&ct could have found proof of
guilt beyond a reasonable doubtJackson 443 U.S. at 324. This standard requires a federal
district court to examine the evidencetle light most favorable to the Statéd. at 326 (“[A]
federal habeas corpus court faced with a readrdhistorical facts that supports conflicting
inferences must presume—even if it does not a#firvely appear in the record—that the trier of
fact resolved any such confligtsfavor of the prosecution, and mufer to that resolution.”).

Hugueley has not stated the basis upon whickele&s habeas relief for this claim. The
TSC applied the correct legal standard frédeckson v. Virginia Hugueley 185 S.W.3d at 381.
The court found that the evidence was sufficiesuiaport the jury’s findingef the following four
statutory aggravating circumstances: (1) Huguel@ygraviously been convicted of one or more
violent felonies; (2) the murder was especidiginous, atrocious, or criyg€3) the murder was
committed while the inmate was in lawful cody; and (4) the murder was committed against a
corrections employee who was engaged in gkeeformance of his official duties and who
Hugueley knew or reasonablhauld have known was a corrections employee engaged in the
performance of his official dutiesld. at 381-83.

With regard to the prior violent felony aggrting circumstance, evidence was presented
at trial that Petitioner was conwvétt of murdering his mother in 1986, first degree murder of James

Shelton in 1992, and criminal attempt to comiingt degree murder of Timmerall Nelson in 1998.
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Id. (SeeECF No. 41-5 at PagelD 689-90, 825-8%eECF No. 58 at PagelD 4667-72.) The last
two convictions occurred while Hugueley was incarcerated.

With regard to the heinous, atrocious,couel aggravating circumstance, evidence was
presented that Hugueley stabbed Steed thixtyimes with twelve wounds being fatald. at
364-65, 381. Smith described the wounds as “ovlftland causing “excessive injury” beyond
what was required to case deatld. at 381-82. Petitioner testified,

| was stabbing Counselor Steed. He was laying on the floor, stomach down. |

was tr_ying to drive it plumb through and thie concrete below him. That was my

intentions.
(ECF No. 41-4 at PagelD 641.) He said “And, like | said, if my knife hadn’t broke, there’d been
more people dead.” (ECF No. 41-5 at PagelD 79Hg described the incident, “the knife itself
didn’t break. 1...Irunitthrough a spinal c[Jotdhelieve it was . . . stuck in there, and when |
pulled out . . . when | pulled out, it was still offitn. . . and | had the handle in my hand.ld. at
PagelD 792.) Hugueley said “I went for the mosaiorgans first . . . the heart and the lung.”
(Id. at PagelD 795.) He relatédhey stood there and watched stab him a least another eight
times.” (ECF No. 41-4 at PagelD 643.) Hugueley said that he only quit stabbing Steed because
the knife handle came off and that otherwise he fnigtsdill would have been stabbing the victim
today. (d.at PagelD 655.)

With regard to the last two aggravaticigcumstances, the proof was that Hugueley was
incarcerated at HCCF at the tirtieat he killed Steed, who wasshtorrections counselor in the
performance of his dutiesld. at 382.

Based on this Court’s reatv of the transcriptseeECF No. 41 4 at PagelD 685-%e

alsoECF No. 41-5 at Pagellp02-841), the testimony and evidence were more than sufficient to
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permit a rational trier of fact, examining the evidenn the light most favorable to the State, to
find these aggravating circunasices beyond a reasonable doulfhe TSC’s decision is not
contrary or an unreasonable apation of clearly establisheBupreme Court precedent and is
based on a reasonable determination of factbght of the evidence presented. Summary
judgment is GRANTED, and Claim D is DENIED.

E. Jury Instruction on the Aggravating Circumstance of Killing A Correctional
Employee

Hugueley alleges that the trial court erriadinstructing the jury on the aggravating
circumstance relating to the killing of a correntidemployee by not chargirige jury as to all of
the elements of the offense. (ECF No. 58 at 6.) as$erts that the trial court failed to inform the
jury as to the statutory requirement that thiedéant “knew or reasonably should have known that
such victim was a law enforcement officer, cotiats official, corrections employee, emergency
medical or rescue worker, emergency medicdirimian, paramedic or firefighter engaged in the
performance of official duties.” Id.) SeeTenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(i)(9).

The TSC addressed thisarh on direct appeal and stated that “the proof was
uncontroverted that Defendant kméhe victim was a correctioramployee . . .. The proof at
trial was further uncontroverted that Defendant knew the victim was engaged in the performance
of his official duties when Defendahbtutally stabbed him to death.Hugueley 185 S.W.3d at
383. The court determined that Hugueley wasamtitled to relief because he “admitted his
knowledge of the victim’'s employment and thag thctim was engaged in official duties at the

time Defendant killed him.” Id.
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1. Plain Error Review & Procedural Default

The Warden argues that the claim is barred by procedural default because the TSC’s
rejection of the claim rested dime enforcement of the independantl adequate state law ground
of waiver. (ECF No. 112-1 at PagelD 5465-66.%ee Hugueleyl1l85 S.W.3d at 382.
Respondent contends that the rwlavas reviewed on plain erroméin the Sixth Circuit, plain
error review is not equivalent to a review on therits and does not save a claim from procedural
default. (d. at PagelD 5466.) He asserts that T'8C correctly noted tueley’s failure to
preserve appellate review and “actually eoéol’ the state procedural bar of waivedd.)

Petitioner claims that the state procedinal does not apply. (ECF No. 127 at PagelD
5651.) He argues that the TSGreeused the word “waived” vem it reviewedhe claim on the
merits s1a sponteand the TSC’s notation that the issud hat been previouslyaised is not a
finding of waiver and does not amouatan adequate procedural baidd.)( He relies orHarris
v. Reed 489 U.S. 255 (1989), for the proposition tkanhsideration of a federal claim is not
prohibited unless the state court “clearly and esgyestates that its judgment rests on a state
procedural bar.” I¢l. at PagelD 5651-52.) Hugdeg contends that in ¢habsence of an express
invocation of waiverHarris applies. Id. at PagelD 5652.) He cites Sixth Circuit caSkmner
v. McLemore425 F. App’x 491 (6th Cir. 2011), aktbnderson v. Palmer30 F.3d 554, 561 (6th
Cir. 2013), which state that, where the procedbaalis not expressly invoked or it is ambiguous
whether the state court relied on a procedurtdude there is no bar to habeas reviewd. at
PagelD 5653.)

The Sixth Circuit has held that a state coyst&n error analysis does not save a petitioner

from procedural default.See Scott v. MitchelR09 F.3d 854, 866 (6th Cir. 2000). The court
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stated that “[p]lairerror analysis is more @perly viewed aga court’s right to overlook procedural
defects to prevent manifest injustice, buta$ equivalent to a resw of the merits.” Lundgren v.
Mitchell, 440 F.3d 754, 765 (6th Cir. 2006 AEDPA is not applicabldbased on plain error
review of an otherwise pecedurally defaulted claim.Trimble v. Bobby804 F.3d 767, 788 (6th
Cir. 2015);see Leonard v. Warden, Ohio State Penitenti@d6 F.3d 832, 851 (6th Cir. 2017)
(addressing the ambiguity over whet to apply AEDPA deference &oclaim reviewed for plain
error after being procedurally waived and dewy not to address the ambiguity because the
petitioner could not @vail under the more igent standard ade novareview).

The Supreme Court iHarris, 489 U.S. at 263, appd a “plain statemdhrule to address
the problem of ambiguous state court refererioestate law. The Court said, “Faced with a
common problem, we adopt a common solution: agaoral default does not bar consideration of
a federal claim on either direct or habeas revieless the last state covendering a judgment in
the case ‘clearly and expressly’ states tlsguilgment rests on a state procedural bdd’at 263.

Similarly, inHendersonthe Sixth Circuit stated,

“neither the mere availability nor the patial, or even obwus, applicability of

such a [procedural] rule is determinative. To operate as a bar to habeas review, such

a rule must be clearly and expressiyadked.” Put another way, “there must be

unambiguous state-court reliance on acpdural default to block our [federal

habeas corpus] review.”
Henderson730 F.3d at 561 (citations omitted) (quot®kjnner v. McLemorel25 F. App’x 491,
495 (6th Cir. 2011).

In the instant case, the TSC stated, “Defend@hhot raise this issue at trial, in his motion

for new trial, or on appeal.”"Hugueley 185 S.W.3d at 382. The coulitl not specifically state
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that the claim was waived orteia procedural rule. There&rprocedural default should not
apply.

Instead, the court citeBtate v. Stephenso8i78 S.W.2d 530 (Tenn. 1994), for application
of the plain error rule. IBtephensarthe TSC stated, “we note thhe State’s contention that the
issue is waived because of the defendant’s failuraise the issue at the &nof the charge or in
the motion for new trial is completely without merit.. Clearly, the defelant’s failure to raise
the issue in the motion for a new trial does not ttute waiver under the &s in this case.”
Stephensgr878 S.W.2d at 553-54brogated on other grounds IState v. Saylorl1l7 S.W.3d
239 (Tenn. 2003). The TSC explained that Tesae Rule of Criminal Procedure 52(b),
embodying the plain error rule, “has been previouglplied . . . to allow review of patently
incomplete instructions at a a&g sentencing hearing despitefelesse counsel’s failure to call
such error to the trial court’s attention.Stephensgn878 S.W.2d at 554 (citinglines 758
S.W.2d at 523-24 & n.4). IState v. Carter988 S.W.2d 145, 152 (Tenn. 1999), the TSC
determined that there was no waiver and citednessee Rule of AppeakaProcedure 36(b) and
Tennessee Rule of Criminal Procedure 52(b), statiaigf‘[a]n error thatfects a substantial right
of a defendant may be raised at any time wheressacgto do substantial justice.” Where, as in
the instant case, a procedural bar has not bleanly and expressly invoked and Tennessee case
law cited by the TSC indicates thhée claim is not waived, this Court will not enforce a procedural
bar.

2. Merits
The Warden argues alternatively that thenglahould be denied as meritless. (ECF No.

112-1 at PagelD 5456.) He contenhat the Court must determimdnether the error in this jury
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instruction had a substantehd injurious effect or influence on the verdictd. &t PagelD 5457.)
Respondent argues that, on habeas reviewBtieeht standard of whéer an error had a
substantial and injuriousffect or influence on the jury’s verdict appliesid.f See Brecht v.
Abrahamson507 U.S. 619, 623 (1993). He contends thatabeas court remains free, before
turning toBrecht to inquire whether the state cour€sapmananalysis” of whether the error is
“harmless beyond a reasonable doubt” is a reasonable determination. Sée Chapman v.
California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967). If that state counffscision is reasonabl¢he inquiry ends.
(Id.) Respondent submits that the TSC's dieci reflects a reasable application o€hapman
and illustrates that the jury instruction did not haveubstantial and injurious effect or influence
on Hugueley’s sentence.ld()

Petitioner maintains that the TSC’s determination that the instruction was harmless was an
unreasonable determination of facts and is contaand an unreasonable application of clearly
established federal law. (ECF No. 127 at PagelD 564(e asserts that the instructions were
incomplete, and Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(i¢guires that a defendant “knew or reasonably
should have known that such victim was av lanforcement officer, corrections official,
corrections employee, . . . engaged in the perfocmai official duties” befte he is subjected to
the aggravating circumstanceld.(at PagelD 5640-41.) He statit that the trial court failed
to charge thenens reaelement of the circumstanceld.(at PagelD 5641.)See Hugueleyl85

S.W.3d at 382.

23 Hugueley argues Claim E in conjunction w@kaim K(4), his ineffective assistance of
counsel claim related toithjury instruction. $eeECF No. 127 at PagelD 5640.)

85



Hugueley submits that the TSC’s substitution of its determination of the cnitersd rea
element of this aggravating circumstance with thfathe jury violates the clearly established
federal law ofApprendi v. New Jerse$30 U.S. 466 (2000), arRRing v. Arizona536 U.S. 584
(2002) (Id. at PagelD 5642.) He contends that #hetS necessary to increase the sentence are
the functional equivalent of aelement of the crime charged.d.j The inmate avers that
because this essential element of the aggjrayaircumstance was omitted, the jury never found
the i(9) circumstance. Id. at PagelD 5643

Hugueley asserts that the TSC'’s decision hasacterized trial testimony concluding that
he killed Steed because of his performance imdleeof a correctional employee and knowing that
the victim was engaged in the performance efdfficial duties wherHugueley stabbed him.
(Id.) Petitioner claims that that the TSC’s deteation that he admitted Steed was engaged in
official duties at the time of the murdeas unreasonable under 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d)(B]). af
PagelD 5644.) He contends that he amth Dunaway, an investigator for the Tennessee
Department of Corrections, perged testimony about Hugueley’'smie state and knowledge at
the time of the killing. 1¢l.) Although the inmate referred tbe victim as “Counselor Delbert
Steed,” he did not address his knowledge of vidtaed was doing at the time of the killingld.
Hugueley contends that his statements to Dungwaye that he did not consider Steed to have
been engaged in official duties$ the time of his death.ld() The prisoner told Dunaway that

Steed and “one of the little gang members thatalleed to a lot there” we “just settin’ there

4 This argument was not raised in thenfiessee courts and is not exhausted.
Additionally, the argument was not made in thédes petition and is inadequately pled under
Habeas Rule 2(c). In the state court, Hugueley relieRing and Apprendito assert that the
indictment failed to charge the capital offensdugueley 185 S.W.3d at 392-93.
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laughin’ and jokin’.” (d. at PagelD 5644-45eeECF No. 41-5 at PagelD 792.) Hugueley had
reported Steed several times and filed grievamaggsnst the counselor for not doing his job.
(ECF No. 127 at PagelD 5645.) ugleley asserts that he did ndt 8teed while he was engaged

in his official duties but because Steedef@ to fulfill his professional duties. Id.) Petitioner
argues that the state court determination thatadenitted that [Steed] was engaged in official
duties at the time Defendant killé@n” was an unreasonable deteration of the facts in light of

the evidence presented at trialld.Y He asserts that Steed was “engaged in inappropriate
non-official conduct with vaous gang members at the time of his deathd. gt PagelD 5646.)

Petitioner insists that the TSC’s harmlessre determination was contrary to and an
unreasonable applicatioof clearly established federal law iApprendi and Ring (Id.)
Hugueley asserts that the court violated this lawmih substituted its finding of the facts for that
of ajury. (d.)

The inmate argues that, even if applicatodrharmless error doctrine did not violate the
Constitution, the Tennessee court’s applicationhef harmless error rule was an unreasonable
application ofNeder v. United State$27 U.S. 1, 18-20 (1999).Id( at PagelD 5647.) He
observes that, iNeder the United States Supreme Cdorind harmless error where the omitted
element was supported by uncontroverted evident&) However, in his case, the TSC made
its decision based on an unreasole determination of facivhen there was contradictory
testimony at trial. Ifl. at PagelD 5647-48.) Hugueley argues tRatlerdoes not support a
finding of harmlessness. |d( at PagelD 5648.)

The claimant further asserts that he istlttito habeas reliefdzause the error was not

harmless undeBrecht. (Id. at PagelD 5649.) He claims that, if one juror had determined that he
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did not know that Steed was performing ofiiciduties, then the statutory aggravating
circumstance would ndtave applied. Id.) Petitioner contends that, in Tennessee, the negation
of any aggravating circumstance changes sgkatencing calculus because the aggravating
circumstances must outweigh the mitigatongumstances beyond a reasonable douht.) (He
argues that no court can determine how a yoyld have weighed the remaining aggravating
circumstances had the i(9) circumstance not bmgplied, and therefore, the error was not
harmless beyond a reasonable doubt uBdecht. (Id. at PagelD 5649-50.)

In reply, the Warden asserts that Hugueley ‘terdly demonstrate” that the erroneous
instruction was not harmless under eitBéapmanor Brecht (ECF No. 137 at PagelD 7685.)
He argues that Hugueley’s knowledge of thetinits employee status was evident from the
record, and the significance of this aggravatimgurnstance is “seriously diminished” by the fact
that three other aggravating circumstances remald.) (Respondent notes that the inmate
presented “virtually no mitigation evidence weeigh against” these aggravators making the
significance of the i(9aggravating circumstanceirtually nil.” (ld.)

The evidence at trial indicated that Huguel&s incarcerated at HCGIad that Steed was
his counselor. SeeECF No. 41-4 at PagelD 64€ee id at PagelD 686ee als&ECF No. 41-5 at
PagelD 789-90, 798-99, 8290 Hugueley noted the differemdn treatment at Corrections
Corporation of America and Tennessee Depantnté Corrections’ (DOC) facilities as he

explained why he had an altercatisith Steed, a correctional employee,

5 Hugueley states that “[t|h®tate can prove agast four (4) aggravated circumstances,
and there are NO legitimate miiting circumstances.” (ECF No. 41-5 at PagelD 830.)
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Cause, I've always been treated de[JceriOC. ... I've never had a problem

or altercation with an emgyee. | mean, that should say something about . . . why

in the hell am | going aftean employee of the prison.

(Id. at PagelD 796.)

Steed was working on the day of his muraled Hugueley was waiting to speak with the
counselor. That Steed was laughior joking with another innt@ or that Hugueley disagreed
with the manner in which Steed performed dhigies does not negateetlfinding that Hugueley
knew or should have known that Steed was a corrections officer engaged in the performance of his
official duties. GeeECF No. 41-5 at PagelD 819-22 (inmate grievances & request for white
cellmate);seeECF No. 41-4 at PagelD 649-50yglieley’s testimony about SteedgeECF No.

41-7 at PagelD 1183-91 (mitigation timeline docutm&nconflicts with Steed.) Hugueley has
not demonstrated that the TSC’s decision wasdasen unreasonable determination of facts in
light of the evidence present&d.

The burden on a habeas petitiomdno challenges an erronequsy instruction “is even
greater than that required to demoat&rplain error on direct appeal.Scott 209 F.3d at 882.
“Allegations of ‘trial error’ raised in challengesijtry instructions are reviewed for whether they
had a substantial and injuriousext or influence on the verdi@nd are subject to harmless-error

analysis.” Id. (footnote omitted)see Brecht507 U.S. at 638 (noting that the harmless error

standard applies to “constitutional error of the trial typ€9e v. Bell 161 F.3d 320, 335 (6th Cir.

%6 petitioner did not dispute the sufficiencytbé evidence related to the TSC's findings
on aggravating circumstances (Claim D), andGoert determined that the TSC’s decision was
reasonable undelackson However, he now asserts tlihé TSC's decision was based on an
unreasonable determination of facts in light of the evidence presented as it relates to this jury
instruction.
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1998) (applying théBrecht harmless-error standard of a salngial and injurious effect on the
verdict to determine whether habeas relief wapiired for a jury instruction). The relevant
guestion is whether the ailing instruction so inéelcthe entire trial thahe resulting conviction
violates due process—not merely whether th&riuction is undesirable, erroneous, or even
“universally condemned.” Henderson v. Kibhe431 U.S. 145, 154 (1977). “A habeas
petitioner’s burden of showing ptelice is especially heavy whanpetitioner claims that a jury
instruction was incomplete, because an omissioanancomplete instruction, is less likely to be
prejudicial than a misstatement of the lawttardaway v. Withrow305 F.3d 558, 565 (6th Cir.
2002). Federal habeas courts dogrant relief, as might a statpgellate court, simply because a
jury instruction may have been deficientaamparison to a model state instructioBstelle v.
McGuire 502 U.S. 62, 72 (1991).

In Neder the Supreme Court held that an instruction that omits an essential element is not
per seprejudicial error and th€hapmantest applies. Neder 527 U.S. at 8-11. liDavis v.
Ayala the Supreme Court addressed the tedritrerror in a collateral proceeding,

habeas petitioners are notidad to habeas relief sad on trial error unless they

can establish that it resulted in actual prejudice. Under this test, relief is proper

only if the federal court has grave doubbat whether a trial error of federal law

had substantial and injurious effect or ughce in determining the jury’s verdict.

There must be more than a reasonable possibility that the error was harmful. The

Brechtstandard reflects the view that a Siateot to be put to the arduous task of

retrying a defendant based on mere spéiomdhat the defendae was prejudiced

by trial error; the court must find thatthiefendant was actually prejudiced by the

error.
Davis v. Ayala 135 S. Ct. 2187, 2197-98 (2015) (intergalotations and citations omitted).

Where, as here, the evidence is sufficient to demonstrate that the aggravating circumstance was

satisfied, the State proved three other aggiiag circumstances, and Hugueley waived the
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presentation of mitigation evidence, the error mjtivor instruction did not have a substantial and
injurious effect or deprive the inmate of a fair trial.

The TSC'’s decision applying plain error rewi may not be entitled to AEDPA deference
as an adjudication on the meritSee Leonard846 F.3d at 851(addressing ambiguity about
AEDPA deference and @ih error review)see Fleming v. Metristb56 F.3d 520, 532 (6th Cir.
2009) (“[T]he heart of the disagement between ourselves andaigsenting colleague thus boils
down to whether a federal constitutional claim rewadvby a state court for ‘plain error’ can be
considered ‘adjudicated on the merits’ for fhgpose of receiving deference under AEDPA. To
our knowledge, there is no authority squarelypomt that decides thikey question. We are
persuaded, however, that we would be actiogtrary to Congress’s intent to have AEDPA
‘further the principles of coity, finality, and federalism,” ifwe simply ignored the Michigan
Court of Appeals’s evaluation of Fleming's$thiAmendment claim by reconsidering the isdee
nova”) (internal citation omitted)see also Langford v. Warde®65 F. App’x 388, 389 (6th Cir.
2016) (“The crux of the Supme Court’s decision iAyalais that courts on collateral review have
to give a heightened degree of deference to #ie sburt’s review of a Inaless error decision.”).
The TSC'’s decision is not contrary to or anreasonable application of clearly established
Supreme Court precedent and was not based on easamable determinatiarf facts in light of
the evidence presented. Everdemovaeview, the claim is without merit. Summary judgment
is GRANTED, and Claim E is DENIED.

F. Waiver of Mitigation Evidence

Hugueley alleges that thaair court erred by allowing hino waive the presentation of

mitigation evidence. (ECF No. 58 at PagelD 4665l asserts that this claim and the factual
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allegations supporting it were not raised in thdiomofor new trial, on diect appeal, or during
state post-conviction proceedings because: (1)dussel was ineffective at trial, on appeal and
during post-conviction proceeding®) Tennessee does not provateadequate post-conviction
remedy to raise these claims; and/or (3) thé taarrt denied post-conviction counsel adequate
process, including but not lited to funding, resources, arione, to challenge Hugueley’s
competency to waive post-convictionld.(at PagelD 4665-66.)

Respondent insists that this claim isogedurally defaulted and that Hugueley has
conceded he did not raise itstate court. (ECF No. 112-1RagelD 5466.) He contends that
the ineffective-assistance claims on which Huguedies to excuse procedural default are also
procedurally defaulted because the inmateved state post-conviction reviewld.(at PagelD
5467.) The Warden argues, based=dwards that an ineffective-assistance claim cannot serve
as cause to excuse a procedural default if that claim is also procedurally defaldtgdSeg
Edwards 529 U.S. at 453. Respondeasserts that Hugueley'dlemgations of ineffective
assistance do not provide a viable basis for excuia@r any other procedaity defaulted claim.
(Id.) He also maintains that the Court mustemdble Hugueley “to make good on his promise to
throw a monkey wrench’ into the process’ by pigting review of this claim for the first time on
federal habeas review via a manufactured inéffe@assistance claim that is also defaulted.”
(1d.)

Respondent asserts that this claim is igadéely pled under Habeas Rule 2(c) because
Hugueley does not provide authority, argumentaatifal support for his conclusory assertions.
(ECF No. 112-1 at PagelD 5478.) The inmatefaied to plead facts gyorting his claim under

Habeas Rule 2(c). SeeECF No. 58 at PagelD 4665.)
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Petitioner argues that the trial court impndpeallowed him to waive mitigation when it
was on notice of his incompetenc€ECF No. 127 at PagelD 5623 hle avers that a trial judge
must conduct a competency deteation where there is “laona fidedoubt as to a defendant’s
competence to stand trial.”ld() Relying onFiliaggi v. Bagley 445 F.3d 851, 858 (6th Cir.
2006), Hugueley claims that the test of whether a trial judge should have held a competency
hearing is “whether a reasonable judge, situatedvas the trial court judge whose failure to
conduct an evidentiary hearing is being reviewsobuld have experienced doubt with respect to
competency to stand trial.” Id)) Hugueley argues that relevaattors to this determination
include irrational behavior, demeanor in dpand medical opinions on competencyd.)(

The inmate contends that ttreal court had a bona fide doud$ to his competency based
on his irrational behavior each time he was in court, including:

e announcing his intention t@present himself;
e attempting to plead guilty to capital murder;
e announcing “attorneydon’t matter”;

e accepting appointment of counsel “as long as he don’'t come see me. He ain’t getting no
help out of me”;

e telling the trial court to “kiss mgss, that’s all I've got to say”;

e responding to his attorney’s request for ggh®logical evaluation by erupting, “are you
out of your fucking mind?”;

e calling his attorney a “spid son-of-a-bitch”;

e announcing that he would not talk to his calnbecause they were “trying to drag out
[his] future”; and

e stating that it was his “interth” to hamper his attorney’stampts to present a defense.
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(Id. at PagelD 56245eeECF No. 131-20 at PagelD 7509-%&g als&=CF No. 132-1 at PagelD at
PagelD 7522-23.)

The court approved funding for expert assist for determining Petitioner’'s competency
and brain scans, and Hugueley argihes the trial cours actions indicate th#ttere was a genuine
guestion about his competence. (ECF No. 12HagelD 5624.) He points out that Tennessee
Supreme Court Rule 13 requires a finding that there was a gessugenecessitating an expert for
the court to approve funding.Ild( at PagelD 5625.) Hugueleygaies that where there idbana
fide question about his competendyyiolates his constitiional right to a fairtrial for the trial
court to fail to hold a competency hearingd.)

Hugueley avers that the triaourt’'s colloquy about the waav of the presentation of
mitigation evidence did nothing to determine he was competent to make such a waiver and
consisted of the trial court asking him to affi his “understanding” of legal conceptsld. (at
PagelD 5625-26.) Petitioner contertdat the colloquy did not chetits capacity to assist in his
defense and that the colloquy did not addressdiationship with counsel, his understanding of
counsel’s role in the proceedings, his trust of coymsdiis ability and capacity to assist counsel.
(Id. at PagelD 5626-27.) Huguelesserts that, “[w]here theidl court failed to make a
competency determination but clearly hdsbaa fidequestion as to Mr. Hugueley’s competency,
the trial court erred in allowing Mr. Hugueleywaive presentation of mitigation evidence[,] and
Mr. Hugueley was prejudiced by that error becamseavas not in factompetent to waive the
post-conviction proceedings.” Id()

The inmate relies on his argument that ihisffective assistance afounsel claims are

properly before this Court to overcome theqadural default of the instant claimld.(at PagelD
94



5627;seeid. at PagelD 5598-5622.) The Warden agytleat Hugueley offers nothing new to
excuse the default of this claim other than a refezdo the default of his ineffective assistance of
counsel claims in Claims | and K. (ECF No. 137 at PagelD 7684.) Respondent contends that
Hugueley cannot establish cause excuse the default of &m F based on the ineffective
assistance of counsel claims thatthemselves procedurally defaultedld.)

Petitioner did not exhaust Claim F in state tourle did not exhaust a related ineffective
assistance of counsel claim and matnrely on an ineffective assance of counsel as cause to
excuse the procedural default of Clairfi’F.

The Supreme Court iSchriro v. Landrigan550 U.S. 465, 479 (200A&tated that it had
“never required a specific colloquy to ensure thdefendant knowingly and intelligently refused
to present mitigating evidence.” The defendanthat case, much like Hugueley, expressed a

desire to proceed with a deatimnce stating, “I think if you want to give me the death penalty,

2" Hugueley's counsel put mitigation evidenoe the record despite the trial court’s
acceptance of his client’s waiverSgeECF No. 41-5 at PagelD 730-33eeECF No. 41-7.)
Further, there is no indication that counsel was ineffective for following defendant’s wishes in not
presenting a mitigation caseSeeTyler v. Mitchel] 416 F.3d 500, 504 (6th Cir. 2005) (“[T]he
Constitution does not prohibit a competent capital defendant from waiving the presentation of
mitigation evidence.”)see also Ryder ex rel. Ryder v. Waryi®t0 F.3d 724, 748 (10th Circert.
denied sub nom. Ryder v. RoyBB7 S. Ct. 498 (2016) (findintdpat “counsel’s decision not to
investigate or present mitigating evidence wasnpletely determined by petitioner and was
within the realm of reasobé tactical decisions.”Ramirez v. Stephen41 F. App’x 312, 327
(5th Cir.),cert. denied sub norRamirez v. Davisl37 S. Ct. 279 (2016) ¢ting that “reasonable
jurists would not find that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance when counsel decided to
stop their mitigation case at Ramirez’'s request. Ramirez’s ‘directions were entitled to be
followed™); Wood v. Quartermam91 F.3d 196, 203-05 (5th C2007) (concluding there was no
ineffective assistance where counsel did notestjmid-trial competency determination based on
defendant’s decision to waive presentation of mitigation c&mgyleton v. Lockhart962 F.2d
1315, 1321 (8th Cir. 1992) (ruling that in the face of a defendant’s waiver of mitigating evidence,
defense counsel “was under no duty” to present a mitigation case).
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just bring it right on. I'm ready for it.” Id. at 479-480. The fact & Landrigan failed to
develop the claim in state coymtevented the district court frogranting an evidentiary hearing.

Id. at 479. Much like Landrigan, Hugueley prevented the presentation of mitigation evidence at
the trial court level and continued to thwart the presentation of that evidence on state
post-conviction review, resulting enfailure to exhaust his claims.

To the extent the inmate may contend theffective assistance of post-conviction counsel
establishes cause to excuse the procedural deé¥artinezdoes not apply to this trial error claim.
Hugueley has not otherwisstablished cause anceprdice or actual inreence to overcome the
procedural default of his tii@rror claim. Summary judgméis GRANTED, and Claim F is
DENIED based on procedural default.

Further, Hugueley has not shown that he m@scompetent at trial. The outbursts cited
occurred at the arraignment on May 9, 2002, and a motion hearing on December 4,2002. (
ECF No. 121-20 at PagelD 750%eECF No. 132-1 at PagelD 4509 jis trial was more than
nine months later in Septemt#003, and he was determined tocoenpetent to stand trial. Sée
ECF No. 41-4 at PagelD 625.) Hugueley doesdmyute his competence to testify or to stand
trial, but only his competence to waive mitigation. He has not pointed to behavior, demeanor, or
outbursts at trial that might haagerted the court about his coetence. Further, Hugueley was
determined to be competent in subsequent tedénpite his unwillingness to participate in mental

evaluations and pursue post-conviction appedlate relief from his death senterige.

?8 The first expert report opining that Hugueley was incompétestand trial was written
on September 17, 2014, by George Woods, M.D.dasehis evaluations dlugueley in 2001,
2011, 2013, and 2014.S¢eECF No. 127-4 at PagelD 5788.)
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Courts have found that unaperativeness and even outbsirBom defendants do not
equate to incompetence or concerns about mental capacitlleinv. Sec'y, Florida Dep’t of
Corr., 611 F.3d 740, 765 (11th Cir. 2010), the Elevedittcuit noted that tl fact the defendant
chose death was his right:

Allen, a mentally competent, intelégt defendant, having been convicted
of a brutal murder, faced life imprisonmemtdeath. Insisting on doing things his
way, he chose death and prevented his counsel from attempting to secure a life
sentence through the development anes@ntation of mitigating circumstances
evidence. Thatis not a choice that nuetple would have made, but it is one that
he had the right to make, and he madeltintarily and with full awareness of the
consequences.

The Sixth Circuit inCowans v. Bagley639 F.3d 241 (6th Cir. 2011), found it reasonable
for the trial court not to ordex competency exam based on thieddant’s demeanor at trial,

Also unavailing is Cowans’ challenge tcetdistrict court’s decision not to order
him to undergo a competency examinatiinbefore or dumg trial “sufficient
doubt” arises about a defendant’s corepee—"the capacity to understand the
nature and object of the proceedings agahim, to consult with counsel, and to
assist in preparing his defense”—the tdailirt should order a agpetency hearing.
“There are, of course, fixed or immutable signs” ahcompetence, the standard
is a high one, and the relevant fastet‘evidence of a dendant’s irrational
behavior, his demeanor at trialand any prior medical opinion on
competence’—"“are difficult to evaluate. These open-ended standards and the
high threshold for establishing incompetemgiee state courts wide latitude in a
habeas case. When virtually everythiisgpotentially relevant and nothing is
dispositive, reasonable minds occasionatiay come to different conclusions
about whether to hold a competency hearing.

That at most is what happened here. Although Cowans’ demeanor at trial
and his decision not to present mitigatievidence raised concerns about his
mental capacity, the state appellate codetermined that the trial court did not
have to order a competency exam, a reasonable determination in view of the
universe of relevant circumstances. Nafi€Cowans’ outbursts suggested he was
“incompetent,” meaning incapable ahderstanding the nature of the charges
against him or assisting in his defen€ewans has no significant mental history,
whether before the trial or since. At thelgphase of the trial, he showed himself
capable of self control andddhot have any outbursts.dtutbursts before trial and
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at the penalty phase also were nottiorzal, as they coincided with negative
developments in the proceedings. Hikdaor—requesting new counsel and angry
outbursts at the jury, judge and counsel-ddue read in one of two ways: as
evidence of mental incompetence orasf angry, hostile personality. The trial
court, which had the benefit of interaiwith Cowans, concluded that he acted
out of pique, not out of mental incompate. That was a reasonable determination
on this record.

Nor does the evidence obtainedcsintrial undermine the trial court’s
decision.

Cowans 639 F.3d at 247-48 (citations omitted).

The record indicates th#te psychologist found Hugueley competent although he may
suffer some disorders. S€eECF No. 41-4 at PagelD 625.) Hevals insisted that he was guilty
and that he wanted the death penaltid. §t PagelD 631.) There is no indication from the trial
transcript that Hugueley was incompetent to walinepresentation of mitigation or that the trial
court committed a constitutional error.

Claim F is procedurally deféted, without merit, and DENIED.

G. Weighing of Aggravating & Mitigating Circumstances

Petitioner asserts that ethproof presented for the gmvating circumstances was
insufficient to outweigh the mitigating circumstas “presented in the guilt/innocence portion of
the trial.” (ECF No. 58 at B@ID 4666.) The TSC addressed this claim on direct app&sde (
id.) The court opined:

C. Aggravating Circumstances Odweigh Mitigating Circumstances
After the close of the State’s qof during the sentencing phase of

Defendant’s trial, and while the jury waut, the trial court questioned Defendant

about his decision regarding the preseotaof proof of mitgating circumstances.

Defendant stated that he did not wantéwsyers to present any proof of mitigating

circumstances. Furthermore, Defendahbse not to testify on his own behalf
during the sentencing phase. Accordinghg defense presented no proof during
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the sentencing phase of Defendant’s trial of any mitigating circumstances that
might counteract the State’s proof of amgating circumstances. The only proof in
the nature of mitigating circumstances presented during the guilt phase of
Defendant’s trial was Defendant’s testimabout how the victim had treated him.

We conclude that the State’s pradfaggravating cinamstances outweighs
any mitigating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt.

See Hugueleyl85 S.W.3d at 383.

The Warden argues that the TSC’s detertronavas not contrary tor an unreasonable
application of clearly established federal law a@$ based on a reasonable determination of facts
and that Hugueley’s claim is ineguately pled andchsuld be dismissed under Habeas Rule 2(c).
(ECF No. 112-1 at PagelD 5458, 5478.) Responaesgrts that Hugueley offers no argument or
factual basis to support his claim and has nstldsed what mitigation facts or evidence stack
against or outweigh the applicalalggravating circumstancesld.] Without any explanation of
his objection to the state court’s decision, the Waridsists that Hugueley has not shown that the
decision was unreasonableld.(at PagelD 5458.)

The inmate has failed to plead facts sufipgrhis claim under Habeas Rule 2(c)Seé
ECF No. 58 at PagelD 4666.) Further, hes m@t presented an argument for Claim G in
opposition to the motion for summary judgment.

Like for Claim D,Jackson v. Virginiais the relevant Supren@ourt precedent to analyze
the sufficiency of the evidence related the weighing of aggravating and mitigating
circumstances. There was sufficient probthe four aggraating circumstanceseesupra pp.
74-80, and the only potentially mitigating eeitte presented to the jury was Hugueley’'s
statements about his miticts with Steed. Hugueley 185 S.W.3d at 383. The evidence was

more than sufficient to permit a rational trierfa€t to find that the aggravating circumstances
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outweighed the mitigating circumstances beyomneasonable doubt. The TSC’s decision is not
contrary to or an unreasonaleplication of clearly establisie&Supreme Court precedent and is
based on a reasonable determination of factBght of the evidence presented. Summary
judgment is GRANTED, and Claim G is DENIED.

H. Death is a Disproportionate Penalty

Hugueley asserts that the death sentencksgoportionate to # penalty imposed in
similar cases and incorporates by referencel®€’'s decision on direct appeal without further
explanation. (ECF No. 58 at PagelD 466@he TSC conducted a proportionality review to
identify “aberrant, arbitrary, arapricious sentencing by deternmgiwhether the death sentence is
‘disproportionate to the punishment imposed on others convicted of the same crigiieley

185 S.W.3d at 384 (citin§tate v. Bland958 S.W.2d 651, 662 (Tenn. 1997 The court noted

the relevant factorS, considered other cases, and stated that it had upheld the death penalty in

numerous cases where the sole aggravating ce#teunte was the defendanpisor conviction of a

29 The TSC defined the factors to be considethe proportionalityeview of Hugueley's
sentence,

In reviewing the applicable pool of cases, we consider numerous factors regarding
the offense: 1) the means of death;t{l® manner of death; (3) the motivation for

the killing; (4) the place ofleath; (5) the victim’sge, physical condition, and
psychological condition; (6) the absence or presence of premeditation; (7) the
absence or presence of provocation; (&) @bsence or presence of justification;
and (9) the injury to and effect upon non-decedent victims. In addition, we
consider numerous factors about thdeddant: (1) prior éminal record or
activity; (2) age, race, and gender; (3)mad emotional, and physical condition;

(4) role in the murder; (5) cooperation walthorities; (6) leel of remorse; (7)
knowledge of the victim’s Hplessness; and (8) poteaitfor rehabilitation.

Hugueley 185 S.W.3d at 384 (citation omitted).
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violent felony offense and alswhere the jury applied théeinous, atrocious, and cruel
aggravating circumstance for the stabbing death of a victonat 384-87. The TSC determined
that Hugueley’s sentence was “moicessive or disproportionate.ld. at 387.

The Warden argues that comparative propoality review is not constitutionally
mandated. (ECF No. 112-1 at PagelD 5458He insists that the TSC's comparative
proportionality review was not caary to or an unreasonable apption of clearly established
federal law or based on an unreasdaaetermination of facts. Id.) Respondent contends that
the court reasonably appli€tllley v. Harris 465 U.S. 37 (1984), tooaclude that the capital
sentence was not arbitrary where Hugueley:

(1) armed himself with a weapon he hadated specifically to use against another

human being; (2) walked up behind thateel and unarmed victim, a corrections

counselor, and began repeatedly stabbing himing initially for the victim’s vital

organs; (3) stabbed the victim thirty-six times; (4) committed the Killing

intentionally and with premeditation; (5) expressed no remorse for the killing; (6)

made clear that he would commit thdikg) again if given te opportunity; and (7)

had killed two other persons and attempted to kill a third person.

(Id. at PagelD 5459.) Respondent notes that Hugtnels offered no argumeot factual basis to
support this claim and has not shown ttha TSC’s decision was unreasonabléd.) (

Respondent further maintains that the mlas not cognizabldecause proportionality
review is not constitionally required undePulley and that the argument pertains solely to the
state court’s application of Tennesss capital sentencing statuteld. @t PagelD 5474-76.) The
Warden avers that the claim is inadequatdld under Habeas Rule 2(c) because Hugueley

provides no authority, argument, factual support that his sentenis disproportionate to the

penalty in similar cases. Id( at PagelD 5479.)
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In response to the motion for summary judgmestjtioner states thdte is entitled to
habeas relief on this claim because the €emee court considered race in making the
determination. (ECF No. 127 at PagelD 5660.) oHeerves that clear Supreme Court precedent
forbids the consideration of race in sentencing decisioit. at(PagelD 5660-61.) The inmate
citesRose v. Mitchell443 U.S. 545, 555 (1979), &ssert that “[d]iscrinmation on the basis of
race, odious in all aspects, is especially pavos in the administration of justice.”Id( at PagelD
5661.) He referencd®atsonto argue that the United Stategpreme Court has “committed itself
to ‘unceasing efforts’ seeking to eradicate from the criminal justice process any consideration of
race.” (d. at PagelD 5660.) Relying afant v. Stephengt62 U.S. 862 (1983), Petitioner
maintains that the United States Supreme Coulttagtkp prohibits consideation of race during a
sentencing decision. Id; at PagelD 5661.) Hugueley contls that the TSC disregarded the
Supreme Court’'s admonition on eieating racial prejudice in theriminal justice process when
performing proportionality reviewn a capital case and “includf] in its calculus intuitive
feelings its members harbor resting the defendant’s race.”ld()

Hugueley claims that Tennessee’s proportionadityew is contrary talearly established
federal law. Id.) He notes that Tennessee Codendtated § 39-13-206(c)(1)(D) requires a
direct review of a capital case to detereniwvhether a death sentence is excessive or
disproportionate to the sentencepimsed in similar cases considwyithe nature of the crime and
the defendant. Iq. at PagelD 5662.) The inmate argues the TSC considered the defendant’s
race in its review, admitted thatetiheview was not an “objectivestg’ and that it did not employ
“mathematical or scientific techniques.”ld) According to Petitioner, to assist the appellate

court with review, the trial aurt provided a form that specifically asked his race, and in
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performing the review, the TSC stated that it vdozodnsider various faats including Hugueley’s
race. (d.at PagelD 5663.) The inmate contendsitiannot be disputed that race entered into
the decision that his death sentence was prap@ate to sentences givethers in Tennessee.
(Id.) He asserts that “[w]hile injecting racialeglilections into any capital sentencing decision
offends the Federal Constitution, incorpangti such biases in proportionality review
unequivocally violates clearkystablished federal law.” Id)

To bolster his argument that his sentence was disproportionate to the penalty in similar
cases, he cites three cases in which the defen@dangiven a life senteneeénere a prison guard or
correctional officer was killed. Id. at PagelD 5663-64.)

The Warden asserts that Hugueley fails tpaesd to the argumentdhthis claim does not
present a cognizable basis for federal habeaswebecause comparative proportionality is not
required by the Constitution. (ECF No. 137 at PAg&85.) Respondent contends that without
such a response, he is entitledstomnmary judgment on this claim.ld( at PagelD 7686.) He
maintains that the egregious nature of Hugueley’secand the aggravating factors is evident, that
“[h]e has killed twice before and finally receivadcapital sentence afteepeatedly stabbing a
prison counselor with a homemade weaponld.) (

The comparative proportionality review that the TSC conducted to determine whether the
death sentence was imposed in an arbitrary fashion is not constitutionally mandated. The United
States Supreme Court has heldttthe Constitution does not reguproportionality review, but
only requires proportionality begen the punishment and the aeinmot between the punishment
in this instance and that exacted in other cadeglley, 465 U.S. at 50. “There is no federal

constitutional requirement that state appellate court conduct a comparative proportionality
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review.” McQueen v. Scroggy9 F.3d 1302, 1333-34 (6th Cir. 199@yerruled on other
grounds byin re AbdurRahman392 F.3d 174 (6th Cir. 2004ee Hall v. BelINo. 2:06-CV-56,
2010 WL 908933, at *44-45 (E.D. Tenn. Mar. 12, 200@}ihg that a comparative proportionality
review by state appeals courts is not dedaby the Constitution). The Supreme Court has
generally rejected claims thatpetitioner's death sentence ismhoportionate to the sentences
received by individuals constied of similar crimes. See, e.gMcCleskey v. Kem@81 U.S. 279,
306 (1987) (“[W]here the statutoprocedures adequately chantted sentencer’s discretion [in
imposing the death penalty], such proportionaligview [of a death sgence to sentences
imposed in similar cases] is not constitutionally require®rgffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 254
(1976) (rejecting challenge baksen prosecutor’s discretiongregg v. Georgia428 U.S. 153,
199 (1976) (rejecting claim thatsdiretionary decision making with respect to the imposition of
capital punishment, including the fact that “thatstprosecutor has unfettered authority to select
those persons whom he wishes to prosecute ¢apdal offense and to plea bargain with them,”
violates the Eighth Amendment) “Since proportionality reviewis not required by the
Constitution, states have great latitude in defining the pool of cases used for comparison”,
therefore, “limiting proportionalityeview to other cases alreadiycided by the reviewing court in
which the death penalty has been imposed” falls within this wide latitWdidliams v. Bagley
380 F.3d 932, 962-63 (6th Cir. 2004) (citing seyeior Sixth Circuit cases that have upheld
Ohio’s limited proportionality review against constitutional challengess;Smith v. Mitchelb67
F.3d 246, 261 (6th Cir. 2009) (finding that the Bicircuit has rejected habeas challenges to

Ohio’s system of proportionality review§ee also Cael61 F.3d at 351-52 (explaining that the
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Tennessee mandatory death-penaliyeng statute did not create a liheinterest or a due process
right in proportionality review).

Hugueley failed to plead race as an impermisdiéattor or make amqual protection claim
in his Second Amended Petition. This aspetti®proportionality revievelaim is inadequately
pled under Habeas Rule 2(c).

Further, the mere consideration of raceaafactor to determine the proportionality of
Hugueley’'s sentence to sentemcén similar case is not stiriminatory. Comparative
proportionality review is consated “an additional safeguard aagst arbitrary or capricious
sentencing” and used to prevent the constaeraof impermissible factors in sentencingee
Pulley, 465 U.S. at 45. Race was not an issuéhercomparison cases used by the TSC for
proportionality review. See Hugueleyl85 S.W.3d at 384-87. The TSC focused on cases were
the death sentence was imposed for the murdeicofrections officer cgmployee, a deputy, and
a fellow inmate; where the sole aggravating cirstance was the defendant’s prior conviction of a
violent felony offense; and where the victim vesabbed to death and the jury applied the heinous,
atrocious, or cruel aggravating circumstandd. Based on these legitimate factors, the TSC
found that Hugueley’'s death sentence was ptapate. There has been no constitutional
violation.

Summary judgment is GRANTERNd Claim H is DENIED.

l. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel -nvestigation, Preparation & Penalty
Phase Defense (Claims | & K)

In response to the motion for summary judgmeetitioner argues Claims | and K jointly

asserted that his trial counsel were ineffectivefdding to investigate and present proof that he

105



was incompetent to stand trial and to waive ghesentation of mitigation evidence. (ECF No.
127 at PagelD 5551.)

In Claim I, Hugueley allegethat his counsel rendered ffextive assistance in their
investigation of and preparation for his captase. (ECF No. 58 at PagelD 4666.) He claims
that his trial attorneys Michi&ibson and T.J. Jones failed to:

1. fully investigate, raise, and litigate his coetgncy to waive the presentation of mitigating
evidence;

2. investigate and discover the issues that weueial to determining whether Hugueley was
competent to stand trial, assist in his defense, and waive mitigation;

3. fully investigate his sociahistory in compliance with the American Bar Association
Guidelines for the Appointment and Performoa of Defense Counsel in Death Penalty
Cases;
4. retain the proper experts fpre-trial consultation; and
5. investigate the circumstances surroundinggtieley’s prior violent convictions which
were used to support the statyt aggravating circumstancescluding the investigation
of the deaths of his mother and Jamesltéh and the circumstances surrounding the
attempted murder of Timerall Nelson.
(Id. at PagelD 4666-72.) The inmate contends that his counsel would have discovered that he
was incompetent to waive mitigation and thagréhwas a reasonable probability that the jury
would not have convicted him dirst-degree murder and/orrgenced him to death had his
counsel performed the tasks described abo&ee {dat PagelD 4666-72.)

In Claim K, Hugueley alleges that his coahsendered ineffecter assistance in their
defense at the penalty phase by failing to:

1. fully investigate his sociahistory in compliance with the American Bar Association

Guidelines for the Appointment and Performoa of Defense Counsel in Death Penalty
Cases;
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2. investigate and challenge thialidity of any of Hugueley'sonvictions for prior violent
crimes which were used as aggravatirgumstances during the penalty phase;

3. move for a hearing and establish that Hugpelas incompetent to waive the presentation
of mitigation evidence; and

4. object to the trial court’s consing and unconstitutional insttion to the jury regarding
the aggravating circumstance whereaection employee is a victim.

(Id. at PagelD 4673-76.)
Petitioner claims that had his counseldstigated, they would have discovered:

e he was incompetent to waive the presentation of mitigating evidence;

he used PCP, marijuana and alcohol, séyangpacting his cognitive processing on the

day that he shot his mother;

He was unable to form the necessary mesttgk required for first degree murder;

He was insane at the texof these incidents;

He was not competent to stand trial;

He was not competent to enter a plea;

He was misinformed that his brain tumor was fatal and pled guilty only because he

believed death was imminent;

With Nelson, he was acting in self-defense; and

e The grand juries that indicted Hugueleyrevémproperly constituted because blacks and
women had been systematically ext#d as grand jury forepersons.

(Id. at PagelD 4674-76.)
1. The Strickland Standard
A claim that ineffective assistance of couriges deprived a habepstitioner of his Sixth
Amendment right to counsel is corited by the standard statedSirickland v. Washingto#66
U.S. 668 (1984). To demonstrate deficigmegrformance by counsel, a petitioner must
demonstrate that “counsel’s repeatation fell below an objectivetandard of r@sonableness.”
Strickland 466 U.S. at 687—88. “A court consideringam of ineffective assistance must apply

a ‘strong presumption’ that counsel’s represemtawas within the ‘wi@ range’ of reasonable
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professional assistance.Richter, 562 U.S. at 104 (citintrickland 466 U.S. at 689). “The
challenger’'s burden is to shotthat counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not
functioning as the “counsel” guaranteed thefendant by the Sixth Amendment.id. (quoting
Strickland 466 U.S. at 687). To demonstrate pregadia prisoner must tablish “a reasonable
probability that, but for counselisnprofessional errors, the résof the proceeding would have
been different.”Strickland 466 U.S. at 694° “A reasonable probély is a probability
sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcoméd. “It is not enough ‘to show that the
errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceedRgliter, 562 U.S. at 104
(quoting Strickland 466 U.S. at 693). “Counsel’s erraraist be ‘so serious as to deprive the
defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliableld. (quotingStrickland 466 U.S. at 687).
“SurmountingStricklands high bar is never an easy taskPadilla v. Kentucky559 U.S. 356,
371 (2010).
2. Procedural Default
Hugueley states that Claims | and K wereragted in the state cdyproceedings because:

(1) his post-conviction counsel veeineffective; (2) Tennessames not provide an adequate

post-conviction remedy; and (3) the trial courhigel him adequate process to challenge his

competence to waive post-conviction, inchglifunding resources and time to assert the

challenge. (ECF No. 58 at PagelD 4672, 4677.)

30 «IA] court need not first dermine whether counsel’s perfnance was deficient before

examining the prejudice suffered by the defendar@ttickland 466 U.S. at 697. If a reviewing
court finds a lack of prejudice, it need not deteenwhether, in fact,aunsel’s performance was
deficient. Id.
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The Warden argues that Hugueley canbet permitted to manufacture a winning
ineffective assistance claim by sadbgihg his defense and that theurt should not enable him to
“throw a ‘monkey wrench’ into the process iEhiequest was not honored.” (ECF No. 112-1 at
PagelD 5468, 547 See Hugueley2011 WL 2361824, at *17. Respondent submits that the
Court should deny these claims as procedurallyutkefa if it declires to find them time barred or
subject to dismissal based on the Warden’sondb dismiss. (ECNo. 112-1 at PagelD 5468,
5471.)

The Warden asserts that Claims I(1 & ) &(3) related to Hugueley’s competence and
the waiver of mitigation are procedurallyfdelted. (ECF No. 137 at PagelD 7669.) He
contends that the inmate had no right to posiviction review, to postanviction counsel, or to
dictate the manner in which he would be akal to waive post-conviction proceedingdd. @t
PagelD 7669-70.) Respondent argues that Hagisearguments to oveome the procedural
default address “the adequacy and reliabilityhef resources and process afforded to determine
his competency” and that a state court’s deieation of competence is a factual finding owed
deference. I¢.)

Respondent insists that the state court’s findings must be upheld unless there is clear and
convincing evidence to the contraryld.] This Court’s review oHugueley’s competence to
waive post-conviction review, sayfse Warden, is confined tbe state court record.Id()

Relying on Richter Respondent asserts thhabeas relief is precluded so long as
fair-minded jurists could disagree on therectness of the state court decisionid.)( He states
that the TCCA offered an in-depth discussion on its finding that Hugueley was competent to

waive post-conviction review, reasonably deelmhim competent to waive post-conviction
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review, and determined that his waivesis knowing, voluntary, and intelligent.ld(at PagelD
7671-79.) See Hugueley2011 WL 2361824, at *36-43.

Respondent notes that Huguekeghallenge to thstate court’s competency determination
is not a claim in the federal habeas petitiohd. &t PagelD 7679.) He claims that the inmate’s
challenge to the competency determination asldtes to the adequacy of state post-conviction
proceedings is not an issue that is cognizable on federal habeas reldeat PagelD 7679-80.)

With regard to the ineffective assistancegdl®ons in Claims 1(4)rad K(2) about his prior
violent convictions, the Warden maintains ttta&# new evidence Hugueley offers to excuse the
procedural default does not establthe merits of these ineffective assistance claims. (ECF No.
127 at PagelD 7684.) Respondent relies onsthge court's competency determination and
contends that Hugueley’s defailiis solely a product of hisatision to forego asserting these
claims in state court.” Id.)

a. The State Court Claims

The Warden contends that Claims | and K waseraised in the motion for new trial, on
direct appeal, or during th&tate post-conviction proceedinggECF No. 58 at PagelD 4672,
4677.) He asserts that Claitnasnd K first “appeared under &ims 7 through 10 of the amended
post-conviction petition.” (EF No. 137 at PagelD 7682eECF No. 42-1 at PagelD 1643-47.)

Hugueley’s counsel filed an Amended Petitfon Post-Conviction Relief on January 3,
2007, which raised several ineffective assistance clairBeeECF No. 42-1 at PagelD 1622-82.)
Claims 7 through 10 addressed ineffective assistaelated to the guithase defense including
counsel’s failure to present evidence of thmate’s diminished capacity, brain damage, mental

illness, and lifelong trauma (social history)ld. (@t PagelD 1641-42.)
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In Claim 14 of that petition, Hugueley allegét his counsel were ineffective for failing
to move for a hearing on his competency to stand trial and to waive presentation of mitigation
evidence. Ifl. at PagelD 1643.) The claim asserts tmatsuffered brain damage and mental
illness, which “affect his capacity to makaowing, intelligent, voluntary, and competent
decisions regarding his legal affairs.’ld.(at PagelD 1644.) The petition notes Hugueley’s head
injuries, brain surgery, CT scan, threats to hamself, behaviorsral psychological problems,
and psychiatric treatment.ld( at PagelD 1644-47.) He argued that

[c]ounsel were aware that Mr. Huguglis prone to paranoid ideation and
transient psychotic symptoms when undezss. He has a history of impulsivity
which is likely biologically baed; he suffers a severe mental disease as well. Mr.
Hugueley’s judgment and impulse controé aeverely impairedn a continuing
basis.

Nonetheless, counsel did mabve for a competencyehring prior to trial or
before Mr. Hugueley was permitted to waive presentation of mitigating
circumstances. Counsel did not inform Mr. Hugueley of the full results of the
limited mitigation investigation performelefore the trial, thus precluding him
from making a knowing, intefient, and voluntary waivesf his right to present
mitigating evidence. It has only been since he was sentenced to death that Mr.
Hugueley has been provided witletresults of that investigation.

Mr. Hugueley was in fact incompatt to stand trial and to waive
mitigation, which would have been discovered had appropriate measures been
taken.

(Id. at PagelD 1647.)

This claim is essentially the same as Cl&in& 2), and Claim K(3)also addresses the
social history aspects raised in Claims 1(3) &(tl). Hugueley waived these claims in the state
post-conviction proceedings. Evidence was dgyad in the post-conwion proceedings about

his competence, and his refusal to cooperate with experts prdvibie further development of

evidence. The reason for the staburt’s failure to har these claims was Hugueley’s desire to
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withdraw them, and his subsequéaiture to exhaust the claims at the appellate levSleeltCF
Nos. 43-7 & 43-12.) See Hugueley2011 WL 2361824, at *3-26.

When he attempted to revoke his waiver of the post-conviction proceedings after the time
period had expired, the TCChound that Hugueley’'s “decisn to resume post-conviction
proceedings may be understood as a part @fRétitioner’s continuing course of conduct of
attempting to manipulate the system and ptdtes conditions ohis incarceration.” Id. at *20.

The court noted that he sought posnviction relief to continue visitation with hggrlfriend and

spread feces on the walls to protest jail conditiois. The TCCA said Hugueley “now seeks to
protest the limitation placed by the prison on his telephone use by seeking to resume
post-conviction proceedings.’ld.

Additionally, the TCCA addresed the denial of theriding for experts stating:

The post-conviction court found that the Petitioner had no constitutional
right to expert assistan@e preparing for his competey hearing and that he was
not entitled to funding for his requestesperts pursuant to Tennessee Supreme
Court Rules. Under Rule 15, section 5(b)@ounsel must make “every effort” to
locate and retain experts within 150 miles of the court. The post-conviction court
denied funding for a neuropsychologist,ur@sychiatrist, and pharmacologist
because counsel failed to sufficiently settidheir efforts to locate experts within
150 miles of the court. Witlespect to the Petitionersquest for a pharmacologist,
the court also determined that a psyafsator neuropsychologist should have
sufficient expertise to address any isstiest might arise regarding psychiatric
drugs. The court denied the request Brvain-imaging because current brain
imaging technology would not have been &lae to the Petitioner’s trial counsel.
The court further found that any evidencattmight be gleaned from the use of
such imaging would not be relevant toiaaffective assistare of counsel claim.
However, the court did not address the nieedeurological imaging with regard
to ascertaining the Petitioner’'s competency.

Id. at *22.
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The TCCA noted the post-conviction courg€forts to evaluate Hugueley’s competency
by initially choosing two expertshe situation with Hutson bay mistakenly compensated by the
State, Brown’s inability to complete the ewafion in a timely manner, and the subsequent
appointment of Seidner as an expeltl. The TCCA acknowledged thake v. Oklahoma470
U.S. 68, 77 (1985), established ghti to access to a “competenygisiatrist who will conduct an
appropriate examination and assist in evaluagwaparation, and presentation of the defense.”
Hugueley 2011 WL 2361824, at *23 (citingke 470 U.S. at 83). The court recognized that
Panettiestablishes a “defendant’s rigb be heard and presented réhiidvidence with respect to
a[] court-appointed expert's competency det@ation,” but found that it did not “create a
constitutional guarantee of funding for a rebuexpert of the Petitioner's choosingld. at
*23-24. The court also noted that Hugueley had no constitutional right to the appointment or the
effective assistance of post-coodn counsel and declined h& Petitioner’sinvitation to
overlook the express absence of each of these tgkteddenly create an ancillary constitutional
right at a competency hearitgthe mental health expegsd testing of his choosing.'ld. at *24.

b. Martinez

Hugueley failed to exhaust any ineffective assistance claims in the state courts and relies
on Martinez v. Ryan566 U.S. 1, 17 (2012), in part, tavercome the procedural default.
Specifically, he asserts that ineffective assistasf post-conviction counsehused the procedural
default of the following gbstantial claims of ineffective assiate of trial counsel related to his
competence and the waiver of the presentation of mitigation evidence: Claims 1(1), 1(2), and
K(1)(a), related to proof of kjueley’s incompetence and waivettlod presentation of mitigation

evidence. (ECF No. 127 at PagelD 5616-17.)
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In 2012, the Supreme Court rendered its decisidviartinez which recognized a narrow
exception to the rule stated@oleman “[w]here, under state law, cltas of ineffective assistance
of trial counsel must be raised in antial-review collateral proceeding . . . .Martinez 566 U.S.
at 17. In such cases, “a procedural default moll bar a federal habeas court from hearing a
substantial claim of ineffective assistance of colis@ the initial-review collateral proceeding,
there was no counsel or counselthat proceeding was ineffective.ld. The Supreme Court
emphasized that “[t]he rule @olemangoverns in all but the limited circumstances recognized
here. . . . It does not extend to attorneyrsrino any proceeding beyond the first occasion the
State allows a prisoner to raise a claim of ineffective assistance at trial .Id. at 16. The
requirements that must be satisfied to excuse a procedural defaulMartieezare:

(1) the claim of “ineffective assistancettfl counsel” was a “substantial” claim

(2) the “cause” consisted tiere being “no counsel” anly “ineffective” counsel

during the state collateral review proceer (3) the state collateral review

proceeding was the “initial” review proceeding in respect to the

“ineffective-assistance-of-trial-counsel claim”; and (4) state law requires that an

“ineffective assistance of trial counsel [claim] . . . be raised in an initial-review

collateral proceeding.”

Trevino v. Thalerl33 S. Ct. 1911, 1918 (2013) (quotiMartinez 566 U.S. at 12-18)) (emphasis
and revisions in the original).

InTreving 133 S. Ct. at 1921, the Supre@ourt extended its holding Martinezto states

in which a “state procedural framework, byasen of its design and operation, makes it highly

31 To be “substantial” undekartinez a claim must have “some merit’ based on the
controlling standard for ineffectivassistance of counsel state@inickland Martinez 566 U.S.
at 14;see Miller-El v. Cockrel537 U.S. 322, 336 (2003) (“[R]emsable jurists could debate
whether (or, for that matter, agree that) thetjpetishould have been resolved in a different
manner or that the issues presented were adelgpuadserve encouragement to proceed further.”)
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unlikely in a typical case thatdefendant will have a meaningfopportunity to raise a claim of
ineffective assistance of trial counsel onedirappeal . . . .”" Thus, the decision iffrevino
modified the fourth requirement unddartinezfor overcoming a procedural default. Saotton v.
Carpenter 745 F.3d 787 (6th Cir. 2014) glsixth Circuit held that irieective assistance of state
post-conviction counsel can establsause to excuse a Tennessemoper’'s procedural default of
a substantial federal habeas claim that his trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective.

The Warden asserts thdartinezdoes not apply to these defaulted ineffective assistance
claims because the default ig attributable to postonviction counsel. (ECF No. 137 at PagelD
7682.) He argues that Hugueley'sule to waive collateral revieproceedings is documented in
the state court record.ld() Thus, Respondent contends that Hugueley’s claims fall outside the
purview ofMartinez (Id. at PagelD 7682-83.)

Further, Respondent insists that Hugueley chesiablish that these claims are substantial
under Martinez. (Id. at PagelD 7683.) He contendstttcounsel investigated Hugueley’s
competency and deemed him competent to stand tridl) {Trial counsel filed a substantial
mitigation report including copious details abélugueley’s social, criminal, and psychological
history. (d.) Respondent notes that the only appaimpediment to Hugueley’s trial and
appellate counsel’s invegation was his refusal to communicate or cooperate with counsel or
experts. Id.) Consequently, Hugueley’s counsel canpetfaulted for relying on the experts
who they consulted, and Hugueley should not bevaitbto benefit from his decision to waive the
presentation of claims or evidence in state couttl.) (Respondent furtimeargues that the
inmate has failed to timely disclose any evidence now offered in support of his defaulted

ineffective assistance claims.d.{
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Hugueley maintains that his ganviction counsel were iffective in developing these
claims. He contends that fpest-conviction counsel’s constitutially inadequate representation
prevented him from having the necessary evidendeeapert assistance, inding brain scans, to
prove these ineffective assistanof trial counsel claims. Id. at PagelD 5615.) He asserts that
because his post-conviction counsel failed to adioettee state rules for funding experts, the state
court denied the requests for braitans and expert assistanced.) ( Hugueley focuses on the
post-conviction court’s denial of funding foa neuropsychologist, neopsychiatrist, and
pharmacologist because counsel failed to set thdi efforts to locate experts within 150 miles
of the court. Id.) See Hugueley011 WL 2361824, at *21. Heatins that his post-conviction
counsel’s failures to located gjified experts within the ggraphic region specified by the
Tennessee rules and provide documentation of those efforts constitute deficient performance, and
counsel did not have any strategic reason for failing to comply with the Tennessee Hdled. (
PagelD 5615-16seeECF No. 130-20 at PagelD 7413-15.)

Petitioner contends that th@ost-conviction court denielirain imaging based on the
erroneous belief that brain imaging technology wouldhaee been available to him at the time of
his trial. (ECF No. 127 at Pal§®5616.) He notes that, in 20QBg trial court signed an order
allowing MRI scans, and he fauhigs post-conviction counsel for faity to correct the trial court’s
misinformation about the relevance of ssamthe post-conviction proceedingsld.Y He cites
the report of Siddhartha Naani showing, with medicalcertainty,that congenital or
developmental malformations existedHaogueley’s brain before his trial. Id(; ECF No. 127-5 at
PagelD 5836 (“This brain abnormality is likelydsvelopmental in nature - having affected his

behavior since early in life-if not since birth.”).)
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The inmate claims thdéflartinezapplies where post-convion counsel failed to develop
the evidentiary basis of a claimiokffective assistance of triebunsel. (ECF No. 127 at PagelD
5617.) He maintains that the brain scans wolbhve allowed him to show that he was
incompetent to stand trial, thlats ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims were substantial,
and also that he was irreparably prejudiced by post-conviction counsel’s deficient performance.
(Id. at PagelD 5618.)

Hugueley’s post-conviction counsel clearly raised claims that his trial counsel were
ineffective for failing to move for a hearing@lt his competence to stand trial and waive the
presentation of mitigation evidence (Claim 14)Se€ECF No. 42-1 at PagelD 1643.) The
petition raised issues about bralamage, head injuries, brain surgery for a tumor, psychological
problems, evaluations, and treatmentd. @t PagelD 1644-47.) As stated supra, multiple
attempts were made to evaluate Huguelsgspetence in the post-conviction proceedings
resulting ultimately in a determination that he was competent to waive post-conviction
proceedings and ending consideration of heffattive assistance of trial counsel claimSee
Hugueley 2011 WL 2361824, at *3-20.

Although Petitioner’'s post-conuion counsel raised the ifiective assistance of trial
counsel claims, his waiver prevented the developmktihose claims despitmunsel’s efforts to
establish that he was incompetemwaive post-conviain review. Hugueley was determined to
be competent at the time of trial and ire thost-conviction proceantys. The only available
evidence that is contrary tthose determinations is Geor§éoods’ report in 2014, after the
post-conviction trial and appellate proceedings concludefee ECF No. 127-4 at PagelD

5788-89.) Deference is owed the state cooristhe TCCA's finding that Hugueley was
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competent to waive post-conviction revievieee idat *41 (“Petitioner is competent to withdraw
his petition for post-conviction relief.”) Hugley has not presemteclear and convincing
evidence to rebut the presunastiof correctness of the TCCA's factual finding. Based on the
validity of the postonviction waiver, he cannot demormsé prejudice associated with his
post-conviction counsel’s performance. Tdfere, he could naheet his burden und&tartinez

to overcome procedural default.

After Hugueley waived his claims, the ineffeetiassistance of tri@ounsel claims were
not exhausted on post-conviction appeabedECF No. 43-7.) Martinez does not extend to
errors of counsel beyond the first opportundyresent the claim on collateral reviewlartinez
566 U.S. at 16.

Further, Hugueley would have difficulty demonstrating that his trial counsel's
performance was deficient where there is a ildetahistory of his mental health issues,
evaluations, treatment, and refusatooperate with counsel oveetbourse of his life resulting in
multiple and varying diagnoses. The TCCAereed to Pamela Auble’s neuropsychological
evaluation of Hugueley in 2007. The court noteat ticjompetency is not static, but rather a
function of the individual's prest state” and that Auble wasable to “venture an opinion on
[Hugueley’s] present competency” because Bhd not seen him in four year§ee Hugueley
2011 WL 2361824, at *13. (ECF No. 130-11 at PBgE365 (competency changes over time).)
The TCCA also referenced Carisevaluation of Hugueley and that Caruso “could not offer an
opinion as to [Hugueley’s] present competency because he hasamhim in more than four
years.” The TCCA stated “[tlhe competencyinflividuals such as this can wax and wane

depending upon the circumstancedd. There is not a reasonalgeobability that the outcome
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at trial would have been different because:giproximately fifteen years has passed since the
crime; (2) the trial court andudjueley’s counsel noted no apparisue with his demeanor and
competencesgeECF No. 41-5 at PagelD 758eECF No. 130-8 at PagelD 7293 (“I thought Mr.
Hugueley was competent. He seemed like arsguy. . . . When | say Mr. Hugueley was
competent, | mean he knew what was going oratig (3) the only concrent evaluation of
Hugueley’s competence at trial indicatedtthe was competent to stand trighee Harries v. Bell

417 F.3d 631, 635-37 (6th Cir. 2005) (denying halotamss about the defendant’s competence to
stand trial and ineffective asssice for counsel’s failure to dlenge the defendant’s competence
where two doctors found the defendant competenstand trial, trialcounsel bolstered the
competency determination, and the evidence of incompetence was submitted nineteen years
post-trial}% see also Sully v. Ayerg25 F.3d 1057, 1070-72 (9th C2013) (denying habeas relief
based on retrospective determination of incompet&hdehnson v. United State860 F. Supp.

2d 663, 809-810 (N.D. lowa 2012) (finding that “[t]fet that Johnson wdater able to find a
mental health expert, Dr. [Ge@lgWoods, to opine that she wast competent to stand trial does
not make trial counsel’'s conduat the time of trial unreasoniab where trial counsel had not
received any indication from the mental healtperts or observations of Johnson’s demeanor and

behavior to indicate thahe was incompetent).

32 The Harries case is similar to Hugueley’s berse, like Hugueley, Harries demanded
the death penaltst times talked with press, and attemptedmanipulate the system through his
jailhouse behavior, while also engaging in aemé¢ discussion during the trial proceedings.
Harries, 417 F.3d at 636.

% In Sully, the court stated that it generally disfavored “retrospective determinations of
incompetence like that of Dr. Woods” where there was “strong evideac8uly was competent
to stand trial” based on his testimony and discussion of the chafdly, 725 F.3d at 1071-72.
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To the extent that Petitioner argues that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to develop
and present evidence of his sodiatory as mitigation, his counsgid develop hisocial history
and put that evidence in the record desplteggueley’s waiver. His counsel's performance
appears reasonable under the circumstancgse Ryder ex rel. Ryde810 F.3d at 748-50
(denying ineffective assistance claim for failuce present mitigation evidence where legally
competent defendant waived mitigatiofjamirez 641 F. App’x at 327 (denying claim of
ineffective assistance where counsel stoppetigation case at defendant’'s request where
defendant was competent “and wanted to ggpiending the rest bis life in jail”).

Further, the Court acknowledges thauddeley has presented evidence in these
proceedings of a personal and family historynantal illness, sexual abuse, and brain damage.
That evidence is juxtaposed against a violent criminal histaty the inmate as a young adult
murdering his mother, killing tav individuals in prisn, and attempting the murder of a third
individual while in custody. Hgueley’s testimony about the manner in which he murdered Steed
was grotesque and showed no empathy or reeo Woods’ conclusions about Hugueley’s
mental disorders do not humanize him and makattempt to explain how they relate to his
violent nature other than stating that his disosdcreated “a depth of impaired functioning and
disruptive behavior.” §eeECF No. 127-4 at PagelD 5805.) This evidence does not establish a
reasonable probability that the outcome at sermmignebuld have been different had the jury heard
the evidence now presented.

Claims 1(1-3) and K(1 & 3) are proceduyatiefaulted, without merit, and DENIED.

With regard to the sub-claims I(5) and K(2)ated to the investigen and presentation of

evidence about Hugueley'sipr violent convictions, he asserts tihig ability to reasonably assist
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counsel was compromised by his developmentaitotf congenital, brain defects and resulting
mental illness. (ECF No. 127 at PagelD 5636.) cHetends that these conditions vitiated his
competency to plead guilty to the three prior @sused to support the aggravating circumstance
of prior violent felony convictionsnder Tenn. Code Ann. 8§ 39-13-204(i)(2)ld.Y Hugueley
contends that his trialocinsel’s failure to collatetly attack thes convictions prejdiced him.
(1d.)

Petitioner argues that these clawesre not raised in the state courts due to the ineffective
assistance of post-convicti@mounsel. (ECF No. 127 at PagelD 5636.) He provides Gleason’s
declaration that the claims wemet made because of “the time constraints and my focus on other
cases, coupled with lack of resources to begwestigation on Mr. Hugueyes social history.”

(Id. at PagelD 5636-3&5eeECF No. 130-20 at PagelD 7406-07Hugueley contends that this
failure to investigate and collaterally attaclesk prior convictions, along with investigating his
social history and mental health is constitutibpnaadequate for both trial and post-conviction
counsel. (ECF No. 127 at PagelD 5637.) He asserts that, Madénez he has cause for the
procedural default of his ineffectivassistance of trial counsel claimsid.(at PagelD 5638-39.)
He also argues that his incomgrety at the time of thprior convictions rends those convictions
unconstitutional and overcomes procedural defand that he has Hared prejudice. I¢. at
PagelD 5639.)

The inmate relies on Nadkarni's letter that he was incompetent at the time of his prior
convictions. $eeECF No. 127 at PagelD 5636.) HowevBiadkarni does not come to that
conclusion. Nadkarni opined that Huguelsuffered “a virtually global neurocognitive

syndrome, with marked dysexecutive featuresd ¢hat Hugueley had severe brain abnormality
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that “impairs his judgments, tending toward explesehavior, with an organically based lack of
empathy” which is likely developmental inature. (ECF No. 127-5 at PagelD 5836.)
Nadkarni further concludeithat “Hugueley’s thinkingnay beirrational and not based in reality.”
(Id. (emphasis added).) However, Nadkarnvereexamined or interviewed Hugueley or
reviewed his records and admitted that his opinimoight be modified based on that information.
(1d.)

Nadkarni makes no assertions about Huguelsyspetence. Woods’ report is also silent
about Hugueley’s competence at the time of ther monvictions. Without some showing that
Petitioner was actually incompeteat the time of those convictiansis prejudice argument fails.
Hugueley has not demonstrated ineffegt@ssistance of post-conviction counséartinezdoes
not assist Hugueley in overcoming the procedurtwdeof his claims ofneffective assistance of
trial counsel related this prior convictions irClaims [(5) and K(2).

c. Panetti

The inmate asserts that the state court’s adjudication of his waiver of the post-conviction
process under Tennessee Supreme Court Rule2btcomport with duprocess and resulted in
an erroneous determination that he wasipetent. (ECF No. 127 at PagelD 55981 argues
that, as a result, there is notaslequate state procedural grododthe default of his claims for
which he is entitled tde novoreview. (d.)

Tennessee Supreme Court Rule 28, § 11(By@)ides the state ptedure required when

a defendant seeks to withdraypost-conviction petition:

34 Nadkarni made no reference to Hugueldytain tumor or how the removal of that
tumor related to the abnormalities referenced in the report.
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A petitioner is presumed competent to withdraw a post-conviction petition and

waive post-conviction relief; however, ifggnuine issue regand) the petitioner’s

present competency arises during the Ingaprovided for in (A), supra, the trial

court shall enter an ordappointing at least one, bob more than two, mental

health professionals from lists submittedthe State and counsel for the petitioner.

The order shall direct that the petitiorige evaluated by éhappointed mental

health professionals to determine the petitioner's competency and that the

appointed mental health pesfsionals file written evaltians with the trial court

within ten days of the appointment usdegood cause is showor later filing.

Upon filing, the trial court clerk shall foravd a copy of the written evaluations to

counsel for the petitioner and to the State.

Hugueley outlines the proceedings in the state post-conviction ceeeipra pp. 4-12)
to assert that he was denied due process whestate post-conviction court allowed him to
withdraw his ineffective assistance claimdd. &t PagelD 5599-5608.) He claims that the state
court unconstitutionally precluded consideration of evidence of his incompetence in
contravention oPanetti v. Quartermarb51 U.S. 930 (2007), becausewes not afforded a fair
hearing in accord withuhdamental due processld.(at PagelD 5608-12.) Hugueley contends
that, in violation ofPanetti, the Tennessee courts denieshding for brain scans or expert
assistance to challenge the s®mtcompetency determination.Id( at PagelD 5610.) He
maintains that he was entitled t@thssistance of his own expertid.

Although post-conviction counsedpeatedly asked for bragtans and expert assistance
for the competency hearing, Hugueley assertstti@post-conviction apflate court refused.
(Id. at PagelD 5611.) He cites the TCCA’datenination that Hugueley has no constitutional
right to expert assistance at all stages ofpetency proceedings and no constitutional right to
the funding or appointent of experts. Id. at PagelD 5612.) See Hugueley2011 WL

2361824, at *24 (“Absent the creation of a new constitutional right, due process merely requires

the postconviction court to follow the proceduessablished by state rgl€). He argues that,
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“[h]eedless ofPanetti” the Tennessee court decided his competency only based on the
examination performed by the court-appointed expad contravened hidue process rights.
(Id. at PagelD 5612.)

The Warden counters that, as the TCCA noted, neltkerd70 U.S. 68, noPanett] 551

U.S. 930, established a constitutional right to fagdior experts of a petitioner’s choosing in a
collateral review proceeding(ECF No. 137 at PagelD 7680.Hugueley 2011 WL 2361824, at
*23. He argues that these caslesnot support Hugueley’'s argument that due process required
funding of an expert of his ssdtion to litigate his competendyp waive state post-conviction
proceedings. Id. at PagelD 7680-81.)

Panettispecifically addresses the competency of a prisoner to be exedvgarbttiis not
directly applicable to Hugueley’s claim becausenpetence to stand trial and waive mitigation is
not the equivalent to competence to be execuated,the timelines for these determinations are
different. The Supreme Court Panettiheld that “no deference [was] due” to a state court’s
adjudication of a prisoner’s claim that he was cmpetent to be executed because “[t]he state
court’s failure to providéhe procedures mandatedfyrd [v. Wainwright 477 U.S. 399 (1986),]
constituted an unreasonable apation of clearly established fadélaw as determined by this
Court.” Panetti 551 U.S. at 948. IRanetti,the court stated that, once a prisoner seeking a stay
of execution makes a “substantial threshold shgwaif insanity,” procedural due process affords
him a “fair hearing” or an “opportunity to be heardld. at 949. The Court noted that the state
procedures ifFord were deficient because the deteation of sanity was “madsolelyon the
basis of the examinationperformed by state-apped psychiatrists.” Id. The basic

requirements of due process were describédraspportunity to submit ‘evidence and argument
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from the prisoner’'s counsel, including exppgychiatric evidence that may differ from the
State’s own psychiatric examination.’td. at 950.

The Sixth Circuit has addresstte process required for a determination of an inmate’s
competence to be executed. Due process requires more than a determinatioadbelyexh
the examinations performed byat-appointed psychiatrists.Ford, 477 U.S. at 424see also
Bedford v. Bobhy645 F.3d 372, 380 (6th Cir. 2011). However, a full hearing is not mandated as
a part of a threshold determination of competenBgdford 645 F.3d at 379. So long as the
inmate is afforded “the opportunity to beard,” there is no due process violatiolal. at 380.

Although Hugueley contends that he wasproided resources to respond to the state’s
evidence, he ignores tli@ct that he was granted the opportunidgyselect anx@ert of his own
choosing and that Peter Brown could not comple&eevaluation in artiely manner, in part
because of Hugueley’s refusal to cooperakéis post-conviction proceatys began in 2006, and
continued until 2011. See Hugueley2011 WL 2361824, at *3. Seidner was ultimately
appointed and evaluated Hugueley in 2008. at *11. The inmate provided the affidavits of
Auble and Caruso in the posbnviction proceedings in atrast to Seidner’s opinionld. at *13.
The TCCA also reviewed TDOC records abblutgueley’s previous psychiatric diagnoses of
intermittent explosive, antisocial, narcissigigrsonality, borderline personality, and delusional
disorder, the brain tumor that was removed in 1986, and hisléQat *16.

Hugueley’'s case differs from a situation invaolyithe competency to be executed. Still,

he was provided an opportunity to be heand due process with regard to the competency
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determination for his waiver of post-conviction revi&w.He has not demonstrated cause and
prejudice to overcome the procedudefault of his ineffectivessistance claims in Claims | and
K based on constitutionally inadeste post-conviction proceedings.

d. Adequate State Procedural Ground

Hugueley contends that, giveéhe fundamental unfairnesd$ the state post-conviction
proceedings, there is not an adequate state gmectliding federal review of his claim. (ECF
No. 127 at PagelD 5612.) He asserts thatatdequacy of his waiver is dependent on the
adequacy of Tennessee Supreme Court Rule 28l. at(PagelD 5613.) Hugueley submits that
because the competency determination did nopoonwith basic due process, federal review is
not barred.

Petitioner insists that, withouhe brain scans, the statourt had no proof of the
congenital, physical abnormalities that were Hesis of his irrational and self-destructive
decisions. I@. at PagelD 5614.) He argues the stat@rtt®erroneous determination that he
was competent to waive post-conviction proceedingseislirect result of the denial of resources
and establishes cause the procedural default ¢ugueley’s claims. I¢. at PagelD 5614.)

Respondent counters that the relevantstjae is whether Hugueley’'s waiver of
post-conviction review and the one-year limitatmn post-conviction petitions are independent
and adequate grounds to support the defaullCF(Elo. 37 at Pageld681.) He notes that

Hugueley’s ineffective assistance claims are ulefd due to improperxdaustion, rather than

% The TCCA noted that Hugueley had no cdnstinal right to postonviction review or
to post-conviction counsel and declined “to suddemgate an ancillary constitutional right at a
competency hearing to the mental heaiiperts and testingf his choosing.” Hugueley 2011
WL 2361824, at *24.
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the express enforcement of an applicable state procedural lody. The Warden observes that
under Coleman the claims are defaulted notwithstandithg lack of a state court decision
enforcing a procedural bar.ld() These well-established andjutarly applied procedural bars,
argues Respondent, are adequate to stupdording of procedural default.

As stated herein, Hugueley has not demoresdrétiat the state cdysroceedings denied
him due process as it relates to the competdetgrmination. Tennessee Rule 28 did not act as
a procedural bar to the exhaustadiHugueley’s claims. He made a valid waiver of those claims
and subsequently failed to exhaust them in the state courts.

Hugueley has not demonstratedstthis failure to ehaust the allegations in Claims | and K
are based on the ineffective assistance of pmstiction counsel, nor Bahe established cause
and prejudice to excuse procealudefault based on a denial foihding and due process in the
post-conviction proceedingsSee Hugueley2011 WL 2361824, at *25 (“The record reflects
that the court provided the defse team with every reasonaldpportunity to have a report
prepared by the expert of theinoosing.”). The allegations @laim | and K are procedurally
defaulted.

3. Merits

Alternatively, the Warden submits that Hugy&declaims that his tal counsel failed to
investigate or consult with exfie about his competency, sochastory, and prior convictions
(Claim | and K) are belied by the state-cowtard and without merit. (ECF No. 112-1 at
PagelD 5468-69, 5471-72.) Respondent contahds the record reflects trial counsel's
extensive consultation with experts and those experts’ exhalustigstigation into Hugueley’s

social, criminal, and pshological history. 1fl.) Hugueley’'s counsel investigated his
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competency, and the expert deerhgd competent to stand trial.Id(at PagelD 5469, 5471-72.)
Respondent points out that Hwdey's trial counsel filed‘a several-hundregage report”
prepared by a mitigation expert and thatuoent includes details about Hugueley’s social,
criminal, and psychological history.ld( at PagelD 5469, 5472geECF No. 41-7.)

Petitioner asserts that hebmin-damaged, traumatized, améntally ill and that he was
incompetent to stand trial and waive mitiga. (ECF No. 127 at PagelD 5551-5570.) He
believes that his trial counsel were ineffectfee failing to investigate the brain damage and
incompetence issues and thas ltounsel ignored their owrxgerts’ requests for additional
information. (d. at PagelD 5570-85.) Hugueley cendls that his @unsel’s inactions
undermined their experts’ ability to make anw@ate assessment and did not understand the law of
competency. If. at PagelD 5586-89.) As a result los counsel’s failtes to conduct an
adequate social history and appiage legal research, he asserts that they failed to investigate
brain dysfunction and did n@resent significant evidence of his incompetenciel. af PagelD
5589-94.) The inmate avers that, had his counsektigated and developed “the clear proof that
Mr. Hugueley’s behaviors and decisions are not merely ‘unconventional’ but rather the irrational
product of his organic brain malformation and Hsg serious mental iliness,” he never would
have been convicted or sentenced to deatt. a( PagelD 5597.) He contends that, had his
counsel investigated and prepagedocial history that compodewvith professional norms, they
would have realized the critical need for MRI scans and understood that his history of suicide
attempts and self-injurious behavior wasiaational product of mental illness.ld() At least
one juror, claims Hugueley, would have votediferhad his trial counsel presented the mitigation

proof documented and illustrated in the biopsychosocial evaluatiwh at PagelD 5597-98.)
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The Court further notes that Hugueley hasahearly demonstratedieficient performance
or prejudice as it relatas Claims | and K. The record irwdites that Petitioms trial counsel
attempted to litigate his mental health isswgiout much cooperation from Hugueley. With a
mitigation investigator, counsel developed themes of early childhood trauma, inadequate
community response, institutional failure, cognitwel emotional disorder, and cultural distortion
of perception. $eeECF No. 41-7 at PagelD 908.) The mitigation investigation included
Hugueley’s social history including his metfs background, his childhood, problems setting
fires, the Faith Tabernacle Baptist Church andréiess that he had been sexually assaulted by the
preacher, behavior problems, his father’s suiditlegueley’s belief that his father was killed by
his mother’'s family to prevent him from gaig custody, juvenile dequency, incidents of
self-mutilation and psychiatric treatment while iatstcustody as a juvenile, his multiple suicide
attempts, hearing voices to “kitama and take the car,” his motkdear of him, and Hugueley’s
murder of his mother in 1986.1d( at PagelD 909-17, 923-27, 930-31.) The records address his
mental health evaluations, surgery for a mraumor, treatment with various psychiatric
medications, and varied psychiatric diagnosehiding, but not limited to intermittent explosive
disorder, bi-polar disorder, paraid schizophrenia, delusion digser (persecutory type), and
alcohol and cannabis abuseld. @t PagelD 916-18.) Huguel&yas classified as “a maximum
security offender” and described as “the mdahgerous prisoner they have ever had” and “a
hopeless and dangerous case.ld. (at PagelD 918.) The itigation history addresses
Hugueley’s murder of James Shelton in 1991 atitempted murder of Timmerall Nelson in 1997,
and his psychiatric treatmenhch medications while incarcerdtehis relationship with Robin

Thomas, and his conflict with Delbert Steedd. @t PagelD 919-22, 931-32.) The mitigation
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history also addresses Hugueley’s belief thaslheuld have received the death penalty for the
murders of his mother and James Sheltold. at PagelD 933-34.)

Although Hugueley has a substantiatord of mental health isss, the record before this
Court demonstrates that trial counsel investigatis mental health and developed mitigation
theories but were unable to present those theories because of Hugueley’'s refusal to cooperate.
The record indicates that Petitioner was deeowdpetent at the timef trial and knowingly,
voluntarily, and intelligently waived his mitigation case. Further, given that he admitted to the
crime before internal affairswd the jury and had a violent hosy, having, at age 18, murdered his
mother, murdered another inmaligring his incarceration, and atteteg to murder a third inmate,
there is not a reasonable probability that the on&cof Hugueley’s conviction or sentence would
have been different.

With regard to Claims 1(5) and K(2),ugueley contends that) 2003, it was standard
capital litigation practice for counstl investigate, devep, and present ewithce to collaterally
attack prior convictions that ¢hState intended to use as bdeisthe prior crime of violence
aggravating circumstance. (ECF No. 127 at Bag®27.) He contends that his trial counsel
failed to investigate his prior convictions and tlifahey had investigated and developed proof of
his developmental brain malformation, they woulgédneealized that he v8ancompetent to enter
pleas to the three prior crimes of violencdd. &t PagelD 5628.) Hugley argues that he was
insane when he killed his mother. Id.(at PagelD 5628-36.) He asserts, based on declarations,
that his mother physically, emotionally, and sexually abused hich. at{ PagelD 5629-3kee
ECF No. 130-2 at PagelD 7270 (Mary Carter stdteconfided in me that his mama, Rachel, was

sexually abusing him. Steve told me Rachel niatesleep with her. It was clear that he meant
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that she made him have sex with hersgeECF No. 132-4 at PagelD 7543 (Marcella Laster
states, “After Steve killed her, | wondered #dhel might have been sexually inappropriate with
him. | just can’t think of aything else that would cause aldtto kill their mother.”);seeECF
No. 130-6 at PagelD 7284 (Freddie Chears statese “d@ay Stephen told me that his mother
coerced him into having sex with her.8geeECF No. 132-5 at PagelD 7545 (Anthony Brandon
states, “When we were in school, people usezhyothat his mother wagxually abusing him.”);
see alsdECF No. 132-6 at PagelD 7548 (Danny Waldextes, “[a]fter he killed his mother, |
wondered whether she had abused him. It wee&in like it would take something deep-seated
like chronic sexual abuse to maké&id do something like that”).Hugueley provides declarations
from people who claim that hielationship with his mother da‘a strange and inappropriate
sexual overtone,” that they acted “more like husbamdl wife,” and that she told her son, “[i]f |
can’t have you, no one can!” (ECF No. 127 at PagelD 563 CF No. 132-7 at PagelD 7551;
see alsd&ECF No. 132-15 at PagelD 7648.)
The inmate relies on the report of Dawigsak, Ph.D., a clinical psychologist and
international expert in child ggal abuse, to support his claim. (ECF No. 127 at PagelD 5632;
seeECF No. 130-1 at PagelD 7205.) Lisak was asked to provide an opinion on the long term

impact on a child of incestuous sexual abuse by his mother and to provide “a general opinion

% Despite the assertions of incest, the daetians state that “I never saw Rachel hug
Steve. She was not affectionate toward him.Sed ECF No. 132-15 at PagelD 7648.)
Petitioner also cited Lucille Permenter’'s comtseabout Hugueley not letting his mother hug
him. (ECF No. 127 at PagelD 5631.) Themeoents were not relateto incest but to
Hugueley’s resentment of his mother and “itey he treated her. Although he was physically
affectionate and would give nand other people hugs, he never let Rachel hug him.” (ECF No.
130-12 at PagelD 7372.)
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regarding the likelihood that MHugueley was capable of confing his conduct to the law
when he killed his mother.” Id. at PagelD 7207.) Lisak sumarily concludes based on a
document review that Petitioner svasubjected to the most severe form of sexual abuse possible
— maternal incest” and that “fi¢ most catastrophic of the traas that befell Steve Hugueley was
the long term incestuous abuse perpetrated by his mothed” at( PagelD 7208.) The
psychologist relied on the declarations of Carter and Chearstated “Mr. Hugueley disclosed
that the incest had been ongoing at least tvaicth times during his adolescence within two years
of when he fatally shot his mother.” Id( at PagelD 7208-10.) Lisak contends that the
incestuous abuse is “imdctly corroborated by the very v&ae mental disturbance that
characterized Mr. Hugueleythildhood and adolescence.d(at PagelD 7210.)

Hugueley’s trial counsel stated, “[tlhough Ispected that Mr. Hugueley was a victim of
maternal incest, Ms. Charvat did not locate arfgrmation or withesses to substantiate that
suspicion.” (ECF No. 130-18 at PagelD 7396[he declarations cited do not provide any
first-hand knowledge of sexual abuse. They are based on purported reports from Hugueley,
hearsay, or speculation. No evidence of this hgmebeen presented previously despite years of
mental health evaluations and treatment.e Titmate has not made any statement in these
proceedings about the incest allegations.

Nearly thirty years after &hael Hugueley’s murder, Lisak, having never met Stephen
Hugueley or his mother and based solely a@loeument review, concluded that Hugueley had
been sexually abused by his mothad that “it is quite plausiblthat during the fatal encounter
with his mother Steve Hugueglevas incapable of conformirfgis conduct to the law.” Id. at

PagelD 7212seeECF No. 127 at PagelD 5633.) Petitiohas not shown either that he was
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sexually abused by his mother or that he waapable of conforming his conduct to the law, and
therefore has not demonstrated that the conwvidbo the murder of his mother should not be
considered as a violent felony conviction irpgart of the aggravating circumstance. To the
extent this evidence could be used for purposesitijation, its reliability is questionable.

Hugueley cites tdohnson v. Mississippd86 U.S. 578 (1988), to support his argument that
defense counsel have understood the professabiligiation to collateddy challenge a capital
defendant’s prior convictions(ECF No. 127 at PagelD 5635.Johnson however, did not
involve a claim of ineffective assistance.

In Rompilla v. Beard545 U.S. 374, 384-86 (2005), the Supreme Court found counsel’'s
performance to be deficient where counsel faibedew the file on a por rape conviction and a
transcript from the rape victim which counseétanthe prosecution intended to use to support an
aggravating circumstance. The Court, howevergaddttat its analysis does not create “a ‘rigid,
per se rule that requires defensmounsel to do a complete rew of the file on any prior
conviction introduced.” Id. at 389. InRompilla the Court found prejudice because the file
contained a range of mitigation leads that wasretise unavailable, as well as prison files and
information about the victimsuyenile history and backgroundd. at 390-91. Rompillastates
that a “lawyer is bound to makeasonable effort to obtain amelview material that counsel
knows the prosecution will probably rely on as evidence of aggravation at the sentencing phase of
trial.” Id. at 377.

In the instant case, unlikRompilla there was no evidence related to the prior violent

felony conviction that was being presented whicks detrimental to Hugueley other than the fact

of the conviction and the vieht nature of the crimeSee Hamm v. Comm’r, Alabama Dep'’t of
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Corr., 620 F. App’'x 752, 773 (11th Cir. 2018grt. denied sub nom. Hamm v. AJl&B87 S. Ct. 39
(2016), reh’g denied 137 S. Ct. 584 (2016) (distinguishing the case fieompilla because
counsel had no notice that any engling facts from the Tenness convictions dter than the
convictions themselves would lbsed in the penalty phase). The purported failure was not the
failure to discover the evidence of incest thatgueley now claims predicated his mother’s
murder. As stated eatrlier, trial counsel susgkdut had no proof from his investigation to
corroborate the suspicion aicest. Further, #h evidence of incest presented in these habeas
proceedings is not reliable. There is not aogeable probability that the outcome at trial would
have changed for this three-time murderer Wwhd admitted his responsibility for the crime had
his trial counsel investigated fher and presented the evidence nouilable to this habeas court.
With regard to the othetwo convictions, Hugueley asse that hiscounsel were
ineffective for failure to challenge these conwva as voidable due to his incompetence. (ECF
No. 127 at PagelD 5636.) Helies on Nadkarni’'s report, delpmental brain defects, and
mental illness to argue that s incompetent to plead guilty tlose crimes and maintains that
his trial counsel’s failure to @tk those convictions was deficigrgrformance prejudicial to him.
(Id.) Nadkarni notes “significamteficits resulting in a virtuy global neurocognitive syndrome”
and that the “striking abnormalities” found inugueley would likely be exhibited as “poor
judgment, apathy, outbursts, and difficulty organizing and planning.” (ECF No. 127-5 at PagelD
5836.) He highlighted the developmental matwf these abnormalities and opined that
Hugueley’'s behavior has beefffegted “since early in his & — if not since birth.” I¢.)

Nadkarni does not make a finding as to Hugueleyrapmtence at present or at the time of these
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prior convictions. As stated supra, withoutmeevidence that Petitione/as not competent to
stand trial for those prior conviohs, he cannot demonstrate paige for Claims 1(5) and K(2).

Hugueley does not develop an argument for Claim 1(4)—counsel’s failure to retain the
proper experts for pre-trial consultation—and fdadsplead this claim with specificity under
Habeas Rule 2.

With regard to Claim K(4), that the inmate’s counsel rendered ineffective assistance in
their defense at the penalty phase by failinglgect to the jury instruction on the aggravating
circumstance related to the murder of a comeel employee, this Court has determined that
Hugueley is not entitled to habeatief for that jury instruction (Clen E) as it did not affect the
fairness of his trial. Similarly, he cannot demoatgrprejudice. Claim K is not substantial,
and therefore procedurally defaulted, without merit, and DENIED.

Claims | and K are procedurally defaulted, without merit, and DENIED.

J. Ineffective Assistance of Counset Jury Selection (Claim J)

In Claim J, Hugueley alleges that his trialasel was ineffective ding the jury selection
process. (ECF No. 58 at PagelD 4672.) He arthais counsel failed tobject to the State’s
race and gender biased exercise of peremptbajienges for potential jurors Johnny Hudson,
Gertrude Gibbs, and Linda Pirtleld{ He contends that his counsel failed to perfd8atson
claim by neglecting to obtain specific findings bg thial court about the State’s proffered reasons
for striking African-American jurors. Id. at PagelD 4673.) Hugueley also insists that his trial
counsel failed to elicit all available facts to demonstrate bias in supptre motion to strike
potential juror Barry Watkins for cause and for failtogobject to the denial of the motion to strike

in the motion for a new trial. Id.)
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Hugueley asserts that the claims were noedhis the state court proceedings because of
the ineffectiveness of post-conviction coungbht Tennessee does nmtovide an adequate
prost-conviction remedy, and/or dause the trial court denigdugueley adequate process to
challenge his competence to waive post-convictiolal.) (

The Warden responds thaefie claims were waived on pa®nviction review and are
now procedurally defaulted. (ECF No. 112-1 ayéB 5469.) He asseftisat the TSC correctly
rejected Hugueley'8atsonclaims, and Hugueley cannotta&slish that the unpreserv@&ahtson
claims would have been differethan those rejected.ld() Respondent contends that these
claims are also meritless because Petitionerfdibkesi to demonstrate that he was convicted or
sentenced by an impartial jury.ld()

Hugueley does not address this claim ispmnse to the motion for summary judgment.
The claim was not exhausted in the state courtfugueley has not argueduse and prejudice or
actual innocence to overcome the procedural defalitte allegations in @im J are procedurally
defaulted. Summary judgment@RANTED, and Claim J is DENIED.

K. Ineffective Assistance of Counal - Direct Appeal (Claim L)

Hugueley asserts that his appellate counsslineffective for failingo raise and litigate
his incompetence to waive the presentation of mtitigy evidence (Claim L(1)) and to challenge
Hugueley'’s prior violent convictionsvhich were used as aggravatifactors (Claim L(2)). (ECF
No. 58 at PagelD 4677.) The inmate argues thase claims were not raised in the state
proceedings because of theffeetiveness of post-conviction counsel, that Tennessee does not
provide an adequate post-conviction remedy, aatttie trial court denied Hugueley adequate

process to challenge his competgto waive post-conviction. Id. at PagelD 4677-78.)
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The Warden counters that Hugueley failegptesent Claim L in ste court because he
waived post-conviction review and theichs are procedurally defaultedld.(at PagelD 5472.)
Respondent contends that tti@im is also time-barred. Id| at PagelD 5473.)He asserts that the
claims are meritless because Hugueley had thee saounsel for trial and direct appeal, and
state-court record demonstrates trial counsel’s extensive consultatiomexpithts, exhaustive
investigation into Hugueley’s sa@dj criminal, and psychologicals$tory, and a determination of
his competence. Id.) Further, Respondent maintains ttie¢ claim is inadequately pled under
Habeas Rule 2(c) because Hugueley mlesino argument or factual supportd. @t PagelD
5479.)

Petitioner does not directlgddress Claim L in response to the motion for summary
judgment. The claim was not exhausted in the statirt, and he has not demonstrated cause and
prejudice or actual inlt@nce to overcome the proceduwlafault. Although Hugueley submits
that he has cause for apyocedural default undéviartinez the Sixth Circuit does not apply
Martinezto overcome the procedural default of ieetive assistance of appellate counsel claims.
(SeeECF No. 127 at PagelD 5615.5ee Hodges v. Colspor27 F.3d 517, 531 (6th Cir. 2013ge
also Porter v. Genoves&76 F. App'x 428, 434 (6th Ci2017) (recognizing ctuit split in
application ofMartinezto ineffective assistanad appellate counsel clas). The allegations in
Claim L are procedurally defaulted. Summngudgment is GRANTED, and Claim L is
DENIED.

IX.  CONCLUSION

Claims A in part, B, C, D, H;, G, H, |, K are without merit.
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Claims F, I, J, K, L and A, as it relatespianspective jurors Hudson, Gibbs, and Pirtle, are
procedurally defaulted.

Respondent’s motion for summgudgment is GRANTED.

All claims in the petition have been determinede procedurally defaulted and/or without
merit, and therefore, the petiti is DENIED in its entirety.

X. APPEAL ISSUES

There is no absolute entitlement to appedaistrict court’s deail of a § 2254 petition.
Miller-El, 537 U.S. at 3338Bradley v. Birkett156 F. App’x 771, 772 (6th Cir. 2005). The Court
must issue or deny a certificate of appealability (“COA”) when it enters a final order adverse to a 8
2254 petitioner. Rule 11, 8 2254 Rules. A petitranay not take an appeal unless a circuit or
district judge issues a@A. 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(1); Fed. R. App. P. 22(b)(1).

A COA may issue only if the petitioner has made a substantial showing of the denial of a
constitutional right, and the CORAust indicate the specific issueissues that satisfy the required
showing. 28 U.S.C. 88 2253(c)(2) & (3). A “subdtal showing” is made when the petitioner
demonstrates that “reasonable jurists could debaither (or, for that matter, agree that) the
petition should have been resolved in a differeatiner or that the issues presented were adequate
to deserve encouragement to proceed furthdifler-El, 537 U.S. at 33G&ee also Henley v. Bell
308 F. App’x 989, 990 (6th Cir. 20D (unpublished table decision)A COA does not require a
showing that the appeal will succeedlller-El, 537 U.S. at 337TCaldwell v. Lewis414 F. App’x
809, 814-15 (6th Cir. 2011), howay courts should not issueGOA as a matter of course.

Bradley, 156 F. App’x at 773.
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In this case, Hugueglehas asserted thalartinez applies to overcome the procedural
default of his ineffective assistance of appelledeinsel claims (Claim L). Reasonable jurists
could disagree about the resolution of Claim &ee Davila v. Davjsl37 S. Ct. 810 (U.S. Jan. 13,
2017) (cert. granted). Because reasonable gucmtld not disagree about the remaining claims,
the Court DENIES a COA on Claims A through K.

Rule 24(a)(1) of the Federal Rules of Ajpgie Procedure providebkat a party seeking
pauper status on appeal must first file a ortin the district court, along with a supporting
affidavit. If the district court certifies than appeal would not beken in good faith, or
otherwise denies leave to appeaiorma pauperisthe prisoner must file his motion to proceed
forma pauperisn the appellate court.SeeFed. R. App. P. 24(a) (4)-(5).

The Court CERTIFIES, pursuant to FederaleRof Appellate Procedure 24(a), that an
appeal in this matter would be taken in good fatthe extent it addresses Claim L for which the
Court has granted a COA. An appeal that doesddtess that issue wauhot be taken in good
faith, and the petitioner should followetprocedures of Rule 24 to obtaimforma pauperis
status®’

IT IS SO ORDERED this 3rd day of August 2017.

siJ.DANIEL BREEN
WUNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE

37 |f Petitioner files a nate of appeal that does not adsseClaim L, he must pay the full
$505 appellate filing fee or file a motion to procéeébrma pauperisnd supporting affidavit in
the Sixth Circuit Court of Appesiwithin 30 days of the dat# entry of this order. SeeFed. R.
App. P. 24(a)(5).
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